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2023 11
19,107,845.46 82.45
930,647.04 4.02
363,760.70 1.57
316,745.26 1.37
245,990.41 1.06
243,618.00 1.05
216,824.34 0.94
199,778.07 0.86
153,796.55 0.66
35,041.45 0.15
21,814,047.28 94.12
0.12 0.00
0.12 0.00
163,651.50 0.71
79,744.00 0.34
50,575.71 0.22
293,971.21 1.27
22,108,018.61 95.39
1,067,862.29 4.61
(23é}18é880-90) 100.00
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2023 11
CCO Holdings LLC/CCO
1. Holdings Capital Corp. 4.500| 2033 473,000 469,159.37 378,844.64 1.63
Wynn Las Vegas LLC/Wynn Las
2. Vegas Capital Corp. 5.250| 2027 15 263,000 245,641.32 250,973.70 1.08
Jaguar Land Rover
3. Automotive PLC 5.875| 2028 15 257,000 257,000.00 246,862.22 1.07
4. |Altice Financing SA 5.000| 2028 15 285,000 285,000.00 243,618.00 1.05
5. ?ﬁzgip Global Aviation 6.500| 2045 15 229,000  210,547.02|  228,842.02| 0.99
RegionalCare Hospital
6. |Partners Holdings, 9.750| 2026 12 229,000 228,697.58 222,318.21 0.96
Inc./LifePoint Health, Inc.
7. |CSC Holdings LLC 3.375| 2031 15 318,000 318,000.00 218,235.40 0.94
8. 8(')}”;'“”3 Viater US Holding 9.750| 2028 11 15 200,000  200,000.00|  206,198.75| 0.89
9. |Carnival Corp. 5.750| 2027 214,000 214,422.99 203,198.49 0.88
10. | Intesa Sanpaolo SpA 5.710| 2026 15 200,000 197,194.67 196,309.72 0.85
11. |Ford Motor Credit Co. LLC 4.000) 2030 11 13 221,000 221,000.00 189,781.26 0.82
Ardagh Packaging Finance
12. |PLC/Ardagh Holdings USA, 4.125| 2026 15 200,000 176,568.25 177,295.06 0.76
Inc.
13. |Aircastle Ltd. 5.250| 2025 11 175,000 174,277.60 171,400.82 0.74
14. |Enova International, Inc. 8.500| 2025 15 173,000 171,448.49 169,659.82 0.73
Resorts World Las Vegas
15. LLC/RWLV Capital, Inc. 4.625| 2029 16 200,000 159,621.46 166,989.07 0.72
16. |CSC Holdings LLC 4.625| 2030 12 297,000 242,134.24 164,007.93 0.71
17. |First Quantum Minerals Ltd. 6.875| 2027 10 15 205,000 205,000.00 163,651.50 0.71
18. |Medline Borrower LP 5.250| 2029 10 174,000 174,458.76 157,915.58 0.68
Mileage Plus Holdings
LLC/Mileage Plus
19. Intellectual Property 6.500| 2027 20 157,581 156,461.43 156,710.23 0.68
Assets Ltd.
American Airlines,
20. | Inc./AAdvantage Loyalty IP 5.750| 2029 20 161,662 155,959.10 154,746.54 0.67
Ltd.
21. EECN"”h America Capital, 7.125| 2030 14 150,000|  149,433.12  153,796.55| 0.66
22. |MDC Holdings, Inc. 6.000| 2043 15 172,000 158,445 .57 150,757.10 0.65
Allied Universal Holdco
23. |LLC/Allied Universal 9.750| 2027 15 159,000 158,984.39 146,298.32 0.63
Finance Corp.
24. | Altice France SA/France 5.125| 2029 15 200,000 200,000.00 143,282.83 0.62
25. | Tenet Healthcare Corp. 6.125| 2028 10 146,000 128,649.86 141,483.50 0.61
26. |Vibrantz Technologies, Inc. 9.000| 2030 15 181,000 181,183.21 139,185.39 0.60
27. |TransDigm, Inc. 4.875| 2029 146,000 146,000.00 132,296.96 0.57
28. m Acquisition Holdings 5.750| 2028 11 168,000|  167,824.28]  130,631.72| 0.56
Prime Security Services
29. |Borrower LLC/Prime Finance, 6.250| 2028 15 136,000 137,367.99 130,595.77 0.56
Inc.
30. |Sirius XM Radio, Inc. 4.000| 2028 15 143,000 143,000.00 127,855.92 0.55
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2023 11
95,000,111.00 | 13,971,666,325 10.62 1,562

2014 31
62,401,412.00 | 9,177,375,663 9.80 1,441

2015 31
49,180,231.00 | 7,232,936,573 9.47 1,393

2016 31
52,368,459.71 | 7,701,829,370 9.85 1,449

2017 31
45,448,772.00 | 6,684,150,898 9.57 1,407

2018 31
34,295,470.00 | 5,043,834,773 9.56 1,406

2019 31
30,365,100.00 | 4,465,795,257 9.53 1,402

2020 31
32,529,090.00 | 4,784,053,266 10.10 1,485

2021 31

10

23,368,030.00 | 3,436,736,172 8.77 1,290

(2022 31

11

19,756,656.00 | 2,905,611,398 8.60 1,265

(2023 31
2022 12 19,938,137.08 | 2,932,301,820 8.28 1,218
2023 20,684,140.23 | 3,042,016,504 8.58 1,262
20,191,791.84 | 2,969,606,826 8.45 1,243
19,912,897.38 | 2,928,589,818 8.47 1,246
19,937,597.06 | 2,932,222,400 8.50 1,250
19,641,743.80 | 2,888,711,261 8.40 1,235
19,916,003.11 | 2,929,046,577 8.52 1,253
19,756,656.00 | 2,905,611,398 8.60 1,265
19,688,529.94 | 2,895,592,098 8.57 1,260
19,307,084.45 | 2,839,492,910 8.43 1,240
10 18,861,426.04 | 2,773,949,928 8.25 1,213
11 19,533,244.00 | 2,872,754,208 8.59 1,263
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19,596,751.20 | 1,909,703,404 11.18 1,089
2014 31
17,641,158.14 | 1,719,130,861 10.55 1,028
2015 31
13,318,468.33 | 1,297,884,739 10.30 1,004
2016 31
11,304,724.31| 1,101,645,384 10.80 1,052
2017 31
10,472,718.97 | 1,020,566,464 10.49 1,022
2018 31
18,938,241.18 | 1,845,531,603 10.43 1,016
2019 31
18,477,889.71| 1,800,670,352 9.96 971
2020 31
16,115,847.11 | 1,570,489,301 10.51 1,024
2021 31
10
6,546,109.64 637,918,384 9.04 881
(2022 31 )
11
5,710,798.60 556,517,324 8.71 849
(2023 31 )
2022 12 5,776,398.78 562,910,061 8.46 824
2023 5,992,786.23 583,997,018 8.76 854
5,798,527.65 565,066,519 8.62 840
5,720,650.49 557,477,390 8.62 840
5,698,242.56 555,293,737 8.64 842
5,590,808.60 544,824,298 8.53 831
5,658,162.53 551,387,939 8.63 841
5,710,798.60 556,517,324 8.71 849
5,667,563.03 552,304,017 8.66 844
5,564,045.42 542,216,226 8.51 829
10 5,433,490.65 529,493,664 8.32 811
11 5,512,882.33 537,230,383 8.64 842
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2023 11
2013 2014 31 0-4631 68.11
2014 2015 31 04590 67.51
2015 2016 31 0.3973 °8.43
2016 2017 31 03433 50.49
2017 2018 31 0.3741 55.02
2018 2019 31 0.4168 61.30
2019 2020 31 03904 >7.42
2020 2021 31 03985 58.61
10
2021 2022 31 03607 53.05
11
(2022 2023 31 ) 03767 55.40
2022 12 0.0314 4.62
2023 0.0314 4.62
0.0283 4.16
0.0339 4.99
0.0276 4.06
0.0316 4.65
0.0344 5.06
0.0332 4.88
0.0325 4.78
0.0315 4.63
10 0.0327 4.81
11 0.0331 4.87
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2013 2014 31 0.4410 42.98

2014 2015 31 0.4810 46.87

2015 2016 31 0.4274 41.65

2016 2017 31 0.3736 36.41

2017 2018 31 0.4109 40.04

2018 2019 31 0.4413 43-00

2019 2020 31 0.4149 40.43

2020 2021 31 0.4178 40.71
10

2021 2022 31 0.3865 37.66
11

(2022 2023 31 ) 0.3821 37.24

2022 12 0.0307 2.99

2023 0.0302 2.94

0.0289 2.82

0.0354 3.45

0.0281 2.74

0.0328 3.20

0.0334 3.25

0.0328 3.20

0.0344 3.35

0.0320 3.12

10 0.0343 3.34

11 0.0318 3.10
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2013 2014 31 6.16
2014 2015 31 3.40
2015 2016 31 0.69
2016 2017 31 7.64
2017 2018 31 0.96
2018 2019 31 4.25
2019 2020 31 3.77
2020 2021 31 10.16
10 2021 2022 31 9.60
11 2022 2023 31 2.36
2013 2014 31 8.51
2014 2015 31 1.33
2015 2016 31 1.68
2016 2017 31 8.48
2017 2018 31 0.93
2018 2019 31 3.63
2019 2020 31 0.53
2020 2021 31 9.72
10 2021 2022 31 10.31
11 2022 2023 31 0.58

100x
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2013 3,890,500 2,522,730 8,947,170
2014 31 (3,890,500) (2,522,730) (8,947,170)
2014 825,330 3,406,110 6,366,390
2015 31 (825,330) (3,406,110) (6,366,390)
2015 915,560 2,089,790 5,192,160
2016 31 (915,560) (2,089,790) (5.192,160)
2016 1,228,610 1,104,120 5,316,650
2017 31 (1,228,610) (1,104,120) (5,316,650)
2017 271,800 837,860 4,750,590
2018 31 (271,800) (837,860) (4,750,590)
2018 155,850 1,320,550 3,585,890
2019 31 (155,850) (1,320,550) (3,585,890)
2019 136,270 534,600 3,187,560
2020 31 (136,270) (534,600) (3,187,560)
2020 560,110 526,230 3,221,440
2021 31 (560,110) (526,230) (3,221,440)
zozio 105,510 661,290 2,665,660
2022 31 (105,510) (661,290) (2,665,660)
202;1 45,120 413,950 2,296,830
2023 31 (45,120) (413,950) (2,296,830)
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2013 1,293,120 1,876,310 1,752,840
2014 31 (1,293,120) (1,876,310) (1,752,840)
2014 390, 760 470,860 1,672,740
2015 31 (390,760) (470,860) (1,672,740)
2015 305,240 685,270 1,292,710
2016 31 (305,240) (685,270) (1,292,710)
2016 303,500 549,190 1,047,020
2017 31 (303,500) (549,190) (1,047,020)
2017 259,730 308,590 998,160
2018 31 (259,730) (308,590) (998,160)
2018 1,077,260 269,820 1,805,600
2019 31 (1,077,260) (269,820) (1,805,600)
2019 246,730 197,000 1,855,330
2020 31 (246,730) (197,000) (1,855,330)
2020 241,220 563,850 1,532,700
2021 31 (241,220) (563,850) (1,532,700)
zozio 55,660 864,210 724,150
2022 31 (55,660) (864,210) (724,150)
20221 7,130 75,620 655,660
2023 31 (7,130) (75,620) (655,660)
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FATCA
2010 FATCA 2010

30

IRS

IRS
1986 1471 (d)(4)
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131

23 103

2023 11 30
147.07 97.45
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2023 31
2023 31
27.155,053 3,993,694 ) 23,468,993 3,451,585
1,860 274
413,096 60,754
10,472 1,540
2,402 353
23,896,823 3,514,506
108,861 16,010
56,343 8,286
55,000 8,089
12,328 1,813
8,072 1,187
561 83
187 28
63,601 9,354
304,953 44,849
23,591,870 3,469,656
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3,835,214 564,045 655,660 5.85 860
19,756,656 2,905,611 2,296,830 8.60 1,265
8.71 849
8.60 1,265
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1,713,299

251,975

1,713,299

231,793
2,440
121,995
110,026
62,124
26,423
25,540
12,081
12,011
10,000
7,320
9,759

251,975

34,090
359
17,942
16,182
9,137
3,886
3,756
1,777
1,766
1,471
1,077
1,435

631,512

92,876

1,081,787

159,098

(1,128,424)
(176,760)

556,251
(58,099)

(165,957)
(25,996)

81,808
(8,545)

(807,032)

(118,690)

274,755

40,408
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1,081,787 159,008
(1,305,184) (191,953)
498,152 73,263
274,755 40,408
(176,706) (25,988)
(919,773) (135,271)
(1,096,479) (161,259)
417,638 61,422
(3,945,870) (580,319)
(3,528,232) (518,897)
(4,349,956) (639,748)
27,941,826 4,109,404

23,591,870 3,469,656
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2023 31

2012

2012 19

1-9005

2021 12

2022 11

2021

One

2027 31 30
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2023 31 2023 31
7,130 42,473

(75,620) (435,024)

(68,490) (392,551)

45,120 375,165

(413,950) (3,510, 846)

(368, 830) (3,135,681)
(3,528,232)

2023 31 100
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10,000
2023 31 10,000
2023 31
0.01
0.95
2023 31 231,793 2,440
2023 31 56,343
187
0.65
30
15,000
10,000 1,000
2023 31 62,124
2023 31 30,821
2023 31
25,540 2023 31

12,539
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2023 31
2023 31
0.03
7,320 2023
561
0.50
121,995 2023

12,328
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2023 31

2023 31

0.00 0

(0.03) (8,072)

(0.03) (8,072)
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2023 31

0 (8,072)
0 (8,072
(178,287) (58,083)
(178,287) (58,083)

2023 31
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2023 31
2023 31
MA
0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0
MA
8,072 0 8,072 0 8,072
8,072 0 8,072 0 8,072
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0 20,345,968 22,479% 20,368,447
0 2,378,861 0 2,378,861
0 331,368 60 331,428
0 0 0# 0
0 390,257 0 390,257
0 23,446,454 22,539 23,468,993
0 0 0 0
0 (8,072) 0 (8,072)
0 23,438,382 22,539 23,460,921
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2023 31

2023 31

2023 31

6.32

0.26
(0.47)

(0.21)

(0.26)
5.85

0.73% *

3,835

2.59%
4.41%

(3.23)
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2023 31

8.77

0.37

(0.16)

0.21

(0.38)

8.60

2.53%

19,757

2.59%
4.44%
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2021
2023 30

2024 30
2018
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2022 12 2022-06
848 848 2022-06
2020 12 2022 12 31 2020-04
2022-06 2024 12 31 2022-06
10
2023 10 16
2023 2023 10 16 16,527

70,987 264,837
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2023 31
- 86.3%
-T77.7%
-4.1%
Arconic Corp.
6.00%, 05/15/2025 UsD 32 32,448
6.125%, 02/15/2028 13 13,343
Arsenal AIC Parent LLC
8.00%, 10/01/2030 26 26,520
ASP Unifrax Holdings, Inc.
5.25%, 09/30/2028 69 51,296
7.50%, 09/30/2029 16 9,305
Cleveland-Cliffs, Inc.
6.75%, 03/15/2026 6 6,038
CVR Partners LP/CVR Nitrogen Finance Corp.
6.125%, 06/15/2028 34 30,773
Element Solutions, Inc.
3.875%, 09/01/2028 40 35,359
FMG Resources (August 2006) Pty Ltd.
4.375%, 04/01/2031 92 79,120
6.125%, 04/15/2032 79 75,876
Graham Packaging Co., Inc.
7.125%, 08/15/2028 18 15,775
Graphic Packaging International LLC
3.50%, 03/15/2028 10 8,999
Intelligent Packaging Holdco Issuer LP
9.00%, 01/15/2026 () 50 39,558
Intelligent Packaging Ltd. Finco, Inc./Intelligent
Packaging Ltd. Co-lIssuer LLC
6.00%, 09/15/2028
Kobe US Midco 2, Inc. 16 14,188
9.25%, 11/01/2026 ()
Magnetation LLC/Mag Finance Corp. 74 51,845
11.00%, 05/15/2018 (B) (€) (d)
Olin Corp. 670 0
5.625%, 08/01/2029
Olympus Water US Holding Corp. 47 45,507
9.75%, 11/15/2028
Roller Bearing Co. of America, Inc. 200 193,455
4.375%, 10/15/2029
Sealed Air Corp. 5 4,457
6.875%, 07/15/2033
Sealed Air Corp./Sealed Air Corp. US 43 44,869
6.125%, 02/01/2028
Vibrantz Technologies, Inc. 26 25,926
9.00%, 02/15/2030
WR Grace Holdings LLC 181 147,710
4.875%, 06/15/2027
19 17,954
970,321
-6.3%
Ardagh Packaging Finance PLC/Ardagh Holdings USA, Inc.
4.125%, 08/15/2026 200 187,388
Ball Corp.
3.125%, 09/15/2031 100 82,289
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Bombardier, Inc.
6.00%, 02/15/2028
7.50%, 02/01/2029
7.875%, 04/15/2027

Calderys Financing LLC
11.25%, 06/01/2028

Chart Industries, Inc.
7.50%, 01/01/2030

Clean Harbors, Inc.
6.375%, 02/01/2031

Crown Americas LLC
5.25%, 04/01/2030

Eco Material Technologies, Inc.

7.875%, 01/31/2027

Emerald Debt Merger Sub LLC

6.625%, 12/15/2030
EnerSys

4.375%, 12/15/2027
Enviri Corp.

5.75%, 07/31/2027

Gates Global LLC/Gates Corp.

6.25%, 01/15/2026
GFL Environmental, Inc.
3.50%, 09/01/2028
Howmet Aerospace, Inc.
5.90%, 02/01/2027
LSB Industries, Inc.
6.25%, 10/15/2028
Madison 1AQ LLC
5.875%, 06/30/2029
Regal Rexnord Corp.
6.30%, 02/15/2030
6.40%, 04/15/2033
Stericycle, Inc.
3.875%, 01/15/2029
TransDigm, Inc.
4.875%, 05/01/2029
6.25%, 03/15/2026
Trinity Industries, Inc.
7.75%, 07/15/2028
Triumph Group, Inc.
7.75%, 08/15/2025
9.00%, 03/15/2028
WESCO Distribution, Inc.
7.25%, 06/15/2028

-10.0%

Advantage Sales & Marketing, Inc.

6.50%, 11/15/2028
Altice Financing SA
5.00%, 01/15/2028
AMC Networks, Inc.
4.25%, 02/15/2029
Arches Buyer, Inc.
6.125%, 12/01/2028

CCO Holdings LLC/CCO Holdings Capital Corp.

4.50%, 08/15/2030

usD
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89

11

42

72

20

39

22

89

29

106

74

28

69

87

10
12

20

146
134

39

34
78

16

55

285

119

39

132

83,715
10,887
41,903
74,074
20,520
39,241
20,940
85,642
28,863
98,347
63,930
27,651

2,671

6,050
63,429
72,999

9,959
11,954

17,677

131,410
133,371

39,780

32,904
80,213

16,336

1,484,143

48,273

220,377

66,199

33,601

111,666
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4.50%, 06/01/2033
5.125%, 05/01/2027
Clear Channel Outdoor Holdings, Inc.
5.125%, 08/15/2027
CSC Holdings LLC
3.375%, 02/15/2031
4.625%, 12/01/2030

DirecTV Financing LLC/DirecTV Financing Co-Obligor, Inc.

5.875%, 08/15/2027
DISH DBS Corp.
5.25%, 12/01/2026
5.75%, 12/01/2028
7.75%, 07/01/2026
Gray Escrow I1, Inc.
5.375%, 11/15/2031
iHeartCommunications, Inc.
5.25%, 08/15/2027
6.375%, 05/01/2026
8.375%, 05/01/2027
Lamar Media Corp.
4.875%, 01/15/2029
McGraw-Hill Education, Inc.
5.75%, 08/01/2028
Outfront Media Capital LLC/Outfront Media Capital Corp.
4.625%, 03/15/2030
5.00%, 08/15/2027
Radiate Holdco LLC/Radiate Finance, Inc.
4.50%, 09/15/2026
Scripps Escrow 11, Inc.
3.875%, 01/15/2029
Sinclair Television Group, Inc.
4.125%, 12/01/2030
Sirius XM Radio, Inc.
3.875%, 09/01/2031
4.00%, 07/15/2028
5.00%, 08/01/2027
Univision Communications, Inc.
5.125%, 02/15/2025
7.375%, 06/30/2030
Urban One, Inc.
7.375%, 02/01/2028

-2.8%

Altice France SA/France
5.125%, 07/15/2029

Connect Finco SARL/Connect US Finco LLC
6.75%, 10/01/2026

Consolidated Communications, Inc.
6.50%, 10/01/2028

Embarg Corp.
7.995%, 06/01/2036

Frontier Communications Holdings LLC
6.75%, 05/01/2029

usb

104/343

469
68

38

318
297

142
140
145
28
16
13

50
86

89

10
10

81

51

74
143

91

52

200

200

66

40

30

371,449
63,794

34,906

219,569
149,815

128,179
114,777
111,876
18,111
11,050
10,235
43,278
58,801
5,617

78,142

8,361
9,207

65,801
3,325
33,180
57,934
124,449

5,575

7,875
88,614

45,997

2,350,033

140,020

191,438

51,471

22,684

23,201
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Hughes Satel lite Systems Corp.
6.625%, 08/01/2026

Level 3 Financing, Inc.
3.75%, 07/15/2029
4.25%, 07/01/2028
4.625%, 09/15/2027

Telecom Italia Capital SA
7.721%, 06/04/2038

-6.6%
Allison Transmission, Inc.
5.875%, 06/01/2029

American Axle & Manufacturing, Inc.

6.25%, 03/15/2026
6.50%, 04/01/2027

Clarios Global LP/Clarios US Finance Co.

6.25%, 05/15/2026

Dealer Tire LLC/DT Issuer LLC
8.00%, 02/01/2028

Ford Motor Co.
4.75%, 01/15/2043
6.10%, 08/19/2032

Ford Motor Credit Co. LLC
4.00%, 11/13/2030

Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. (The)
5.25%, 07/15/2031

Jaguar Land Rover Automotive PLC
5.875%, 01/15/2028

Nissan Motor Acceptance Co. LLC
1.85%, 09/16/2026
2.75%, 03/09/2028

PM General Purchaser LLC
9.50%, 10/01/2028

Real Hero Merger Sub 2, Inc.
6.25%, 02/01/2029

Titan International, Inc.
7.00%, 04/30/2028

ZF North America Capital, Inc.
7.125%, 04/14/2030

-5.2%

Carnival Corp.

4.00%, 08/01/2028

5.75%, 03/01/2027

9.875%, 08/01/2027

10.50%, 02/01/2026
Cedar Fair LP

5.25%, 07/15/2029

Cedar Fair LP/Canada”s Wonderland Co./Magnum Management

Corp./Millennium Op
5.50%, 05/01/2025

Cinemark USA, Inc.
5.25%, 07/15/2028

Lindblad Expeditions LLC
6.75%, 02/15/2027

usb

105/343

52

111

121

35

11
72

24

76

43
368

221

39

257

99

106

58

92

150

38
214
44
61

27

7

46

34

46,985
72,823
4,246
6,837

107,293
666,998

33,969

10,734
70,179

23,988

70,233

33,651
356,093

190,249

34,775

239,437

7,830
84,300

104,008

47,025

88,623

154,319

1,549,413

33,753
197,899
45,912
64,277

24,204

76,148

40,418

32,872
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NCL Corp., Ltd.
3.625%, 12/15/2024 usb
5.875%, 03/15/2026
Royal Caribbean Cruises Ltd.
5.375%, 07/15/2027
5.50%, 08/31/2026
5.50%, 04/01/2028
7.25%, 01/15/2030
11.50%, 06/01/2025
SeaWorld Parks & Entertainment, Inc.
8.75%, 05/01/2025
Six Flags Entertainment Corp.
7.25%, 05/15/2031
Viking Cruises Ltd.
5.875%, 09/15/2027
Viking Ocean Cruises Ship VII Ltd.
5.625%, 02/15/2029
VOC Escrow Ltd.
5.00%, 02/15/2028

-7.6%
Adams Homes, Inc.
7.50%, 02/15/2025
Beazer Homes USA, Inc.
7.25%, 10/15/2029
Brookfield Residential Properties, Inc./Brookfield
Residential US LLC
4.875%, 02/15/2030
6.25%, 09/15/2027
Builders FirstSource, Inc.
6.375%, 06/15/2032
Caesars Entertainment, Inc.
6.25%, 07/01/2025
7.00%, 02/15/2030
CP Atlas Buyer, Inc.
7.00%, 12/01/2028
Everi Holdings, Inc.
5.00%, 07/15/2029
Five Point Operating Co. LP/Five Point Capital Corp.
7.875%, 11/15/2025
Forestar Group, Inc.
3.85%, 05/15/2026
Hilton Domestic Operating Co., Inc.
3.625%, 02/15/2032
5.375%, 05/01/2025
5.75%, 05/01/2028
Hilton Grand Vacations Borrower Escrow LLC/Hilton Grand
Vacations Borrower Esc
4.875%, 07/01/2031
5.00%, 06/01/2029
Installed Building Products, Inc.
5.75%, 02/01/2028
Las Vegas Sands Corp.
3.50%, 08/18/2026
Mattamy Group Corp.
4.625%, 03/01/2030

106/343

108
60

63
58
127
36
44
37
32
93
35

52

84

21

23
94

61

73
30

23

20

110

15

119

50
24

115

$ 103,692
56,820

59,909
55,694
119,705
36,445
46,635
37,673
30,599
86,905
32,543

48,332
1,230,435

82,588

20,656

18,745
86,765

60,803

72,532
30,300

19,071
17,711
104,769
13,947
99,789

3,969
2,956

42,661
21,468

5,693
4,677

100,944
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MDC Holdings, Inc.
6.00%, 01/15/2043 usD
MGM Resorts International
4.75%, 10/15/2028
5.75%, 06/15/2025
Premier Entertainment Sub LLC/Premier Entertainment
Finance Corp.
5.625%, 09/01/2029
Resorts World Las Vegas LLC/RWLV Capital, Inc.
4.625%, 04/16/2029
Sugarhouse HSP Gaming Prop Mezz LP/Sugarhouse HSP Gaming
Finance Corp.
5.875%, 05/15/2025
Taylor Morrison Communities, Inc.
5.75%, 01/15/2028
Taylor Morrison Communities, Inc./Taylor Morrison
Holdings 11, Inc.
5.625%, 03/01/2024
Travel + Leisure Co.
4.50%, 12/01/2029
4.625%, 03/01/2030
6.625%, 07/31/2026
Victors Merger Corp.
6.375%, 05/15/2029
Wyndham Hotels & Resorts, Inc.
4.375%, 08/15/2028
Wynn Las Vegas LLC/Wynn Las Vegas Capital Corp.
5.25%, 05/15/2027
Wynn Resorts Finance LLC/Wynn Resorts Capital Corp.
5.125%, 10/01/2029

-0.8%

1011778 BC ULC/New Red Finance, Inc.

3.50%, 02/15/2029

3.875%, 01/15/2028

4.00%, 10/15/2030

5.75%, 04/15/2025
IRB Holding Corp.

7.00%, 06/15/2025

-4.5%
Arko Corp.
5.125%, 11/15/2029
Asbury Automotive Group, Inc.
4.625%, 11/15/2029
5.00%, 02/15/2032
Bath & Body Works, Inc.
6.75%, 07/01/2036
6.875%, 11/01/2035
6.95%, 03/01/2033
7.60%, 07/15/2037
9.375%, 07/01/2025

107/343

172

83

200

40

12

34

39

99

58

28

24

263

19

29
38
75
67

86

48
22

42
10
42

$ 153,924

76,597
3,951

1,524

165,751

38,546

11,685

33,917

33,610
85,549
57,733

20,140
22,125
249,578

17,216
1,781,890

25,509
34,778
64,341
66,656

6,029
197,313

71,566

42,563
19,190

38,197
9,276
38,036
5,352
4,221
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BCPE Ulysses Intermediate, Inc.
7.75%, 04/01/2027 (@) usD
Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc.
6.50%, 08/01/2030
Carvana Co.
5.50%, 04/15/2027
5.875%, 10/01/2028
FirstCash, Inc.
5.625%, 01/01/2030
Foundation Building Materials, Inc.
6.00%, 03/01/2029
Group 1 Automotive, Inc.
4.00%, 08/15/2028
Kontoor Brands, Inc.
4.125%, 11/15/2029
LBM Acquisition LLC
6.25%, 01/15/2029
LCM Investments Holdings 11 LLC
8.25%, 08/01/2031
Levi Strauss & Co.
3.50%, 03/01/2031
Macy®s Retail Holdings LLC
5.875%, 03/15/2030
6.125%, 03/15/2032
Michaels Cos., Inc. (The)
5.25%, 05/01/2028
7.875%, 05/01/2029
NMG Holding Co., Inc./Neiman Marcus Group LLC
7.125%, 04/01/2026
Penske Automotive Group, Inc.
3.75%, 06/15/2029
Sonic Automotive, Inc.
4.625%, 11/15/2029
4.875%, 11/15/2031
Specialty Building Products Holdings LLC/SBP Finance
Corp.
6.375%, 09/30/2026
SRS Distribution, Inc.
6.125%, 07/01/2029
Staples, Inc.
7.50%, 04/15/2026
10.75%, 04/15/2027
TPro Acquisition Corp.
11.00%, 10/15/2024
White Cap Buyer LLC
6.875%, 10/15/2028
William Carter Co. (The)
5.625%, 03/15/2027
Wolverine World Wide, Inc.
4.00%, 08/15/2029

-8.9%
AdaptHealth LLC
5.125%, 03/01/2030
AHP Health Partners, Inc.
5.75%, 07/15/2029

108/343

19

13

22
64

19

35

60

24

14

44

33
28

22
72

41

30

55
21

17

20

140
48

50

20

40

54

17

11

17,193

13,032

16,122
38,814

17,545

30,360

3,527

51,629

20,678

14,225

36,220

29,788
25,092

18,700
51,315

38,385

25,958

47,124
17,454

16,235

17,606

115,374
27,480

49,821

18,076

39,115

42,404

1,067,673

14,125

9,574
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Albertsons Cos., Inc./Safeway, Inc./New Albertsons
LP/Albertsons LLC

3.50%, 03/15/2029
4.625%, 01/15/2027
Bausch Health Americas, Inc.

8.50%, 01/31/2027
Bausch Health Cos., Inc.
6.25%, 02/15/2029
CD&R Smokey Buyer, Inc.
6.75%, 07/15/2025
Charles River Laboratories International, Inc.
3.75%, 03/15/2029
4.00%, 03/15/2031
CHS/Community Heal th Systems, Inc.
4.75%, 02/15/2031
5.625%, 03/15/2027
6.875%, 04/01/2028
6.875%, 04/15/2029
8.00%, 03/15/2026
DaVita, Inc.
3.75%, 02/15/2031
4.625%, 06/01/2030
Elanco Animal Health, Inc.
6.65%, 08/28/2028
Embecta Corp.

5.00%, 02/15/2030
Emergent BioSolutions, Inc.
3.875%, 08/15/2028
Fortrea Holdings, Inc.

7.50%, 07/01/2030
Garden Spinco Corp.
8.625%, 07/20/2030

Kronos Acquisition Holdings, Inc./KIK Custom Products, Inc.

7.00%, 12/31/2027
Legacy LifePoint Health LLC
4.375%, 02/15/2027

Medline Borrower LP
3.875%, 04/01/2029
5.25%, 10/01/2029

Newell Brands, Inc.

4.70%, 04/01/2026
6.375%, 09/15/2027
Performance Food Group, Inc.
4.25%, 08/01/2029

Pilgrim"s Pride Corp.
3.50%, 03/01/2032
5.875%, 09/30/2027

Primo Water Holdings, Inc.
4.375%, 04/30/2029

RegionalCare Hospital Partners Holdings, Inc./LifePoint

Health, Inc.
9.75%, 12/01/2026
Spectrum Brands, Inc.
3.875%, 03/15/2031
Tenet Heal thcare Corp.
6.125%, 10/01/2028
6.125%, 06/15/2030
6.25%, 02/01/2027

usb 50
118

43

89

13

48
47

38
113
28
71
20

69
128

51

106

106

24

52

79

14

114
174

34

30

92
19

42

229
68
146

23
13

109/343

43,513
111,845

24,518

41,396

12,308

42,480
40,959

28,806
100,774
17,500
47,097
19,649

55,145
109,301

50,394

87,465

57,695

24,543

56,348

69,516

12,079

99,893
154,501

32,391
7,862

26,604

74,325
18,772

36,875

214,680
56,121
139,117

22,364
12,753
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Triton Water Holdings, Inc.

6.25%, 04/01/2029 UsD
US Acute Care Solutions LLC

6.375%, 03/01/2026
US Renal Care, Inc.

10.625%, 07/15/2027

-8.2%
Apache Corp.
4.25%, 01/15/2030
Berry Petroleum Co. LLC
7.00%, 02/15/2026
Blue Racer Midstream LLC/Blue Racer Finance Corp.
7.625%, 12/15/2025
Callon Petroleum Co.
8.25%, 07/15/2025
Cheniere Energy Partners LP
4.50%, 10/01/2029
Citgo Holding, Inc.
9.25%, 08/01/2024
CITGO Petroleum Corp.
6.375%, 06/15/2026
Civitas Resources, Inc.
5.00%, 10/15/2026
8.375%, 07/01/2028
8.75%, 07/01/2031
CNX Resources Corp.
6.00%, 01/15/2029
Crescent Energy Finance LLC
7.25%, 05/01/2026
Encino Acquisition Partners Holdings LLC
8.50%, 05/01/2028
EnLink Midstream LLC
5.625%, 01/15/2028
EnLink Midstream Partners LP
4.85%, 07/15/2026
5.60%, 04/01/2044
EQM Midstream Partners LP
4.50%, 01/15/2029
4._75%, 01/15/2031
5.50%, 07/15/2028
Genesis Energy LP/Genesis Energy Finance Corp.
6.25%, 05/15/2026
6.50%, 10/01/2025
7.75%, 02/01/2028
8.00%, 01/15/2027
Global Partners LP/GLP Finance Corp.
6.875%, 01/15/2029
7.00%, 08/01/2027
Hilcorp Energy 1 LP/Hilcorp Finance Co.
5.75%, 02/01/2029
6.00%, 02/01/2031
Howard Midstream Energy Partners LLC
8.875%, 07/15/2028

110/343

20

106

67

24

63

87

43

33

21

67

50

32

30

13

66

89

103
16

58

56
39

55
25

71

41

12

18

17,002

92,657

24,526

2,107,473

21,797
60,034
87,619
43,000
30,683
20,989
65,412
47,174
32,919
31,049
12,162
64,999
81,760

6,845

100,059
13,233

52,983
49,957
37,587

1,918
3,964
53,284
24,589

66,537
40,132

6,482
10,930

18,395
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ITT Holdings LLC
6.50%, 08/01/2029

Moss Creek Resources Holdings, Inc.
10.50%, 05/15/2027

Nabors Industries Ltd.
7.25%, 01/15/2026
7.50%, 01/15/2028

New Fortress Energy, Inc.
6.75%, 09/15/2025

NGL Energy Operating LLC/NGL Energy Finance Corp.
7.50%, 02/01/2026

NuStar Logistics LP
6.375%, 10/01/2030

Occidental Petroleum Corp.
5.50%, 12/01/2025
6.20%, 03/15/2040
8.875%, 07/15/2030

PDC Energy, Inc.
5.75%, 05/15/2026

Southwestern Energy Co.
5.375%, 02/01/2029
8.375%, 09/15/2028

Summit Midstream Holdings LLC/Summit Midstream Finance Corp.

9.00%, 10/15/2026
Sunoco LP/Sunoco Finance Corp.
6.00%, 04/15/2027
Tallgrass Energy Partners LP/Tallgrass Energy Finance Corp.
6.00%, 12/31/2030
6.00%, 09/01/2031
Transocean Poseidon Ltd.
6.875%, 02/01/2027
Venture Global Calcasieu Pass LLC
4.125%, 08/15/2031
Venture Global LNG, Inc.
8.125%, 06/01/2028
8.375%, 06/01/2031

-0.3%
American Bui lders & Contractors Supply Co., Inc.
4.00%, 01/15/2028
Ritchie Bros Holdings, Inc.
6.75%, 03/15/2028
7.75%, 03/15/2031

-5.1%
ADT Security Corp. (The)
4.875%, 07/15/2032
Allied Universal Holdco LLC/Allied Universal Finance Corp.
6.625%, 07/15/2026
9.75%, 07/15/2027

usb 125

55

37
51

114

52

40
70
45

54

26

53

30
30

33
24

38

29
159

111/343

$ 107,652
53,594

35,599
46,798

108,483
51,515
6,752
39,841
70,687
52,189

54,360

5,669
5,204

70,876
2,972

6,234
3,502

25,946
44,966
30,498

30,448
1,940,277

4,582
33,447

25,094
63,123

32,855

27,727
145,878
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ANGI Group LLC
3.875%, 08/15/2028 usb
APX Group, Inc.
5.75%, 07/15/2029
Aramark Services, Inc.
5.00%, 02/01/2028
Block, Inc.
2.75%, 06/01/2026
3.50%, 06/01/2031
Garda World Security Corp.
4.625%, 02/15/2027
6.00%, 06/01/2029
9.50%, 11/01/2027
Gartner, Inc.
4.50%, 07/01/2028
Millennium Escrow Corp.
6.625%, 08/01/2026
MPH Acquisition Holdings LLC
5.50%, 09/01/2028
5.75%, 11/01/2028
Neptune Bidco US, Inc.
9.29%, 04/15/2029
Prime Security Services Borrower LLC/Prime Finance, Inc.
5.25%, 04/15/2024
5.75%, 04/15/2026
6.25%, 01/15/2028
Service Corp. International/US
3.375%, 08/15/2030
ZipRecruiter, Inc.
5.00%, 01/15/2030

-3.9%

Ahead DB Holdings LLC

6.625%, 05/01/2028
AthenaHeal th Group, Inc.

6.50%, 02/15/2030
Boxer Parent Co., Inc.

7.125%, 10/02/2025
CDW LLC/CDW Finance Corp.

3.25%, 02/15/2029
CommScope, Inc.

8.25%, 03/01/2027
Elastic NV

4.125%, 07/15/2029
Entegris Escrow Corp.

5.95%, 06/15/2030
Gen Digital, Inc.

6.75%, 09/30/2027

7.125%, 09/30/2030
GoTo Group, Inc.

5.50%, 09/01/2027
Imola Merger Corp.

4.75%, 05/15/2029
NCR Corp.

5.125%, 04/15/2029

5.75%, 09/01/2027

112/343

74

64

66

87
90

35
23
23
18
56

73
168

99

40

133

15

57

50

86

10

91

37

11

66

46
46

76

46

40

62,226

55,597

62,372

79,563
75,396

32,325
19,151
22,508
16,836

41,778

63,631
128,645

91,068
5,939
39,225
125,403

12,507

48,674

1,189,304

43,067

72,909

10,100

79,305

28,050

9,530

63,260

46,156
46,335

43,627

40,394

35,799
3,021
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Playtika Holding Corp.

4._25%, 03/15/2029 usb 17 % 15,001
Presidio Holdings, Inc.
4.875%, 02/01/2027 9 8,507
8.25%, 02/01/2028 94 91,193
Rackspace Technology Global, Inc.
3.50%, 02/15/2028 158 70,757
Seagate HDD Cayman
8.25%, 12/15/2029 45 47,133
8.50%, 07/15/2031 46 48,167
Veritas US, Inc./Veritas Bermuda Ltd.
7.50%, 09/01/2025 96 78,755
Virtusa Corp.
7.125%, 12/15/2028 46 38,641
919,707
-1.9%
Air Canada
3.875%, 08/15/2026 24 22,302
Allegiant Travel Co.
7.25%, 08/15/2027 39 38,585
American Airlines, Inc./AAdvantage Loyalty IP Ltd.
5.50%, 04/20/2026 63 62,322
5.75%, 04/20/2029 159 153,796
Hawaiian Brand Intellectual Property Ltd./HawaiianMiles
Loyalty Ltd.
5.75%, 01/20/2026 78 73,503
Spirit Loyalty Cayman Ltd./Spirit IP Cayman Ltd.
8.00%, 09/20/2025 50 50,139
United Airlines, Inc.
4.625%, 04/15/2029 55 49,862
450,509
-1.5%
AerCap Global Aviation Trust
6.50%, 06/15/2045 229 224,403
Hertz Corp. (The)
4.625%, 12/01/2026 47 42,484
5.00%, 12/01/2029 45 37,170
PROG Holdings, Inc.
6.00%, 11/15/2029 64 58,004
362,061
18,330,673
-8.0%
-1.1%
Ally Financial, Inc.
6.70%, 02/14/2033 31 28,808
Bread Financial Holdings, Inc.
7.00%, 01/15/2026 35 33,865
Intesa Sanpaolo SpA
5.71%, 01/15/2026 200 192,967
255,640

113/343
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-0.8%
Advisor Group Holdings, Inc.
10.75%, 08/01/2027 usb
AG Issuer LLC
6.25%, 03/01/2028
AG TTMT Escrow Issuer LLC
8.625%, 09/30/2027
Hightower Holding LLC
6.75%, 04/15/2029
NFP Corp.
4._875%, 08/15/2028
6.875%, 08/15/2028
7.50%, 10/01/2030

-2.9%
Castlelake Aviation Finance DAC

5.00%, 04/15/2027
CNG Holdings, Inc.

12.50%, 06/15/2024 (C)
Compass Group Diversified Holdings LLC

5.25%, 04/15/2029
Curo Group Holdings Corp.

7.50%, 08/01/2028
Enova International, Inc.

8.50%, 09/01/2024

8.50%, 09/15/2025
GGAM Finance Ltd.

7.75%, 05/15/2026

8.00%, 06/15/2028
goeasy Ltd.

5.375%, 12/01/2024
Navient Corp.

6.125%, 03/25/2024

6.75%, 06/15/2026

7.25%, 09/25/2023
OneMain Finance Corp.

6.875%, 03/15/2025
SLM Corp.

3.125%, 11/02/2026
Synchrony Financial

7.25%, 02/02/2033

-0.8%

Acrisure LLC/Acrisure Finance, Inc.
10.125%, 08/01/2026

AssuredPartners, Inc.
5.625%, 01/15/2029
7.00%, 08/15/2025

HUB International Ltd.
7.00%, 05/01/2026
7.25%, 06/15/2030

Liberty Mutual Group, Inc.
7.80%, 03/15/2037

114/343

54

14

45

14
23
34

87

40

70

106

15
173

24
35

12

55

40

28

48

12

41

48

24

12

92

18

55,341
13,517
46,412

3,526
12,669
20,382

33,361
185,208

80,265

33,877

63,715

40,595

14,902
170,589

24,217
35,651

11,698
54,648
39,006
28,011
47,811

10,555

38,350
693,890

49,492

20,901
11,864

4,990
93,894

18,629
199,770
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-0.8%
Armor Holdco, Inc.
8.50%, 11/15/2029 usb 118 $ 101,072
Coinbase Global, Inc.
3.375%, 10/01/2028 32 22,411
3.625%, 10/01/2031 58 36,516
CURO SPV LLC
18.00%, 08/02/2027 23 22,479
182,478
REITS - 1.6%
Brookfield Property REIT, Inc./BPR Cumulus LLC/BPR Nimbus
LLC/GGSI Sellco LL
4.50%, 04/01/2027 113 97,675
5.75%, 05/15/2026 22 20,630
Iron Mountain, Inc.
4.875%, 09/15/2029 48 43,320
MPT Operating Partnership LP/MPT Finance Corp.
5.00%, 10/15/2027 41 35,956
Office Properties Income Trust
3.45%, 10/15/2031 48 25,315
VICI Properties LP/VICI Note Co., Inc.
5.625%, 05/01/2024 119 118,424
5.75%, 02/01/2027 35 34,543
375,863
1,892,849
-0.6%
-0.4%
Calpine Corp.
5.25%, 06/01/2026 6 5,824
NRG Energy, Inc.
3.875%, 02/15/2032 63 48,730
6.625%, 01/15/2027 24 23,815
Vistra Operations Co. LLC
4_375%, 05/01/2029 7 6,180
84,549
-0.0%
AmeriGas Partners LP/AmeriGas Finance Corp.
5.75%, 05/20/2027 4 3,653
5.875%, 08/20/2026 4 3,768
7,421
-0.2%
Solaris Midstream Holdings LLC
7.625%, 04/01/2026 54 52,955
144,925
$23,214,733 20,368,447
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-10.1%
-7.3%
-0.8%
ArcelorMittal SA
7.00%, 10/15/2039 usb
Celanese US Holdings LLC
6.05%, 03/15/2025
Glencore Funding LLC
5.70%, 05/08/2033

-1.9%
Cox Communications, Inc.
5.70%, 06/15/2033
Discovery Communications LLC
4.125%, 05/15/2029
Netflix, Inc.
5.875%, 11/15/2028
Warnermedia Holdings, Inc.
3.755%, 03/15/2027
4.279%, 03/15/2032

-0.2%
Sprint Capital Corp.
8.75%, 03/15/2032

-0.9%
General Motors Financial Co., Inc.
5.85%, 04/06/2030
6.40%, 01/09/2033
Harley-Davidson Financial Services, Inc.
6.50%, 03/10/2028

-0.3%
Toll Brothers Finance Corp.
4.875%, 03/15/2027

-0.3%
BAT Capital Corp.
6.421%, 08/02/2033
7.75%, 10/19/2032

-1.5%
Cenovus Energy, Inc.
5.40%, 06/15/2047
Continental Resources, Inc./0K
4.90%, 06/01/2044
5.75%, 01/15/2031
DCP Midstream Operating LP
5.125%, 05/15/2029
Oovintiv, Inc.
5.65%, 05/15/2028
6.25%, 07/15/2033

116/343

98

29

48

13

354

29
40

38

63
44

99

78

29
33

7

17
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47
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101,318

28,974

47,656
177,948

13,061
6,432
364,929
27,147

35,444
447,013

45,802

62,936
45,242

100,037
208,215

76,158

29,000
36,476
65,476

70,838

13,456
30,956

46,242

21,870
38,358
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Western Midstream Operating LP
4.30%, 02/01/2030 usb
4._50%, 03/01/2028
4.65%, 07/01/2026
4._75%, 08/15/2028
5.45%, 04/01/2044

-0.2%
LKQ Corp.
5.75%, 06/15/2028
6.25%, 06/15/2033

-0.2%
HP, Inc.
5.50%, 01/15/2033

-1.0%
DeltaAir Lines, Inc./SkyMiles IP Ltd.
4.75%, 10/20/2028
Mileage Plus Holdings LLC/Mileage Plus Intellectual Property
Assets Ltd.

6.50%, 06/20/2027

-2.7%
-1.1%
Ally Financial, Inc.

8.00%, 11/01/2031
Capital One Financial Corp.
6.312%, 06/08/2029
Discover Financial Services

6.70%, 11/29/2032
Santander Holdings USA, Inc.
6.499%, 03/09/2029
6.565%, 06/12/2029
Truist Financial Corp.
1.95%, 06/05/2030
5.122%, 01/26/2034
US Bancorp
4.839%, 02/01/2034

-0.0%
LPL Holdings, Inc.
4.00%, 03/15/2029

-1.4%
Aircastle Ltd.

2.85%, 01/26/2028
5.25%, 08/11/2025
Aviation Capital Group LLC
1.95%, 01/30/2026
3.50%, 11/01/2027
4.125%, 08/01/2025
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49,083
11,419
43,707
11,506
20,115
357,550

30,817
27,177
57,994

47,341

63,909

168,176
232,085

1,715,582

20,128

35,139

29,709

70,294
34,928

6,379
38,247

23,500
258,324

8,965

1,734
170,251

2,693
20,734
16,143
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4.375%, 01/30/2024
4.875%, 10/01/2025
5.50%, 12/15/2024

-0.2%
Prudential Financial, Inc.
5.20%, 03/15/2044

-0.1%
-0.1%
NRG Energy, Inc.
7.00%, 03/15/2033

$2,444,375

- 1.4%
-1.2%
-1.2%
Eldorado Gold Corp.
6.25%, 09/01/2029
First Quantum Minerals Ltd.
6.875%, 10/15/2027

-0.0%
Tonon Luxembourg SA

6.50%, 1073172024 (¢) (d) (&)
Virgolino de Oliveira Finance SA
10.50%, 01/28/2018 (0) (c) (d)

-0.2%
-0.2%
Terraform Global Operating LP
6.125%, 03/01/2026

Total Emerging Markets - Corporate Bonds

$1,093,721

-0.0%
-0.0%

BIS Industries Holdings Ltd. (d)

$11,967

usb
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-1.7%
-1.7%
ANZ, Hong Kong
2.62%, 08/01/2023 AUD 1 3 349
Sumitomo, Tokyo
4.68%, 08/01/2023 UsD 390 389,908
$390,257 390,257
-99.5%
$27,155,053 23,468,993
-0.5% 122,877
-100.0% $ 23,591,870
(@ 2023 31

()
©
(©)
©)

AUD -

REIT -
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS & LIABILITIES

July 31, 2023
Assels
Investments in securties, at value (cost 327 165053 .. .. ... ...... $ 23,468,953
R s R e e e 1,880
Interestreceivabde . . .. .. ... oo ci e i 413,096
Receivable for investment securiiessold .. ... ... ... ... ... 10,472
Receivable forunits sold. ... ... ..o vviaeeian i e e i 2,402
L 1B L A T ey SR e 23,806 823
Liabilities
Professional fees payable . ... ... ..ot e e 108, 851
Investment Management feepayable . .. .. .. ... ... ... .. .. ..., 56,343
Payable for investrent securities purchased . ... ... ... ... ..... 55,000
Distribution fee payable. . ... ... ..o i 12,328
Unrealized depreciation on forward foreign currency contracts. . .. .. .. 8072
AgentCompany feepavable. . .. ..............ciiiniiiiaanian 5651
Management feepayable ... ..........c.occici i iiiiianis 187
Accrued expenses and other abilites .. .....................0.0. 63,601
Total labilities ... ... .. e e 304 953
Mk Bmabe: o= 2 o i s S e R e 5 3,591,870
Het Asset
Value In
Units Het Asset Offered
Class Met Asseis Outstanding Value Cumency
AUD 3 3835214 655,660 5 5.85 AUD 8.71
UsD 5 15,756,655 2 X56,830 5§ A60 5 860

Sof mokeg ko nanca! Shelenenis
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STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended July 31, 2023

Investment Income

R R R S R SR

Expenses

Investment Managementfee. ... . ... ...... ... ... ...
Managementfee .. .. ... .. ... . ... i iiiiiiiiiaas
Professdonal f#s ... ... .....ocivuviniinanan i
Adrministrative fee. . . ... i oo i i s e

Custodian fes. . , ..

Transferagency fee . ... ....... . iiinaiiininrinnias
Regstrationfee ....... ... .ot iioniaiinnaas
PRI D = o v it e R A e S
Miscellanaous BB, . . ... ... ..o i i i
Tolel expensas. . ... .. (.. i b

Hetirmestment income . . . .. ... ... .

Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss) on investment and
Foreign Currency Transactions
Mot realized (loss) on:

Investment ransactions . .. .. ... ... ... .. ...

Foreign currency transactions. . . .,

Net change in unrealized appreciation Idaptmnhun}m A

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabiities. . .. . . .
ek loss on investment and foreign currency transactions . . . .
Het Increase in Met Assets from Operations ... ... ...

Sod rokeg 1B inanta! chablemenis

1,713,289

b -
2,440
121,885
110,026
G224
26,423
25,540
12,081
12,011
10,000
7320
9,759
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1.713.238

631,512

1,081,787

{1,128,424)
{178, 780)

556,251
{58,090

(B07.032)

§

274,755

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended
July 31, 2023

Increase {Decrease) In Net Assets from ﬂpﬁwms
Met imnvestrment income . RGeSt 1,081, 787
Net realized loss on investment and Inrsign :urram::.'

transactions. . . ... (1,305,184}
et change in mranhzad apprﬂuuhm fdaptmmm} on

investments and forsign currency denominated assets and

liakilities . i 3 488, 152
Nalln:tuwnnﬂmmiomnplrﬂm 274,755
Distributions to Unitholders

Class ALUD . (1786, 708)

Class USD . (919.773)
Total hﬁnbuhmstul.lrdhddar: chad N pleal S {1,00647T9)
Unit Transactions
a.lb:mpﬁm 417.638
TnhlunrtTmnnmms (3,528 232)
Total decrease, {4,348 858)
Net Assels
Baginning of year. .. ... coouvi it i i e 27,941,826
BN O O T A e e R B T 5 23,591,870

Sod foked B inanta! ohalemenis
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
July 31, 2023

1. Organization

Mizuho AB Trust Series (the “Trust™) i# an open-ended exempled umbrella unit trust established on May 1, 2012 under the Trusts Act
{Bevised) of the Cayman Islands and commenced operations on July 19, 2002, The Trust operales as a series trust currently comprised
of enc portfolio: Mizuho Us High Income Bond Fund (the *Sub-Fund™). The registered office of the Sub-Fumd 15 o/o Intertrust
Trestees (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee™) One Nexus Way Grand Caymman K'Y 1-9005, Cayman Islands, The Sub-Fund™s objective is
to achieve high curment income and long-tenm growth of capital by primearnity investing in a diversified portfolio of high vield bonds
denominated in United States (175" Dollars 5). There can be no assurance that the Sub-Fund will achieve its investment
objective or generate iy estrment retums,

On December 6, 2021, Corporation 5 ervice Comgrany (“CSC) announced that a conditional agreement had been reached on a
recommended public offer for all sswed and outstanding cedinary shares of Intertrust Group of which the Trustes is a wholly owned
subsidiary, In November 2022, CSC closed on i1z acquisition of Intertnast Groug,

The Sub-Fund is regulated as a rmatual fund under the Mutual Funds Act (2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands and accordingly iz
regulated by the Cavian Lslands Mondary Authorty,

Currently the Sub-Fund has available for 1ssue two classes of Units (Note 33, Class AUD Units designated to Australian Dollar
(AUDy and Class USD Units designated to U5, 5. Each currency in which the Units are offered 15 known as the offered currency
(“"Oiffered Currency™). The Cftered Currency for Class AUD is AUD, The Otfered Currency for Class USD = U8, 5

Asset Management Cne Co., Lid, serves as the Investment Manager (the *‘lnvestment Manager™) and AllianceBernstein L.P. serves az
the Sub-Manager and Management Companry (the “Sub-Manager™ or “Management Company™ )

The Sub-Fund will terminate on July 31, 2027, umless the Sub-Manager detenmines in consultation with the Trustee that it is in the
best miterest of Unitholders to terminate the Sub-Fund prior to such date. The Management Comgpany. in consultation with the Trustee,
also may terminate the Sub-Fund o the net asset value of the Sub-Fund 15 below $30 million.

At this time, the Management Company has determined it is not in the best interest of the Unitholders to terminate the Sub-Fund.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basts af Freparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted o the United States of
America (ULS, GAAP”) and are expressed in 1.5, 5. This Sub-Fund & an mwvestment company under 118, GAAP and follows the
accounting and reporting guidance applicable to investment companies,

Valwation of Investmens fn Securilies

Securities listed on an exchange are valued at the st sale price reflected on the consolidated tape at the close of the exchange on the
business day {each bank business day in New York and each bank business day in Japan and/or army ether day which the Sub-Manager
{or an entity designated by the Sub-Meanagerh determines, “Business Day™) as of which such value is being detenmined. If there has
been no sale on such day, the secunities are vaboed at the mean of the closing bid and asked prices on such day. If no bid or asked
prices are quoted on such day, then the security is valued in good faith at fair value by, o in accordance with procedures established
by, the Sub-Manager. Securitics raded in the over-the-counter market, including securities listed on an exchange whose primary
market is believed to be over-the-counter (but excluding securities traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (*NASDACQ™)) are
valued at the mean of the current bid and asked prices; securities traded on NASDAQ are valued in accordance with the NASDA D
Official Closing Price,

LS. Government securities and amy other debt instnoments laving 60 days or less remaining until maturity are generally valued at
miarked by an independent pricing vendor, if a market price s available. If a miarket price is not available, the securities are valued at
amertized cost. This methodology is commonly used for short-term securities that have an original maturity of &0 dayvs or less, as well
as ghon-term securities that had an eriginal term to maturity that exceeded 60 days. In instances when amortized cost is utilized, the
Valuation Comrmittee (the “Committee™ ) must reasonably conclude that the utilization of amoertized cost i approximately the same as
the fair value of the security. Such factors the Committee will consider include, but are not limdted to, an impairment of the
ereditworthiness of the issuer or material changes in interest rates,

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
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Fixed-income securities may be valued on the basis of prices that reflect the market value of such fixed-income securities and that are
provided by 3 pricing service when such prices are believed to retlect the fair market value of such securities. The prices provided by
a pricing service take into account marry factors, including institutional size, trading in similar groups of securities and any
developments related to specific secunities, For securitics where the Sub-Manager has determined that an appropriate pricing service
does not exist, such securities may be valued on the basis of a queted bid price or spread from a major broker-dealer in such security,

Al other securities will be vahied in accordance with readily available market quetations as determined in accordance with procedures
established by the Sub-Manager. In the event that extraordmary circumstances render such a valustion ompracticable or madequate,
the Sub-Manager is authorized to follow other rules prudently and in good faith in order to achieve a fair valwation of the assets of the
Sub-Fund.

Farvward Forvign Currency Controcts
Forward foreign currency contracts are valued o the difference between the forward Foreign exchange rates a1 the dates of enftry inlo
the contracts and the forward rates at the reporting date,

Clasdr anad Cash Equivalenis
The Sub-Fund considers all haghly liguid nmvestments, with original maturities of less than minety days, as cash equavalents.

Foarelgn Currency

Investment secunities and other assets and labilities denomireated in foreign currencies are transsted into U5, € amounts at the date of
valuation. Purchases and sales of mvestment securities and moome and expense iems denominated m forcign currencies are ranslated
into U8, 5 amounts on the respective dates of such transactions.

The Sub-Fusud does not isolate the portion of the resulls of operations resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates on investments
froam the flucheations arising from changes in market prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized gain
(loss) and net clange in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of dwvestments in e statenent of operations,

Reported net realized gains o losses on foreign currencies anse from sales of foreign currencies, cumendy gams of losses realized
between the trade amd scttlement dates on securities transactions, and the difference between the amounts of dividends and interest
recorded on the Sub-Fund's books and the U8, % equivalent of the amounts actually recerved or paid.

Reveniie Recognilion

Securities transactions are recorded on a trade-date basis. Dividend income and expense are recognized on the ex-dividend date and
indered meome and expense are recomized on an acorual basis. Realized gams and losses on myvestment transactions are determined
by the first in, first out method. Discounts which are expected to be realized and premiums on investments are amortized over the
remamning life of the respective investments using the effective interest method,

Allocation of Income and Expenses

The Sub-Fund allocates income and expenses to gach class and serics pro rata based on the net &set value per share of the applicable
class or series ab the beginnmg of the calculation period. Investment Management Fees are calculated and charged as described in
Note 4. Profit and loss recomzed through share class hedging specific to the designsted currency of each class as described in Note 5
is allocated to each class.

Income Taves

In sccordance with U8, GAAP requiremnents regarding accounting For uncertainties in imcome taxes, managerment has analy zed the
Sub-Fund's tax positions taken for ihe open tax period and has concliuded that no provision for income taxt is required in the Sub-
Fumd’s fimancial statemnents.

The Sub-Fud i= ol subject to bax under curment Cavaman Telands tax laws bt the Sub-Fund mav be subject Lo lixes mposed by
coumtries mwhich it invests. Such taxes are generally based on income and/or capital gams eamed or repatriated. Taxes are accrued
and applied to netl investment mcome, net realized gains and net wnrealized gain (loss) a5 such income and'or gams are camed.

The Sub-Fumnd remains subject to exanination by U5, federal and state jurisdictions, as well as intemational jurisdictions, for certain
vears prior o and meluding Juby 31, 2023 and upon completion of these examimations (if undertak en by the totmg jurisdsction) L
adjustments ey be necessany and retroactive to all open tax vears.

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
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Ulse af Extimates

The preparation of financial statemnents in conformity with 118, GAAP requires management to make estinates and assumptions that
affect the reported amousits of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. i any, at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amounts of reverwes and expenses recorded during the reporting vear. Actual results could differ
from those estimates and such differences could be material,

Indemnification and Warranties

In the ordinary course of its business, the Sub-Fund has entered into contracts or agreements that contam mdemmfications or
warranties. Future events could occur that lead to the execution of these provisions against the Sub-Fund. The maimam exposure to
the Sub-Fund under these provisions is unknown as this would involve future claims that have not vet ocoured,

3. Unit Transactions

Deseription of Units

The mumbser of Units authorzed to be issued is unlimited and shall be without par value, Each Unit represents an undivided beneficial
intered in the Sub-Fund with the result that the amount pavable to a Umnitholder upon termination of the Sub-Fund will equal its share
of the net asset value attributable to the relevant Class of Units divided by all Units of the Class then outstanding. All Units of a Class
comvey, upon sue, the same rights as to repurchase and distributions. Exch of the Units has squal rights and privileges with each
other Unit, mclhedmg the night to one vote per Unit.

The Sub-Fund curmrently offers, and m the future may offer, without consent of the Unitholders, varous Classes of Units with differing
fee structures and subscription requirements to meet the needs of cortain classes of Investors or to conform Lo market practice or
requirements in cerain junsdictions.

The Management Company/Tnvestment Manager may, at amy time at its dizcretion, temporarily discontinue, cease indefinitely or limit
the izase of Uitz to investoss resident or established in centain coamtries o territories, The Management Compaiy/Tnvestimet
Manager may alzo prohibit certamn investors from acquiring Units if necessary for the protection of the Unitholders az a whole and
each Sub-Fumd,

Initicd Subscription af Units
Units were initially offered at AUD 10 per Class AUD and U5, 310 per Class USD. The mirdmam initial mywvestment is 100 Units and
the minimuem subsequent investment 1s 10 Units for Class AUD and Class USD,

Subsequernd Subscriptions of Unils
Units will be available for purchase i the Offered Currencies at their respectivie net asset values per Unit {plus any applicable sales
charge) on amy Dealing Day. Dealing Dy 15 each Busmess Day.

Repoorefrave of Unils
Unitholders may redeem therr Units on ay Dealing Day by transmittmg an imevecable repurchase order by facsimile or mail to the
administrator of the Sub-Fund.

The Sub-Masmger will endeaveor to ensure, for sy Dealing Day, that an appropriate level of liquidity is maintained in respect of cach
class =0 that repurchase of Units may, under normal circumstances, be made promptly on such date to Unitholders requesting
repurchase. However, the Sub-Manager may limit the repurchase of Undts in the event the Sub-Fund receives, as of any Dealing Day,
requests to redeem more than 107% of the Units of the Sub-Fund cutstanding as of such date, inwhich case Units of the Sub-Fund may
be redeerned on a pro rata basis. Any part ef a repurchase request to which effect is not given by reason of the exercise of this power
by or o behalf of the Sub-Manager will be treated as if a request has been made in respect of the next Dealing Day and all following
Dealing Dy s (in relation o which the Sub-Manager has the same power) until the original request lias been satisfied in full. T
addition, under certain crcumstances, the Tristee, in consultation with the Sub-Manager, may suspend the right of Unitholders to
redesm Units,

Distributions

The Management Company will declare a monthly distribution to Unitholders on the last Business Day of cach month {each a * Record
Date™; provided that the Sub-Manager may choose not to pay a distribution in its absolute discretion, If declared, distributions will
be paid within three Business Days from the relevant Record Date on which such distribution was declared of a3 so0n as practicable
thereatler,

The Management Company intends to declare and pay monthly dividends equal to all or substantially all of the Sub-Fund®s net
investment meome attributable to each Unit Class.
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The Management Company also may determine if and to what extent distnbutions paid include realized and unrealized gams and/or
are paid out of available capital, attributable to the relevant Unit Class. To the exdtent the net income and net realized and unrealized
profits attributable to these Units exceed the amount declared payable, the excess retum will be reflected in the respective met asset
valee of such Unitz, There can be no assurance that any distribution pavments will ocour,

Unit transactions for the year ended July 31, 2023 were 2z follows:

Year Ended YWear Ended
July 31, 2023 Juby 31, 2023
Class AUD
Units zold T30 & 42,473
Units redecmed (75,6200 {435.024)
Net decrense (65.450) 3 (392.551)
Class USD
Units sold 45120 % 373,163
Units redecmed (413 .950) (3 510, 844)
Net decresse (J65.830 5 (3,135, 681)
Total amount of Unif transactions: 5 (3.528.232)

The Sub-Manager has appointed Mizuho Bank, Lid. as distributor (in this capacity, the “Distributor™) m Japan. As of Juby 31, 2023,
the Distributor individually owned 10626 of the Fund®s net assets. Transactions by the Distributer and/or investors holding a
sigmificant ownership percentage at the Sub-Fund can impact olhier nvestors,

4. Fees and Expenses

Parties are considerei to be related if one party has the sbility to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other
party in making financizl or operational decisions.

Trustee Fees

The Trustee shiall be entitled to receive a Ffee of LS, S10,000 per ammum payable oul of the procesds of subscription for the Units of
the Sub-Fund. The Trustee shall also be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee for extraordinary Trustee services
and amy direct out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Trustee on behalf of the Sub-Fund,

For the vear ended Juby 31, 2023, the Sub-Fund incurred 1.5, £10,000 of Trustee Fees expense, none of which was pavable
at July 31, 2023,

Meaagemeret Compay Tive stment Maager Fee

The Management Comgany i2 entithed to be paid ot of the assetz of the Sub-Fund for its services as Manager Management Fee™) of
the Sub-Fund a fee equal te 0001% per amum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of cach Business Day in each
mienth.

The Investment Manager is entitled to be paid out of the sssets of the Sub-Fund for #s services = Investment Manager *[nvestment
Management Fee™) of the Sub-Fund a fee of 0.95% per anmum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each
Business Day in each month,

The Management Company shall alse be entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for any out-of-pocket expenses
and disbursemments mowmed on behabl of the Sub-Fund.

For the vear ended Juby 31, 2023, the Sub-Fund incurred ULS, $231,793 and U8, 52440 of Investrment Management Fee amd
Management Fee expense, respectively, of which 1.5, £56,343 and U.S, 187 were payvable at July 31, 2023 and are inchuded within
Irvestment Management Fee pavable and Manzgement Fee payable in the staternent of assets and labilitics, respectively.

Sub-Manager Fee

The Sub-Manager 15 entitled to be compensated for #s services as Sub-Manager of the Sub-Fund. Pursuant to the Sub-Manageament
Agreement, the Investment Manager will pay to the Sub-Manager a portion of the Investment Management Fee of 0.65% per anmuemn
of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of exch Business Day m each menth.
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Admindtrator, Tranger Agent and Custodion Fees

The Trustee entered into an administration agreement with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (o act a8 administrator and ransfer agent
of the Sub-Fund (the *Administrator and Transfer Agent™). For its find accounting administration services in respect of the
Sub-Fund, the Administrator and Transfer Agent is entitled to be paid ot of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee pavable in U5, &
monthty in amears within 30 calendar days of the end of the relevant month, The fee for the fund accounting administration services is
ULS. 815,000 and arry othier transactional charges. The fee for transfier agency services 1 U5, $10,000 per anmum plus ULS, $1.000 per
Unit Class and sy other ransactional charges. For the year ended July 31, 2023, the Sub-Fund incurred US. 62,124 of
admimistrative fees, of which ULS. 230,821 was pavable at July 31, 2023 and 15 mcheded within accrued expenses and other lnbilities
in the statemnent of assets and labilities. For the year ended July 31, 2023, the Sub-Fund incurred U8, $25, 540 of transfer agency fees,
of which 1.5, $12,539 was payable at July 31, 2023 and iz mcluded within accrued expenses and other liabilities in the statement of
asaets and liabilities.

Pursuant to @ custody service agreement, Brown Brothers Hamiman & Co, acts as custodian (the “Custodian™) for the Sub-Fund with
respect Lo assels delivered to md held by the Custodian. The Cuztodian iz entitled o be paid agreed upon transaction charges and o
recover oul-of-pocket expenses out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, payable in U5, S monthly i arears. For the vear ended July 31,
2023, the Sub-Fund incurred U5, 526,423 of custodian fees, of which ULS. §11.970 was pavable at July 31, 2023 and iz included
within acorued expenses and other labilities in the staterment of assets and liabilities,

Agent Company Fee

The ManagerInvestment Manager bas appointed AlhanceBemstein Japan Lid. as the Agent Company in Japan. The Agent Company
15 entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Agent Company (CAgent Company Fee™) of the Sub-Fund a
fee of 0.03% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each month.

For the year ended July 31, 2023, the Sub-Fund incurred U8, £7,320 of Agent Company Fees, of which 115, S561 was payable at
July 31, 2023 and is included within Agent Comgpany fee payable in the statement of assets and Babilities,

DMistribador Fee

The Distribuitos 15 entitled to be pad o of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Distributor  Dastribaition Fee™) of the
Sub-Fund a fee of 0.50% per annum of the aversege of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day n each month.
Other Distnibutors may be appomted in the future.

For the vear ended July 31, 2023, the Sub-Fund incurred 118, $121.995 of Distribution Fees, of which 115, 312,328 was payable af
July 31, 2023 and is included within Distribution Fee payable in the statement of assets and liabilities,

5. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Sub-Fund uses derivatives to eam income and enhance retums, to hedge or adjust the nsk profile of its portfolio and s Unit
Classes, o replace more traditienal direct ivestments, or to obtain exposure to otherwise maccessible markets.

The Sub-Fund enters into derivatives which may represent off-balance sheet risk. Cff-balance sheet risk exists when the mas imum
potential loss on a particular investment is greater than the value of such investrment as reflected in the statement of assets and
lisbilities.

Certain derivative agrecmments allow counterparties to over-the-counter derivatives to require collateral or terminate derivative

comracts prior to maturity in the event the Sub-Fund's net assets decline by a stated percentage or the Sub-Fund fails to mect other
eredit-risk contingent terms in the agreement, which would cause an accelerated payment of any net liability owed to the counterpary,

The principal types of derivatives utilized by the Sub-Fund, az well as the methods in which they may be used are:

Forward Foreign Currency Conlracts
For the vear ended July 31, 2023, the Sub-Fund entered into forward foretgn currency contricts to gam exposure to the designated
currency of each respective Unit Class veraus the ULS. § as detailed below:

* (lass AUDY: Buying AU forward foreign currency contracts against the U5, 5, in the AUD amount equal to the extent possible
to approximately 10026 of the U5, 8 exposure of the net asset vahe (exclueding unrealized currency gain or loss) attributable o
Class AL,

* Class USD: No forward foreign currency contracts,
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A forward foreign cumrency contract is a commitment to purchase or sell a foreign cumrency at a fisture date @ a negotited forward
rate,

Fluctuations in the value of open forward foreign currency contracts are recorded as unirealized appreciation (depreciation) of forward
foreign cwrrency contracts in the statement of assets and liabilities and as net change in wrealized appreciation (depreciation) of
foreign currency denomiinated assets and liabilities in the statement of operaticns. The gain or loss ariging from the difference between
the original contract and the closing of =uch comtract would be included in net realized gain or loss on foreign currency transactions m
the staterment of operations.

Risks may arise from the potential inability of a counterparty to meet the tenms of a contract and from unanticipated movements in the
value of a foreign currency relative to the 1.8, §. The face or contract amownt, in U5, $, reflects the total exposure the Sub-Fund has
in that particular curvency contract,

At July 31, 2023, the Sub-Fund had the following open forward foreign cumrency contracts:

Forward Forelgn Currency Contracts

Unrealized
Apprecdation
o of Net Assels {Depreclation)

Warious Appreciated Coniracis 0.00R 3 -0-
Warious Depreciated Contracts (0L031% (B.072)
Total Forward Forelgn Currency Contracts (003 1% 5 (8.072)

Currency Transaetions

The Sub-Fund invests in non-L. 5. $ denominated securities on a currency hedged or unhedged basiz, The Sub-Fund seeks investment
opporunities by taking a long or ghort position in cwrencies through the vee of currency -related dervatives, including forward Toreim
curreney contracts, The Sub-Fund enters into transactions for investment opportumities when it anticipates that a foreign currency will
appreciate or depreciate in value but securities denominated in that currency are not held by the Sub-Fund and do not present attractive
investment opponunities. Such transactions are also used when the Sub-Manager believes that it may be more efficient than a direct
investment in 3 foreign cumency <lenominated security.

The Sub-Fund typically enters mto Intermational Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. Master Agreements (“1SDA Master
Agreement”™} with its over-the-counter COTC™) denvative confract counterparties in order to, among other things, reduce its credit
risk to OTC counterparties. 1SDA Mager Agreements include provisions for general obligations, representations, collateral and events
of defmlt or termination. Under an ISDA Master Agreement, the Sub-Fund typically may oftset with the OTC counterparty certain
dertvative financial instnements” payables and'or receivables with collateral held and'or posted and create one single net payment
(close-cul netting) in the event of default or termination. In the event of & default by an OTC counterparty, the retum of collateral with
kel value @ oexcess of the Sub-Fund's net liabilite, held by the defailting party, may be delaved of denied,

The Siib-Funds ISDA Magter Agreements may contain provisions for early termmation of OTC derivative iransactions in the event
the net assets of the Sub-Fund decline below specific levels ¢ net assel contingent features™). If these levels are trigeered, the Sub-
Fumd's OTC counterparty has the night to termunate such tramsaction and require the Sub-Fund to pay or receive a settlement amount
in connection with the terminated transaction. IFOTC derivatives were held at period end, please refer to netting arrangements by the
OTC counferparty table below for additional details,

Durmg the year ended July 31, 2023, the Sub-Fusid had the following derivatives grouped by dervative type:

Assel Derivadives Liubility Derivaives
Statement of Statement of
Assets anad Aszets and
L imilities Limbilites
Dertvative Type Lication Falr Value Luocation Fair Value
Foreign exchange contracts . . .. .. ... .... Unrealized Unrealized
apprecialion on depredintion on
Torwenrdd Torward
fordgn currency fordgn currency
et ads 5 -0 conltracts 4 {8072
TR ez g 3w i o i Bk 5 =0 5 (B072)
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Realized Change in
Looation aff Gan or Coin o Unrendized
{Loix) on Derivatives Within (Lo} an Appreciation
Derivative Type Statement of Op erations Derivatives (Depreciation)
Forelgn exchange conbracts. . _ . ... . __..... Wet realized gain (loss) on foreden
cuwrrency transact ong Nel change in
unrealized apprecistion (depreciation)
on fofelgn currency denominated assets
el lishilities 5 (1TE.2ET) 5 (58 08
B L s i o A R R R H (1TE.2ET} 5 (55 083}

Durmg the vear ended July 31, 2023, the Sub-Fusd entered into forward foreign currency contracts to manage currency exposure of
the Class AUD versus the U5, 8. The principal amoamt approxmmated the value of the net assets attributable to Class AUD and the
resulis of those contracts are allocated o the Class AU,

For tinancial reporting purposes, the Sub-Fund does not offzet denvative azsets and liabilities that are subject to netting
arvangerments in the datement of assets and liabilities.

Al OTC derivatives held a1 vear end were subject (o netting arrangements, The following tables represent the Sub-Fund's derivative
assets and liabilties by OTC counterparty net of amounts availsble for offset under ISDA Master Agreements (“MA™) and net of the
related collateral received pledged by the Sub-Fused as of July 31, 2023, At July 31, 2023, all derivatives were subject 1o netting
ATANGEMENts,

et Amount of

Dertvative Assels Dherivativis Calkateral Dherivalbies

Counterparty Subfect tns MA Availbie for OfTset el A ot Frceived ALEEs

Brown Ercthers Hamraman & Co 1 Q- ¥ 4 3 o ¥ - 5 -G
Toal 5 0 % - % 4 % I | -
et Amount of

Liabiiies Ireriivatives Caolkteral Deerivatves

Conierpanty Subjectto s MA Avallabie for Oset Nt Amonmit Pledgrd Linbilities
Erown Brothers Harrooan & Co % BEOTZ % 0 % BOTZ & £ % 8,072
Tmal k- BOT2 & 0 % BOTZ % L5 % 8,072

6. Fair Value Measurements

In sccordance with U8, GAAP regarding far value measurements, fir value is defined as the price that the Sub-Fured would receive
to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. U8, GAAP
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and a three-level hierarchy for air value measurements based upon the ransparency
of mputs to the valuation of an asset or liability. Inputs may be observable or unchservable and refer broadly to the assumptions that
mark el participants would use in pricing the asset of liability.

Observable inputs reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricng the asset or lishilite based on market data obtained
froan sources independent of the Sub-Fund, Unobservable inputs reflect the Sub-Fund s own assumptions abeat the assumptions that
mark et participants would use in pricing the asset or liahility based on the best information available in the ciromstances. Each
investment is azzigned a level based upon the observability of te mputs which are significant to the overall valuation,

The three-tier hierarcly of inputs = summarized below:

*  Level | — quoted prices in active markets for identical investments

*  Level 2 — other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar investmenis, interest rates, prepayment
speeds, credit risk, ete.)

=  Level 3 - significant unobservable mputs (including the Sub-Fund’s own assumptions in determining the fair value of
investments)

The fair vahee of debt instnuments, such as bomds, mnd OTC derivatives is generally based on markel price quotations, recenthy
executed market transactions (where observable) or industry recognized modeling techmiques and are generally ¢lassified as Level 2.
Pricing vendor inputs to Level 2 valuations may include quoted prices for smmilar mivestments in active markets, interest mte curves,
coupon rates, curmency rates, vield curves, option adjusted spreads, default rates, credt spreads and other unique security features in
order to estimiate the relevant cash flows which are then discounted to caloulate fair values. If these inputs are unchservable and
significant to the far vahue, these investments will be classified as Level 3,
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Other foced income ivestments, including non-U8. governnent and corporate debt, are generally valued usmg quoted market prices,
if available, which are typically impacted by current interest rates, maturity dates and any perceived credit risk of the ssuer.
Additionally, inthe absence of quoted market prices, these inputs are used by pricing vendors to derive a valeation based upon
industry or proprictary model: which incorporate issuer specific data with relevant vield/spread comparizons with more widely quoted
bonds with similar key characteristics. These investments for which there are cbservable inputs are classified as Level 2. Where the
inguts are not observable, the investments are classified as Level 3,

The followmg table surmarizes the valuation of the Sub-Fund's imvestments following the far value hierarchy levels as of July 31,
2023

Investment s in Securites Level 1 Lewel 2 Level 3 Total
Coapeorales - Non-Invesdmment Grade ... ... ..., H «0- 3 20345968 b 22 ATIN P ID3EEA4T
Corporates - Investment Grade . . 0 o vuvi v =0- 2ATEBGL == 2A7TE Bl
Emerging Markels - Corporate Bonds ... ... ..., = 331568 & 33 428
B o PR L g g e -0 = ok -0-

Short-Term IWeHmenls, . oo v vurns vavennirnns -0- 290,287 - F0,2ST

Tolal Imvedments in Secarilies -0~ 23,446, 454 12550 IIAGE IO

Oiher Finmnclal [nstrumen is*;

Asmels
Forward Fordgn Cwmency Contracta, ... ... ... 0= 0= - <0

Linkilities
Forward Foreign Currency Contracts . .. ... ... -0- (BOTZ) - (BOT2)

olall, v s SN S T s 5 Al 5 2a.48%.580 5 2259 § 21460921

i T Sub-Frnd beld secrrities with zero market vitlie af peviod end

* Cther fircmciol nsrnenis are derivaive iirnnme s, suclias fidvres, forwerds and swaps, whic lvare valued af the wireafized
apprecicion fdepreciction) on the etrament. Ovher financizl instrusmerts ey abee ine hude sweps with igrfrang premins, option
wiilten ciud svegtions writien wigch are velved of marker value,

7. Financial Highlights
The fimancial highlights represent the Sub-Funds fisane izl performance for the vear ended July 31, 2023,

The per share operating performance and ratics are computed based upon the average units outstanding and average net assets,
respectively, for the year ended July 31, 2023,

Unithelder’s performance may vary based on tenmg of Unit transactions and currency management specific o the designated
currency of cach respective Unit Class. Total return is computed based on the change in the net asset value per unit during the period,
incuding reinvestments of distributions. Total investment retsm is based on net asset value of offered currency.
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Year Ended
July 31, 2023
Mot asset value, beginning of
year s $6.32
Incomse Frnm Investmen‘.
Operations
et irvestment income ., , . ., . 0.26
Mot realized and unrealized
less on investavnt and
foreign currency transactions (04T}

et decrease in net asset

value from operations .. ... {0.213
Less: Distributions

Distributions to Unitholders . . . {0.26)
Met asset value, end of year . . §5.85
Total Retum
Total investment return basad

on net asset value in Offered

Currancy . . > 0.73%"
Rwﬂﬁ&]pﬁﬂnmtﬂ Dﬂla
et assets, end of year (D00's

rmitted) $3.835
Ratic to mramg-l nu w:nl.: ul‘

Expenzes . 2.55%

Met lmﬂrﬂaﬂt income, 4 41%

* Total refurm based on reporting curmency i (3 23)%.

Year Ended
July 31, 2023
Met azset value, beginning of
year |, e 5877
Income Frum lnmunm
Operations
et imsestment income . . . .. . 0.37
Met realized and unrealized
lass on investment and
foreign currency transactions {0.18)
Met increase m net asset value
fom operations . .. ..., 0.21

Less: ﬂlﬂnhl.llom
Distributions to Unitholders . . . 10.38)
et azset value, end of year . . S8.60
Total Retum
Total investment return based

on netassetvalue . ... _.. 2.53%
Ratios!Supplemental Data
Mot assets, end of year (000's

omitted) ., .. ........... 518757
Ratio to average net assets of:

Expenses . : e 2.55%

et |mnesh'nmt income. . _ .. 4 44%
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8. Risks Invalved in Investing in the Sub-Fund

Crrrency Risk

Underlying investments of the Sub-Fund may be denominated i one or more currencies different than that in which the Sub-Fund i
demsominated. This means curency movements in such underlying investments may significantly affect the net asset value in respect
of the Sub-Fund"s Units, Investments by the Sub-=Fund that are dencmimated ina particular currency are subject to the rizk that the
vilue of such cumrency will change in relation to one o more other currencies. Among the factors that may affect currency values are
trade balances, the level of short-term interest rates, differences m relative values of similar assets in differest currencies, long-tenm
opportunities for investment and capital appreciation and political developments. The Sub-Fund i not imited in the percentage of its
assets that may be denormninated in currencies other than the 1U.5. 5.

Conntry Risks

The Sub-Fund may invest in securities of issuers located in vanious coumdries and geographic regions, The economies of individual
coumtries may ditfer favorably or unfaverably from each edber in such respects az growth of gross domestic product or gross national
proaduct, rate of inflation, capital reinvestment, resource sell-=ufficiency and balance of payments position. Issuers in general are
subject to vary ng degrees of regulation with respect o such matters = insider trading rules, restnctions on market manipulation,
Unithelder proccy requirements and timely disclosure of information. The reporting, accommting and suditing standards of m=uiens may
differ, in some cases significantly, from country o country = important respects amd less imformation from country to country may be
available to investors in securities or other assets. Nationalization, expropriation or confiscatory tacation, currency blockage, political
changes, govermment regulstion, political or social instability or diplomatic developments could affect adversel the econommy of a
coumtry or the Sub-Fund's investments m such country.  Inthe event of expropriation, nationalization or other confiscation, the Sub-
Fuzud could bose its entire investment in the country involved, In addition, laws in countries goveming business organizations,
bankruptoy and insolvency may provide limited protection to seourity hobders such as the Sub-Fumd.

The Sub-Fund meay trade ils securities in a variety of markets with many different brokers and dealers. The failure of a broker or
dealer inay result in the complete loss of the Sub-Fumd's assets on depesit with sich broker or dealer depending on the regulatony miles
govermning such broker or dealer, In addition, brokerage comanissions in certain ¢oumtres may be higher than m others, and securities
ek el an certain coumntries miy be less liquid, more volatile and less aibject to govermmental agavizsion tan in others

The securities markets of many coundnes are also relatively small, with the majority of market capitalization and trading volume
concentrated moa limited number of companies representmg a small number of ndustries. Consequently, if the Sub-Fund imvested in
equity securities of companies in such countries, the Sub-Fund may experience greater price volatility and significantly lower liguidsty
thean if’ the Sub-Fund invested solely in equity securities of companics in countrics with relatively larger securities markets, These
smaller markets may be subject to greater influence by adverse events generally affecting the market, and by large mvestors trading
sigmificant blocks of securities, Securitics seftlements may in some instances be subject to delayvz and related administrative
uncertainties,

Certain coundries require governmental approval prior to investments by foreign persons or limil myvestment by foreign persons to only
a specificd percentage of an sauer's outstandmg seourities or a specific class of securitics that may have less advantageous temms
{including price) than securities of the company available for purchase by nationals. These restrictions or comtrels may at times limit
ar preclude mvestment in certain securitics and may increase the costs and expenses of the Sub-Fumd. In addition, the repatriation of
investment income, capital, or the proceeds of sales of securities from certain countries is controlled under regulations, including in
some cases the need for certain advance govermment notification or authority. If deterioration occurs m a coumtry's balance of
pavments, the country could impose temporary restrictions on foreign capital remittances. The Sub-Fund also could be adversely
affected by defays in, or a refisal to grant, amy required governmental approval for repatriation, as well as by the application of other
restrictions on investment. Tnvesting in local markets may require the Sub-Fund to adopt special procedures that may involve
additional costs to the Sub-Fund, These factors may affect the liquidity of the Sub-Fund's investients in any country amd the
Investment Manager will meniter the effect of ary such factor or Factors on the Sub-Fund's investments.

Inferesi-Rate Risk

Changes in mterest rates will affect the value of nvestments m fixed-meome securitics. When interest rates rise, the value of existing
investments n fixed-income securities tends to fall and this decrease in value may not be offset by higher moome from new
investments. Inmerest-rate nisk iz generally greater for fixed-income securftics with longer maturitics or durations. The Fund my be
subject to a greater risk of rising interest rates than would normally be the case due to the end of a recent period of higtorically low
rates and the effect of potential central bank monetary policy, and govermanent fiscal policy, initiatives and resulting market reactions
to those initisives,
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Derfvatives Risk

The Sub-Fund may use derivatives, which are fmancial contracts whose value depends on, or is denved from, the value of an
undertying asset, reference rate, or index. The Sub-Manager will sometimes use derivatives as part of a strategy designed to reduce
other risks. Generally, however, the Sub-Fund may use derivatives ag direct investments 1o eam income, hedge aurency exposure,
enfance yield and broaden porifolio diversification. In addition to oller risks such az the credit risk of the coumterparty, derivatives
invelve the rigk of difficulties m pricing and valuation and the risk that changes in the value of the derivative may nol cormelate
perfectly with relevant underlying assets, rates, or indices.

Cross-Class Liabd@ie Risk

The Sub-Furd may enter into currency derivative transactions including forward foreign currency contracts in respect of a particular
Unit Class in order to reduce exposure to the relevant Offered Currency versus the base curency of the Sub-Fund, Although the
Sub-Fund will typically enter into forward foreign cumeey contracts with only these counterparties that agree to limit their recourse
to the particular Unit Class on befiall of which such forwand foreign currency contract was entered, gaven that there is no legal
gegregation of liabilities between the various Unit Classes within the Sub-Fund, there 18 a rizk that, under certain circumnstances,
currency derivative fransactions inrelation to a particular Designated Currency inrespect of a particular Unit Class could result in
liabalsties which might affect the net asset value of the other Unit Classes of the Sub-Fund, i which case assets of the other Unit
Classes of the Sub-Fund may beused to cover the liabilitics mourred by the Unit Class,

LIBOR Replacemeni Risk

The Fund may be exposed to debt securities, derivatives or other financial instruments that recenthy transitioned from the London
Interbank Offered Rate, or “LIBOR.” as a “benchmark™ or “reference rate” for various interest rate caloulations. LIBOR s
administrator, ICE Benchmark Administration, cessed publishimg mest LIBOR seitmpgs (ncludmng some US. LIBOR settings) by the
end of 2021 and the remaining (and most widely used) U5, Dollar LIBOR settings after June 30, 2023, The United Kingdom
Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, will permit the use of synthetic 1.8, Dollar LIBOR rates for non-ULS. contracts
throagh Septembeer 30, 2024, but any such rates would be conzsidersd nen-representative of the underlying market, Since 2008 the
Federal Rezerve Bank of New Yok has publisted the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (referred to as SOFR), which i intended to
replace ULS, Dallar LIBOR. SOFR is a broad measure of the codt of borrowing cash overnight collateralized by LS, Tressury
securities m the repurchase agreemenl (repo) market. There 15 no asairance thal the composition or characteristics of SOFR oF any
such alternative reference rate will be similar to or produce the same value or economic equivalence as LIBOR or that the market for
SOFR-Imked financal instruments will have the same volume or hquidity as did the market for LIBOR-lmked financial instrurments
prior to LIBOR s discontinance or unavailability, Neither the long-tenm effects of the LIBOR transition process nor its ultimate
success can vet be knowi

Markei Risk

Market rizk is the potential for changes in the value of investment positions due to market changez, including inferest and currency
rate movements as well &= fluciuations in the prices of nvestment pesitions. Marked risk is directly impacted by the volatility and
liguidity of the makets in which the underbving foiancial mstrments are traded. The Sub-Fund attempts to manage market risk in
vartous wirys, including through diverafying exposures, placmg limitations on position sizes and hedging m related securities or
dervative financial metnoments. The ability to manage market risk may be constrained by changes in bquidity conditions, relative
prices, volatilities and correlations between investment positions and the instruments used to hedge such investment positions.

Creait Risk
Credst risk 1= the nsk that coumterparties may fail to fulfill their obligations or that the collateral value becomes inadequate. The
Sub-Fund attempts to minimize its credit risk by monitoring the credit exposure with, and the credi worthiness of, counterparties,

Off-Balmce Seet Risk

The Sub-Fund may enter into investrent transactions which may present off-balance sheet risk, Off-balance sheet risk exists when the
nsxinmm potential lesz on a particular investment is greater than the value of such investment, a= reflected in the statement of azsets
and liabilitiez. Off-balance sheet sk generally anses from the use of derivative financial mstruments,

9. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2022, the Fimancial Accounting Standards Board issucd an Accounting Standards Update, ASU 2022-06, “Reference
Rate Reform (Topic 848) — Deferval of the Sunset Date of Topic 8487, ASU 2022-06 &= an amendment to ASU 2020-04, which
provided eptional guidance to ease the potential accounting burden due to the discontinustion of the LIBOR and other interbank-
offered based reference rates and which was effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022, ASLI 202 2-06 extends the
effective period through December 31, 2024, Management 18 currently evalating the impact, if any, of applving ASU 2022-06,
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10. Subsequent Events

Marsagement has evaluated the possibility of subsequent events existing in the Sub-Fund's financial statements up to October 16,
2023, the date the financial statements were available to be issued

From Auwgust 1, 2023 1o October 16, 2023, the Sub-Fund received 115, 516,527 of Unit subscriptions, paid LS. $70.987 of Umt
redanptions and paid distribwtions totaling U8, $264 837

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
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Mizuho AB Trust Series - Mizuho US High Income Bond Fund

PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS

Suby 31, 2023
Principal
Amount
{00} US. § Value

CORPORATES - NONANVESTMENT GRADE = B5.3%
Industrial - 77, 7%
Basic = 4.1%
Agtonic Com

B 00%, 05/1572025 uss$ 3z 324848

6.125%, 0H 152028 12 13,343
Arsenal AIC Farenl LLC

BO0%, 10001/2030 26 26,520
ASP Unitran. Holdings, inc

5.25%, 03028 B3 51,206

T 509, D3V2029 16 9,305
Cleneland-Clilfs, Inc

6 T5%, 03152026 6 6,038
C"-":F' Pastrers LP/CVR Miliogén Finance

o

B.125%, (8152028 34 30773
Elemant Saluions, inc

3 ETE G, (0 20328 40 35,350
FMG Résoutced (Auguat 2005) Py Lid

4 375%, 040012031 92 79120

B.125%, 041152032 e 715,876
Graham Fackaging Co , Inc.

T 125%, ORMS028 18 15,775
Graphec Packaging Intemational LLE

3.50%, (3152028 10 8999
Inbsigent Packegng Holdoo Bsuer LP

0 00%, 0M/15/2026 9 ] 10,558
Intehgent Packagng Lid Finco,

Inc finketigent Packaging Ltd. Co-lssuer

LLC

B 00%, DAMS2028 16 14158
Kobe US Midco 2, Inc

9 5%, 110172026 @ 74 51,845
Magnataton LLEMag Finance Comp.

11.00%, D515/2018 MW@ 670 0
Qiin Comp

5.625%, OEO12028 47 45,507
Qilympus Water LIS Hodding Corp

8 75%, NSFH028 200 193,455
Roller Baanng Co. of Amenca, nc

4 375%, 1052020 ? 4457
Sealed A Corp

B BTS%, 07152033 43 44 850
Sealed Ar Corp/Seakad Ar Corp. US

B.125%, 02012028 26 5926
Vibrantz Technologias, inc

B00%, 02152030 13 147710
WhR Grace Holdngs LLC

4 B75%, 0EMSA02T 19 17,954

ST

Caplital Goods - 6.37%
Ardagn Packaging Finance PLC/\Ardagh

Heldings USA, Inc

4 135%, 08152028 200 187,368
Ball Cop

1125%, CRI52031 100 82269

135/343

EDINETOOOO
O0O00000000000000gnoOond(eocs241)
OooOooooOoooooooooboood



EDINETOOOO
O0O00000000000000gnoOond(eocs241)
Oooooooooooobooooooad

PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
(D00} U.S. § Value

Bombandear, ing

G009, D2 S2028 uss a3 § 83,715

T 50%, D012 1 16,857

TETS%, 452027 42 41,503
Calderys Fmancing LLC

11.25%, 08012028 T 74074
Chast hdustngs, kg

T 5%, 01012030 20 20,520
Clean Harbors, inc.

B.375%, 02012051 it 3841
Crown Ammericas LLC

& 25%, B0/ 2030 rd 20,840
Ecd Matenal Tachnobogees., ine

T.875%, 015312027 ] 85642
Emerald Debt Manger Sub LLC

B.625%, TH15/2080 2 JB.8E3
EnmarSys

4 3T5%, 1252027 105 a8.347
Erwvin

5 T5%, OF/31a02T T4 63,820
Gatet Global LLCGates Com

B.25%, 01152026 28 27.651
GFL Erwirommigntal, Ing

3 5080, D0NE02E 3 2871
Hinwmied Aarospace, ind

£ G, D0 1202T 1 6,050
L5E Irdusties. inc

6.25%, 10152028 G 63420
Madrson LAQ LLC

EATS%, 302020 a1 721000
Ragal Rexndnd Comp

B %, 02152030 10 a.850

BA0%, B0 12 11,054
Hancycha, Inc.

1 ETS%, 011152029 20 1T BTT
TranszDigm, Inc

4 ETS%, 05012029 145 131,410

B 25%, 03M 52026 i 133,371
Trinity Industnes, inc.

T TE%, OT/S2028 3 38,78
Truairiph Growp, Irs

T.T5%, 08152025 ] 32,004

§.00%, OR1S2028 8 80,13
WESCO Deginibution, ine

T.255%, DB1S/2028 16 16,336

1434, 143

Communications - Media - 10U0%
Advantage Sales & Marketing, Inc

B.50%, 11152028 55 48273
Altice Financing 54,

& .00%, §/1S2028 e 14 220,377
AMEC Mabworks, Inc.

§ 25%, 025029 e 68 1590
Sychas Baryer, Inc

B.125%, 12012028 9 33601
CC0 Holdings LLEACES Holdngs Capdal Corp.

4. 509, GAr152030 132 111,666
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
o] U.S. § Value

4 S0%, D003 Us$ d6e 3 AT 1405

5.125%, 0501 f02T B& 63,704
Clear Channal Outdoor Holdngs, Inc

525%, 052027 g 34,908
CSC Holdengs LLC

A AT5%, 0152081 18 219,560

4.625%, 12012030 a7 149815
DarecTy Fingncing LLCTeec TV Financng

Co-Oblgor, in:

5875%, 08152027 (L¥4 1238179
DI5H 0BS Com.

5 25%, 1200026 (e 14,777

9.755%, 120028 145 111878

T.75%, OTAH026 % 18,411
Geray Excrow 11, inc

5.375%, 1111572051 16 11.050
IHeartCommurications, ind

£ 255, 0aN5H02T 13 10,235

G AT5%, 05012020 S0 45 2TR

B .3T5%, 05012027 &6 58,801
Lamar Maedia Corp.

4 875%, 01152025 & 5817
MeGraw-Hill E ducaban, InG

5.75%, 0a01a02E & TH 142
Gt.cth‘nﬂl Meda Captal LLC!Outfrord Media Cagital

o

4 G25%, 0152030 10 8361

5.00%, 08M 52T 10 8.207
Radate Holdoo LLCRadiala Finance, Inc

4 500, 015026 a1 65,801
Serpps Esaiow I, Ind

3 B75%, 01152029 4 3,325
Sarclair Tolevision Group, Ind

4.125%, 13012050 51 33080
Sinug XM Rad, In:

3 ETE%, A1 2031 T4 57.934

4 0%, OTHSH028 (LE 124 449

5 00%, 00 W202T L3 5575
Univision Communications, inc

£ 125%, 0250025 B 1875

T AT5%, 08302030 a Ba814
Urban One, Inc

TAT5%, QMO0 L7 45,947

2,250,033

Communications - Telecommunications = 2.6%
Aldlice Frandce SAFrance

5.12%%, 0TMSr2029 200 400020
Cornaect Finco SARLConmact LS Fincoe

LLE

6.755%, 100026 200 191,438
Consolvdated Communications, inc

& .50%, 1001028 & S14T
Embarg Conp

T.005%, 0601204 40 22,664
Frontiee Communicaliong Holdings LLC

6. 1580, 0RA0A02A ki ] 23201
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Principal
Amount
{000} US. § Valus
Hughes. Satellite Systems Comp
B E25%,, OB 2035 uss 52 460995
Level 3 Fmancing, Inc
3.75%, OTHS 29 (RS} 72823
& 250, OT0Hr028 & & 246
4 f25%, CW15/2027 o 6.537
Taldzom Ralia Capxtal S8,
T.721%, G0 r20348 12 107,243
et
Consumer Cyclical - Autom otive — B.6%
Allison Transmission, nc
5.875%, DT /2029 s 33969
Amencan Aule & Manufactunng, inc
6 25%, 0315026 1" 10,734
B S0%, 0A0F02T T 10174
Clangs Gabal LPACIam0s US Foance Co
6255, 051526 24 235958
Dl Tong LLCADT Issaser LLC
B.00%, 020028 T6 10,233
Fard Moior Co
4 5%, 01152043 43 33651
B.10%, DRMA032 368 356,093
Ford Motor Credit Co. LLE
4.00%, A0 ] 190,249
Goodyear Tare & Rubber Co. {Tha)
B 25%, 0T/ 1572031 i) TS
Jaguar Land Rover Automotve PLC
5 ETE%, 01152028 57 239 43T
Missan Mobor Acceptance Co. LLC
1.85%, DO 18/Z026 ¥ 185
2.75%, 03026 =] 84,300
P G eneral Purchasaer LLC
950%, 100H02E 106 104,008
R Hero Morgar Sub 2, Inc
G 25%, 0201029 i 47,025
Titen nlemational, ne
T 00%, S3VR02E azr 88623
ZF North America Capetal, Inc
T.125%, 04/ 472030 150 154 318
1545413
Consumer Cyclical - Entertainment = 5.2%
Carmival Corp
4 00%, dandraids k- 33783
5.75%, 03002T 4 147 809
9.8T5%, 0RO 2027 kR 45512
10.50%, 0H01.2026 81 64,377
Cedar Far LP
5.25%, 0715029 a7 24 204
Cadar Fair LPACanada™s YWenderdand
CoMdagnum Managsment
Corp Millennium Op
5 509, 0502025 el TE.ME
Cinemark USA, inc
5:25%, OTHSN02E A6 40418
Lingtilad Expedbons LLC
B.T5%, 0M1SI302T 34 32872
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EDINETOOOO
O0O00000000000000gnoOond(eocs241)
Oooooooooooobooooooad

Principal
Amount
{000} US. § Valus

MCL Corp., Lid

3250, 12150024 uss 108 103,692

£ 875%, QANS2026 1] 56820
Rayal Catbbiesn Cruises Lid

5 375%, 0752027 63 50,900

5.50%, 03126 58 55,654

5 5009, D4A0N202E 127 19705

72559, 0155030 k- 3445

11.50%, 06012025 a4 45 535
SeaWorld Parks & Enteflanment, ing

&.75%, 0501025 ar 37873
Six Flags Enfertainment Comp:

T.255%, 0501570031 32 30599
Vilang Cruises Lid

5 BT5%, 0852027 a3 H6.905
Vilang Qcean Cruises Shap VIl Lid

5 B350, 03152029 35 32543
VOIS Escrow Lid.

5.00%, 02152028 52 48332

1,230,415

Consumer Cyclical - Other = T, 6%
Adarns Homes, Inc

T.50%, 05025 =5 #2538
Bhrirpor Homes LISA, ing

T.25%, 101572029 N 20,656
Brookbeld Residental Propertias, Inc Brookfiald

Residential U5 LLC

4 BTS%, 0252030 by 18.745

G.25%, tarSa02T Bt 05,765
Buslders FirstSource, Inc

B.375%, DB/1SR032 a1 60,803
Cassars Entertainment. inc

6 25%, 0TS T3 12532

T.00%, 0252030 i 30,300
CP Aftas Buyer, Inc.

7 00%, 120472028 bz} 19078
Even Holdings; nc.

E00%, OTNSH029 20 17,711
Frver Poind Cparating Co. LPIFive Poind

Capital Com

T.B75%, 11/15/2025 110 104, 765
Fareslar Group, inc

3.5, 0SS H2E 15 13847
Hiton Dromestic Operating Co, Ing

3 625%, 0252042 R ] 99,750

5.375%, 05012025 4 31969

5 75%, 0801026 3 295
Hilton Grand Vacations Bormower Esdrow

LLC#H%an Grand Vacabions Bomower Esc

4 5T5%, 070172051 0 42661

5.00%, 08012020 et 1 ABE
Irrst affod Bualding Producs, ine

5 T5%, 020112028 B 5,593
Las Vegas Sands Comp

3 .50%, DRMEI026 3 4 877
Mattamy Group Comp.

4 525%, Q3012030 115 100, %44
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Principal
Amaunt
(000} U.S. § Value
MO Hobdings, e,
G005, 0115 uss Lirs 153,004
MG Resors Intesnational
4. 75%, W08 B3 T8.547
5. T5%, 06/15/2025 4 3,851
Premier Entertainment Sub LLCPramier
Entertainment Finance Comp.
£ 525%, o020 2 1524
Resorts World Las Vegas LLORWLY
Capital, Inc
4 BI5%, 4182028 200 165 751
Bugarhouse HSP Gaming Prop Mezz
I&F'.Gugm-a HSF Gaming Finance
e
5 BT5%, 051572025 a0 38546
Taylor Momson Communitias, Inc
5. 759, 011572028 1z 11,885
Taylor Mommson Communities, Inci/Tavor
Merrison Holdngs 1, s
5 E25%, 03012024 k" 33m7
Travel = L éasura Co
4 504, 120172029 G 33810
4 525%, 03030 a9 8500
G.625%, 0T 1005 L 57.733
Victors Merger Corp
6.375%, 0552020 4% 20,140
Wyndham Hotels & Resorts, Inc
4 375%, OBM5R026 o 22125
Wiynin Las Viegas LLCATn Las Viegas
Capital Cop
5 255%, 0515527 xS M95TE
Wynn Resors Finance LLCAWnn Resons
Capital Cop
5 125%, 10012028 1% 11,08
1,781,850
Consumer Cyclical - Restaurants - 0.8%
1011778 BC ULCHlaw Red France, Inc
A50%, 0ANSH029 24 215509
A ETEY, 01152028 k] a.TTe
400%, 1015030 75 64341
£ 7550, MM 53025 67 66,656
IRE Holding Corp
7005, 061572025 [ B8.029
197,313
Consumer Cyclical - Retallers - 4.6%
Arkn Coag
5.125%, 11152020 o 71566
Asbury Automaolivee Group, Ing
4 525%, 111152020 A 42563
5 .00%, 0215032 23 19,150
Bath & Body Works, Inc
B.75%, OTON2036 47 38197
6.8T5%, 11012055 10 HITE
B.85%, 00012035 47 38030
T.B0%, OTNS203T L1 5,352
0.375%, 07012025 4 431
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
(D00} U.S. § Value

BCFE Uhystes intermedate, InG

7 758, (40172027 ¥ TE-Y 3 19 17,993
Bieacon Fookng Supply, Inc.

. 50%, De01/Z030 1% 13.082
Carvana Co

5.50%, D4 5F202T br '3 16,122

B ETSG, 10001 2028 4 38814
FirstCash, inc

5 625%, 01012050 1% 17.545
Foundaticn Buldng Matenals, Inc

600, S0 029 a5 30,380
Group 1 Automolive, Inc

4 00%, SO HI025 4 3827
Kontoor Brands, In:

4 135%, 11152029 B0 51,620
LEM Accuasition LLC

§.25%, 0NSH029 4 20578
LCM Irreirgdménts Haldngs i LLC

B 25%, GR01/2031 14 14,328
Lawi Strinsss & Co

3 50%, DRO031 A4 36220
Macy's Retail Haldings LLC

5.875%, 0N 152050 3 29,788

B.1.25%, 03115/2032 28 25092
Michasts Cos , Inc (Thae)

5 25%, 05012028 2 18,700

T B75%, 05012029 T 51,315
NMG Holding Co, Inc deiman Marcus

Group LLC

T 125%, 0401 /2028 it 38385
Fanska Automotive Group, Inc

1.75%, 06152029 o) 25958
Somic Automotea, N

& G25%, 111572020 55 47124

4 BTE%, 11152051 2 17458
Spcially Bulding Produds Hotdings

LLE/SER Finance Conp

B 375%, (302006 17 16,235
SRE Distnbution, b

B 125%, 0T F2029 20 17608
Slaples, inc

T.50%, D152026 140 115374

10.75%, 047152027 48 AT 45D
TPro Acquisition Cop

11.00%, 10152024 50 49,821
White Cap Buyer LLC

BETE%, M152028 20 18076
William Carter Co, [The)

5 B350, 0315027 A3 3915
Wiotvenne Vord Wide, Ino

4 00%, 0SMS2029 54 47204

1,067673

Consumer Mon-Cyclical = 8.9%
AdnplFeanh LLC

£ 135%, OW012030 17 14,428
AHP Hiith Parinen, inc

5 T5%, OTMS2029 11 9574
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amaunt
(000} U.S. § Value

Albartsons Cod ., InGoS aleway, Inc Mew

Alpertsons LPADedsons LLC

3.50%, 0315020 uEs &0 43513

4 B25%, 01152027 (hE] 11843
Bausch Health Amencas, inc

£ S50%, 01A3T2T 43 24518
Bautch Health Cos |

6 255, 02520 ] 41,308
CDAR Smokey Buyer, Inc

B.73%, 0TS N5 134 12,308
Charles River Laboratcnies intemabonal, Ine

1755, 0aM5029 48 42450

4 00%, 03153031 47 40,959
CHEMommunty Health Systems, inc

4.T5%, 021150031 38 28,806

5.625%, QW152027 113 100,774

B.ETS%, 04012028 28 17.500

BETS G, 080152020 ™ 47047

B.00%, 0815026 20 19.548
CraVita, b

1.75%, 02M5H031 o] 55,145

4 625%, 0801 2030 12 104,301
Edancy Aremal Haakh, ind

5 65%, 08260025 51 50,354
Embécla Comp

5.00%, 02152030 106 87465
Emengent BioSclulions . Inc.

38T5%, 0BMS2026 106 57685
Fartris Holdings, Inc

T.50%, OTAOVA20 24 24543
Garden Spince Corp

B625%, 0Tra02030 52 56,348
Krones Acquistion Holdings, Inc kK

Custom Froducts, inc

T.00%, 12F1N2T ™ 89516
Legacy LidePont Health LLC

4 375%, 0252027 14 12,079
Medine Bormywer LP

1 BT5%, M1 202 114 99,893

5 255, 100017020 174 154 501
MNewipl Brands_ ine.

4.T0%, G0 VH02E ) 3239

GATS %, CRNS202T B T.862
Perforrmance Food Group, Inc.

4 25%, DR012029 n 26,604
Filgnm's Pride Comp

3.50%, pR0NE2 ar 74325

5 675%, 082072027 1% 18,772
Prima Waber Holdings. Inc

4 3750, (47302029 42 38875
RegonaiCane Hospial Fatners Hobdings,

Inc./LideF cint Health, Inc

9.75%, 1201 X26 Fors] 214,650
Spacium Brands, nc

1 BTS%, OAMS2051 E& 58121
Tens Healhcers Comp

B.125%, 100012024 nE 138,417

6.125%, 06152050 23 22364

B 25%, DA0V02T 13 12,753
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amaunt
(000} US. § Value

Trtan Wealer Holdngs, ing

6 25%, 0400172029 uss 20 § 17,002
US Acute Care Solutions LLE

BATS%, QROL2026 & 92857
US Renai Care, Inc

10.625%, 0T S2027 &7 450

207 473

Energy - 8.2%
Apache Conp

4 25%, 0MS2020 24 21,797
Berry Patroleumn Co. LLC

T.00%, 021552026 B3 G0.024
Etue Racar Midstream LLC/Biue Racer

Financa Conp

TE25%, 1252025 ar 87619
Callon Fetrodeum Co

B 255, OTMSrA025 43 43,000
Chanisny Endrgy Pariners LP

4 .50%, 10012029 33 30883
Citgo Holdng, Inc.

B 25%, DR012024 1| 20,950
CITGD Petmléum Coag

G AT5%, GRMS2026 &7 65412
Civitirs Rebourcas, ing

5 00%, 10152026 0 47174

BAT5%, 07012028 2 32.m8

B.75%, 07031 i ] ER I
CHM Résounces Cop

G.00%, MAS2028 13 12,962
Crescert Energy Fmance LLC

T.25%, DS0VIZE BE A4, 9090
Encino Acqurstion Pardners Holdings LLC

B.50%, 050VH02E ] 81,760
EnLink Mads tream LLC

5.625%, 01152028 7 6,045
EnLink Mads tream Partners LF

4 B5%, 0T S2026 103 100,050

£ B0, (4013044 16 13,233
EQM Mugsiream Partners LP

4 50%, (A52029 5B 52983

4 T5%, M52031 8 49,957

£ 50%, OT/1550028 i 37,587
Ggusis Enengy LPAGenesis Energy Finance

P

6 255, 051570026 k4 1918

B.50%, 10012025 4 3964

T.75%, 02028 55 53,354

B.00%, MASNIT 25 24 580
Flobhal Partners LP/GLF Finance Comp

G.8T5%, 011520208 m 66537

T00%, G0 1ra0eT 41 40132
Hilgorp Endrgy | LPMiloorp Finance Co

5 T5%, 02013029 T 6457

6009, 020103 12 10,830
Hiowiand hudstraam Energy Partnems LLC

B.8T5%, 0TM52028 18 18,385
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Principal
Amount
(000} US. § value
ITT Holdengs LLC
6 .50%, 0an1r02a 125 107 8652
Muoss Creak Resources Holdngs, Inc
10.50%,, 0152027 5% 33004
Mabors Industnas Lid
T 25%, 01152026 a7 35590
7.50%, MNS2028 a1 48 708
MNew Fortress Ensrgy, inc:
6.75%, (5025 14 108,483
MNGL Energy Operaing LLCMNGL Enengy
Financa Comp
T 505, 0201026 52 51515
MNuStar Logstics LP
G.3TS%, 10001 2030 1 6,752
Qecidental Petrobeumn Comp
5 S0%, 120172025 4l 39841
B 209, 0RM 52040 T 70857
BETS%, 071152030 45 52180
FDC Eningy, Ing
5.75%, 05/1570026 4 54 360
Southrwestern Energy Co
E.A75%, O 02 L] 5669
BATSS, OB152028 5 5,004
Surmmit Midstream Hokdings LL-CSummit
Midgtraam Finance Comp
9.00%, 101552026 T2 70876
Sunoco UPSunoco Finance Comp
5.00%, (SH2T 3 24872
Tallgrass Enemy Pariners LPIT alorass Eneray
Finance Comp
B 00%, 123172030 1 8234
B.00%, 00031 4 3,503
Transocean Pessidon Lid
G.ETS5%, 02012027 26 25,88
Venburs Global Calzasieu Pasd LLC
A4 1269, GBS0 53 A4 968
Vanbure Global LNG_ Inc
B.125%, D6012028 0 30a0E
BATS%, 8012051 ko) 30248
1,040,277
Other Industrial - 0.3%
Amencan Bullders & Contractors Supply
o, Ing
4 00%, MASR0RE 5 4582
Ribtchie Bros Holdngs, inc.
B.75%, 03115028 i} 33447
T.75%, 0815031 M 25004
83123
Services = 5.1%
AOT Secunty Corp. [The)
4 BTS%, OTMSAA0%2 B 32855
Albed Uined ersal Hoddoo LLCHAlLed Lireearsal
Finance Com
B.B25%, OTM32024 29 27,737
4 75%, OTNSHET 159 145878
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amaunt
(000} US. § Value

ANG] Group LLC

3 8T5%, CaM52028 uss 74 § 62,204
AP Group, Inc

5.75%, OTHS 029 B 35547
Aremark Seraces, Inc

5.00%, 0A01H028 66 62372
Bdoek, Ine

2 155, (RAOrA2E a7 7563

3 50%, 081 =i ] 15,306
Garda Word Securty Com

4 B25%, 0252027 a5 32325

B 00%, 0B0A02E 2 18151

9.50%, 1AOV2T b ] 22508
Grartnoar, Inc

4 50%, OTAH2E 18 16,836
Millérrium Escrow Com

B.6250%h, 0RMO1.2026 55 41,778
MPH Aoquishion Holdengs LLC

5.50%, 09012028 T3 G3.631

5 T5%, 1/00a02E 168 128645
Naptune Bidoo LIS, Inc

9. 20%, 015029 o 91,068
P Sacunty Senioes Borrowar LLC/FIme

Financa, inc.

5.25%, 04S152024 G 5939

£ 155, (41572026 A0 38,328

B 25%, 01152028 123 125403
Service Comp. InbemationalUs

2. 375%, OEM52030 15 12,507
DipRecnuter, Inc

5 00%, 011552020 57 48874

1,189,304

Technolegy = 3.9%
Arwad DB Holdngs LLT

GUE25%, 05012028 50 43,067
AfhenaHealth Groug, Inc

E.50%, 0252030 BB 72009
Bower Fament Co, Inc.

T.125%, 1002025 10 10,100
COW LLCACDW Finance Corp

32506, 021553029 a1 79,308
CommScope, Inc

B 25%, 03027 KT 28050
Elastic MY

4 125%, 0TN5R028 1" 9,530
Enbagris Escrw Corp

5.95%, 08/ 192030 (= 63,260
Gen Cogital, Inc

B.75%, DS 02T dE 46,158

T.125%, CA20/2030 46 46,335
GoTo Group, Inc

5.50% ¢ 12027 T 43827
Imioda Margar Corp

4.75%, 05115020 48 40,384
MNCR Coep

5 125%, 04152020 40 35,7496

5. 75%, 002027 3 3021
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Principal
Amount
(000} US. § value
Flaytika Holdng Comp.
4 255, 0aMSaA02a uss 17 15,001
Precudio Holdings, Inc
A BTS%, 0202027 9 83507
£ 259, OM0028 a4 91,193
Rackspace Technalogy Global, Inc
3 50%, 0252028 158 TOTET
Seagate HOD Cayman
5.25%, 12152028 45 47533
£.50%, OTHS 31 48 45 167
Wentas LS, inc AVenles Barmuda Lid
T.50%, 0a0H025 o T8.755
Vinuga Com
T125%, 1252028 a6 38641
19,707
Transportation = Airlines - 1.9%
ArCanada
3 B75%, 0852028 e 22302
Allegiant Travel Co
T 25%, GeMS202T o} 38,585
Amencan Apines, Inc fbagdvantage Loyally IF Lid
5 S0%, (4200026 B3 52.322
£ T5%, (4 Mg 154 153,708
Hawaepn Brand indollectusl Propedy
Ltd fHawaianhiles Loyalty Lid
5.75%, 01/ V026 T8 73,503
Spirt Loyally Cayman Lid fSpirt P
Cayman Ltd
500%, (2025 0 S0, 530
Urited Aarfines, In¢
A4 B25%, 0452028 55 A9 BED
450 505
Transportation - Services - 1.6%
AenCap Giobal Svtation Trust
G 50%, 0615045 120 24403
Hartz Cofp | Tih]
4 B25%, 12012026 47 42454
£ 00%, 12015020 45 At
FROG Hildings, Inc
B 00%, 11152029 <] 58,004
82 06T
18,330 673
Finameial Institutions — 8.0%
Banking = 1.1%
My Financaal, Ine
G T0%, D2HAS03S N 28,808
Bread Financial Holdngs, in:
T.00%, 01152026 5 33,885
Intesa Sanpaody SpA
5. T1%, §1VH026 i 192 857
2556540
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amaunt
(000} U.S. § Value
Brokerage - 0.8%
Advisor Group Holdngs, Inc
10 75%, QR0 2027 uss 4 £5.341
Al beguer LLC
£.25%, 0012028 14 13517
A5 TTMT Escrow Issuer LLC
B.B25%h, 0Qra0027 45 48412
Hightower Holding LLC
5.75%, B 152029 4 3,506
MNFP Corp
4 ET5%, ORMS2028 14 12,860
B.ETS%, 0RM52028 2 20,382
T.50%, 10013030 4 33.381
185,208
Finance - 2.9%
Cagtelake Aviaton Financs DaC
5 0%, 415027 ar 80,265
CHG Holdings, Inc
12.50%, 061572024 40 33,877
Compass Group Drversafied Hofdings LLC
5 25%, 041552029 To 63715
Curo Growp Holdings Comp
T.50%, (8012028 106 40,585
Enava intemabonal, Inc.
B.50%, D124 15 14,902
£ 509, 00152025 i73 170,550
GGAM Fnance Lid.
T.75%, 08M5026 M4 24 M7
E.00%, 08115028 i3 35651
goaasy Lid
EATS%, 12012024 12 11,6488
MNawvignt Conp
6.125%, QM5 024 55 54,548
6.75%, 0B/1SH026 40 39,008
7 255%, 0252023 8 28011
OneMain Finence Comp
5.875%, Q352025 4 47811
SLM Comp
3125%, 10202 12 10,555
Symchromy Financal
T 25%, 020X H033 41 38350
£93.890
Insurance - 0.8%
Acrisurg LLC/Acnsure Finance, Inc
10, 125%, (20102038 Af 40403
AssuredPadners, Inc
5.625%, 011152029 24 20,901
7005, 08155025 12 11,864
HUE Irdemabonal Lid
T 00%, 05012026 5 4,990
T.25%, 08/ 1542030 a9z 93,854
Litsarty Mutual Group, Inc
T 60%, D3NS 203T 18 18,8259
199,773
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

EDINETOOOO
O0O00000000000000gnoOond(eocs241)
OooOooooOoooooooooboood

Principal
Amaunt
(000} U.S. § Value
DOther Finance — 0.8%
Armior Holdoa, Inc
&.50%, NASA02a uss (RE:] $ 101,072
Cionbage Global, Ing
3.375%, V0172028 3k 22411
A E25%, 1012051 58 38516
CURO SPVLLC
18.00%, OR022027 23 22478
182478
REITs —1.8%
Brookbeld Property REM_ Inc /FBPR Cumulus
LLCEPR Mimbus LLCAGGS] Seles LL
4 B0, 4012027 3 47675
5. 75%, 05/15/2026 rrd 20,830
o Mountain, Inc
&4 BT5%, DW15/2028 4E 43320
MPT Cperating Partnemship LEAMPT
Fingrce Corp
5.00%, 105152027 41 35,956
Qrffce Properties Income Trust
1455 10015031 48 15315
WIC] Propaitaes LPAVECT Mate Ca, Ing
£ E25%, R0 2024 (] 18424
5.75%, 020V I02T iz 34543
475,863
1842548
Liility = 0,65%
Electric - 0.4%
Calpine Conp
5.25%, 0601026 [ 5024
MR Erergy. Inc
3 B75%, 0RM52032 %3 48,730
6 BI5%, 01152027 4 23815
istra Gperations Co. LLC
§ T5%, 0502028 T g, 180
94,540
Hatural Gas - 0.0%
AmaenGas Partners LPMmeaniGas Finance Comp
5.75%, O5r20r02T 4 3853
5.ETE%, OB02026 4 3.768
7421
Other Ltility — 0.2%
Solans Medstream Holdings LLC
T E25%, 04/ 2026 4 53,058
144 825
Teotal Corporates - Mon-Irvestment Grade
[cost $23.314, 733) 20358 847
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
(000} US. § value
CORPORATES - INVESTMENT GRADE - 10.1%
Industrial - 7.3%
Basic - 0.6%
Arciboriittal S8,
T.00%, 101572039 Us$ o 101,318
Celaness US Holdngs LLC
£.055%, 035025 29 28974
Glancon Funding LLC
£ T0%:, 0508033 48 47,656
177948
Communications - Media = 1.9%
Cone Cofmmuricadions, ng
5.70%, 08M5035 13 15061
Discovery Commurscabons LLC
4 125%, O5M52020 7 64312
Metfix, Inc
5 BT5%, 1115720248 EL 4 G280
Warnerneda Holdngs . Inc
1 T55%, QANMS02T 20 27,147
A 270%, 0352037 40 35,844
447013
Communications - Telecommunications = 0.2%
Sprint Caplal Comp
B 75%, 0AM1SH32 k] 45,802
Consumer Cyclical - Autom otive — 0.9%
General Motors Financial Co , Inc.
& 5%, 40030 B3 62938
B.40%, 00%H032 s 45.242
Harley-Dievidson Financial Sarvices, Inc
5.50%, 0AMOVA2E G 100,037
8,215
Consumer Cyelieal - Other - 0.3%
Todl Brothers Finarnce Comp
4 BT5%, 0352027 T8 78158
Consumer Mon-Cyclical - 0.3%
BAT Captal Comp
B.421%, 0BA2 N33 2 29,000
T T5%, 10182032 33 38478
G5.478
Energy = 1.6%
Cenovus Ensrgy, Inc
540%, DB5HT T 70838
Carfirental Retourdais, Ins 0K
A4 G009, 08012044 17 13,458
5.75%, MH531 12 30958
DCP Midsiream Qperatng LP
5.125%, 0552028 47 45,242
Ovinkry, Inc
5 B65%, 05/1552028 22 21870
6. 25%, 0T/ 152033 & 38,358
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)
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Principal
Amaunt
(000} U.S. § Value
Wisberm Midstream Operating LE
4_20%, D201H030 uss 54 49,083
4 50%, 0araide 12 11418
4 B5%, OTIVI026 45 43,707
4 T5%, 08152028 12 11,506
5.45%, (MA01r44 3 20115
157 550
Other Industrial - 0.236
LKG Comp
5.75%, 06152028 a1 3naT
6.25%, 0BS5S a7 21477
57,004
Technolagy — 0.2%
HP, Ing
5.50%, MA1S033 4E 47,341
Transportation - Alrlines = 1.0%
Dratta Aur Lines, Inc Shkydtes 1P Lid.
4 5%, WVAVI02E E6 63,904
Milsage Pius Holdings LLCMisage Plus
Intelleciual Properdy Assets Lid
B.50%, 06/20v302T 1] 168176
231085
1,715,582
Financial InstRutions = 2.7%
Banking = 1,1%
My Financial, Inc
B.00%, 110102 10 20,128
Capital Omé Financusl Conp
G.312%, OB0E 2020 <1 35130
Cascover Financial Senaces
B TO%, 117297032 20 29.70%
Santander Holdngs USA, InG
6.499%, ON0R202 0 70, 2aa
G 585%, 06M22020 35 34,928
Trust Financial Corpe
1.95%, 0RA0SZ030 B 5378
5 122%, QW20 40 38047
Us Bancorp
4 830%, 0201204 %5 23,500
58,324
Broherage — 0.0%
LPL Hoksings, Inc:
o DD%, 0311552029 10 8 965
Finance — 1.4%
Adrcastle Lid
2 5%, 02028 i 1,734
5.25%, a1 1025 iTs 170,251
Syiation Capital Group LLC
1.95%, 013026 3 26593
3.50%, VOvNaT b Y 20734
4 125%, GBM1A025 17 16,143
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amount
(000} LS. § Value
& 3T5%, 01/302024 Us$ 73 3 61124
& ETEG, 100012025 L] 5174
£ 0%, 125024 5O 58,657
AET AN
Insursnce = 0.2%
Prudental Financia, Inc
£ 0%, 03152044 a 35,558
B4, 264
Lrility —0.1%
Electric = 0.1%
MRG Energy, Inc
T 00%, 03152033 rrd 22.m5
Tolal Corporales - irsesiment Grade
[ooet §2 444 3T5) 2AT8. 861
EMERGING MARKETS - CORPORATE BOMNDS = 1.4%
Industrial - 1.2%
Bagic - 1.7%
Eldarada Gold Corp
B 25%, SAA01FH024 ] T4 4a8
Firsh Cusardum Mirgras Lid
BETS%, 100152027 05 200,515
Za0,503
Consumer ManCyelical - 00%
Tonon Lusemboung 54
6 50%, 1M31/202e R0 71 &
‘irgoling de Ofveira Finance 54,
10.50%, 0172872018 W00 00 B
5]
0571
Uity = 0.2%
Electric - 0.2%
Terratorm &lobal Cperatng LP
B.125%, 020012026 5% 50,857
Total Emerging Markels - Corporate Bonds
[cost §1,093.721) 231428
Shares
COMMON STOCKS - 0.0%
Energy - 0.0%
Energy Equipment & Services = 0.0%
BIS Indusines Holdngs Lid 9

(et $11 96T) 124 651 L]
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PORTFOLIO OF INVESTMENTS (continued)

Principal
Amaunt
(000} US. § value
SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS - 1.T%:
Time Deposits - 1.7%
ANEZ, Hong Fong
2 B2%, 0SA0NF2025 ALID 1 49
Surniteane, Tokya
4 68%, (a2 uss -] 135 908
Total Short-Term imvestments
[cesd $350.257T) 390 357
Total Investments - 55.5%
[cosk $27,155,053) 23468993
itk a5nRls (e abdived - 0.5% 122877
Het Assets = 100.0% 23,831,870

]

(&
fc!
{d)
fe)

Pay-ln=FKing Payments (PIK) Thi Ssuer may pay cash mdivds! andior mberesd v
Rales

addionsl dall secuiies
Defacing malued scoundy
Rashched 00 o Secuily,
Eair valved by e Athvisar
Defawed

Curmacy Abbmwnstons
AUD = Aurstrabian Dollar

Giassary
REIT = Roal Extats Mavestmwwal Trus!

Sed roked B lnants! shalemenis

shown ane the rafas o affect af Jwy 31, 2023,
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28,169,772
4,766,845 )

358
496,595
70,303
24,042

4,142,928

53
73,034
10,339

3,536

28,761,070

4,229,891

396,678
154,236
108,145
76,721
20,292
14,337
725

242
47,868

58,339
22,683
15,905
11,283
2,984
2,109
107

36
7,040

819,244

120,486

27,941,826

4,109,404
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4,573,796 672,668 724,150 6.32 929
23,368,030 3,436,736 2,665,660 8.77 1,290
9.04 881
8.77 1,290
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2,239,223

329,323

2,239,223

352,968
3,715
185,773
129,472
64,123
26,829
23,365
19,464
11,146
10,000
7,994
8,405

329,323

51,911
546
27,322
19,041
9,431
3,946
3,436
2,863
1,639
1,471
1,176
1,236

843,254

124,017

1,395,969

205,305

(108,705)
(505, 470)

(5,066,219)
41,453

(15,987)
(74,339)

(745,089)
6,096

(5,638,941)

(829,319)

(4,242,972)

(624,014)
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2022 31

1,395,969 205,305
(614,175) (90,327)
(5,024,766) (738,992)
(4,242,972) (624,014)
(338,429) (49,773)
(1,066,463) (156,845)
(1,404,892) (206,617)
1,463,277 215,204
(12,229,292) (1,798,562)
(10,766,015) (1,583,358)
(16,413,879) (2,413,989)
44,355,705 6,523,394

27,941,826 4,109,404
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2022 31

2012

2012 19

1-9005

2021

One

2027 31 30
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60

60

90
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10
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2022

31
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2022 31 2022 31
55,660 417,531

(864,210) (6,002,531)
(808,550) (5.585,000)

105,510 1,045,746
(661,290) (6,226,761)

(555, 780) (5,181,015)
(10,766,015)

2022 31 100
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10,000
2022 31 10,000
2022 31
0.01
0.95
2022 31 352,968 3,715
2022 31 154,236
242
0.65
30
15,000
10,000 1,000
2022 31 64,123
2022 31 16,236
2022 31
26,829 2022 31

9,877
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2022
2022

2022
31

31
31

31

23,365

14,337
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2022 31
2022 31
0.03
11,146
725
0.50
185,773 2022
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2022 31

2022 31

0.25 70,303

(0.07) (20,292)

0.18 50,011
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2022 31
70,303 20,292
70,303 20,292
(505,922) 41,443
(505,922) 41,443
2022 31

the Master Fund
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131,350 @

537 @
(a
2022 31
2022 31
2022 31
MA
70,303 (20,292) 50,011 0 50,011
70,303 (20,292) 50,011 0 50,011
MA
20,292 (20,292) 0 0 0
20,292 (20,292) 0 0 0
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2022 31

0 22,527,719 0# 22,527,719
0 4,909,118 0 4,909,118
0 314,946 60 315,006
0 0 0# 0
0 417,929 0 417,929
0 28,169,712 60 28,169,772

*
0 70,303 0 70,303
0 (20,292) 0 (20,292)

0 28,219,723 60 28,219,783
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2022

2022 31

7.72

0.27
(1.39)

(1.12)

(0.28)

6.32

(10.60)% *

4,574

2.27%
3.75%

(14.92)
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2022 31

10.10

0.36
(1.34)

(0.98)

(0.35)

8.77

(9.88)%

23,368

2.27%
3.76%
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2017
2021

2021

2023 30
2021

2018

2022 15
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2019 2022 19

2022 31
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2020
848

10

2022

2020-04
2020-04

2022 10 10
1,554,591
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2020-04
2020-04

2020 12 2022 12 31

2022 10 10

30,702
306,034
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS & LIABILITIES

July 31, 2022
Assels
Investments in securities, 8t value u:m 532412 Dﬁaj .............. 5 28,169,772
Intarestmt:mabh .......................................... 4915, 585
Umrealized appreciation on forward foreign currency contracts, . ... . 70,303
Receivable for investment securitiessold .. ... ............ R 24 042
ToObIE BRSO = o v T e e e b e b R e 28 761,070
Liabilities
Payable for units redesrned. | 396,678
Inveztment Management fee pnyabla ........................... 154, 2368
Professional fees payable . . .. .. ... ... v rrcarrnnnrnrrannrns 108, 145
Payable for investment securties purchased . .. .................. 787
Unrealized depreciation on forward hrmgn cumanr.'y contracts. . ...... 20,292
Distribution fee payable. . ....... 14,337
Agent Company foe payable . ... .. ............................ 725
Management fee payable . ... ... ... ... ... e 242
BT PBIYBEE . . .. o 2o e e A A r e ey e 47,868
Tobal abilities ... ... .. ... 0o iae i aa e 219,244
Mk aaehs, o s s e s 27,941,826
Het Asset
Value In
Units Net Asset Offered
Class Net Assets Cutstanding Value Cumency
AUD 3 4,573,796 724,150 3 6.32 ALD 9.04
uso } 23368030 2 885,660 % A.77 5 B.77

S roled o fingncis! clatemenis

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
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STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended July 31, 2022

Investment Income

R o e R R SR T R

Expenses

Investmant Manugaman't foa. .
Management fee . e
Distribution fee.

pcmﬁmmm.....ZZ'ZJ'.JZJZZJZSJJZ'.'ZJZZZJZJ'
A trabive Pl ... oy ie s i e e i

Trmsﬁaramnwfee............
Custodian fee. .

Printing fea .

.ﬂqthm‘lperqriaﬂ

Trustee fee

neg-mﬁanfm.....I..I.Z.Z.I.'.I..Z..'__'.I.'..Z_.Z
Miscellanaous fee. . . ... ... . ... .. i
Tolal expersas. ... .. o iLiiiiiberriiais i

Netimestment incame . . . .. ... .. .. e

Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Investment and
Forelgn Currency Transactions
Met realized gain (loss) on:

Investmenttransactions . .. .. ... ... ... .. ...

Foreign currency transactions.
Net change in unrealized ap-pwmtm.rdapmnahm nn
Invesiments. .

Foreign mrr-nc'_.' denorinated assets and liabiities, . . .. ..
et loss on investment and foreign curmency transactions . . . .
Het Decrease in Met Assets from Operations. .. .. ......

Eeg podes o fingnoisl chatemen t

2238 223

352,088
3,715
185,773
129,472
B1123
26,829
23,3685
19,484
11,148
10,000
7,954
2405
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2239273

B43, 254

1,385 860

(108,705)
(505,470)

(5,068 219)
41.453

i5,638,941)

5 (4,242,972

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended
July 31, 2022

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets from Operations
Metimestment iNCome . . . ., . ... .o o remrrraramrarsas 5 1,385 968
Met realized lozs on investment and foreign currency

transactions. . ... .. {614,175)
et change in mrenlzad apprﬂmutlm.fdapmmuhm on

investments and forsign currency denominated assets and

liabditios . P {5,024, 766)
Natdecruwmnatnsmsiumupﬁmhms (4,242.872)
Distributions to Unithalders

Class ALD . (358,429)

Class USD . {1,066,463)
Tmuhmmmswumm {1.404,892)
Unit Transactions
Redamphrms 12,228
Tohll.mrtTmnsm:l:ms 10, 766,01
Tolel dBcr@BSE, . ... ... . creicr o a e (16413878
Net Assets
B IR DR oo oo e i e T 44 355, 705
2 T R e S R G ke S T S R S et 5 27 941, 826

Eeg podes o fingnoisl chatemen t

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
July 31, 2022

1. Organization

Mizuho AB Trust Series (the “Trust™) i# an open-ended exempted umbrella unit trust established on May 1, 2012 under the Trusts
Law (Revisedy of the Cayman [slands and commenced operstions onJuby 19, 2012, The Trust operates as 3 series tnet cumently
comgrised of one pertfolio: Mizuho US High Income Bond Fund (the “Sub-Fund™). The registered office of the Sub-Fund 15 oo
Intertrust Trustees (Cayman) Limited {the “Trstes™y One Nexus Way Grand Cavman K'Y 1-9005, Cavman Islinds, The Sub-Fund's
ohjective is to achieve high cument income and long-term growth of capital by primarily investing in a diversified portfiolio of high
vield bonds denominated in United States (*ULS.") Dollars (570 There can be no sssurance that the Sub-Fund will achieve i
investment objective or generate mvestment returms,

The Sub-Fund is regulated as a rmatual fund under the Mutual Funds Act {2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands and accordingly is
regulated by the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority,

Cumrenthy the Sub-Fusd has available for issue two classes of Units (Mote 33, Class AUD Units designated to Australian Dollar
CAUDy and Clazs USD Units designated to LLS, 5. Each currency in which the Units are offered is known as the offered currency
(Offered Cumrency™). The Offered Currency for Class AUD is AUD, The Offered Currency for Class USD = US. S

Agset Managernent One Co., Lid. serves as the Investment Manager (the *Investment Manager™) and AllanceBernstein L.P. serves as
the Sub-Manager and Managanent Company (the *Sub-Manager™ or “Management Comparny™ )

The Sub-Fund will terminate on July 31, 2027, inless the Sub-Manager determines in consultation with the Trustec that it is in the
best miterest of Unitholders to terminate the Sub-Fund prior to such date. The Management Comgany. in consultation wilh the Trustee,
alse may terminate the Sub-Fund if the net asset valee of the Sub-Fund i3 below 530 million.

At this time, the Managemen Company has determined it is nol in the best interest of the Unitholders to terminate the Sub-Fund
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis af Preparaion
These fimancial Aatements have been prepared in sccordance with aceounting prnciples generally aceepted i the United States of

America CUE. GAAP™) and are expressed m U5, 5. This Sub-Fund & an mvestment company under U5, GAAP and follows the
accounting and reporting mudance applicable to investment companies.

Valuatfon of Invesiments in Securiifes

Securities listed on an exchange are valued at the last sale price reflected on the consolidated tape at the close of the exchange on the
business day {each bank business day in New York and each bank business day in Japan and/or amy ether day which the Sub-Manager
(or an entity designated by the Sub-Manager) determings, “Business Dav"”) as of which such value is being determined, If there has
been no sale on such day, the securities are valued at ihe mean of the closing bid and asked prices onsuch day. Ifne bid or asked
prices are quoted on such dav, then the security 1= valued in good faith at fair vabee by, or in accordance with procedures established
by, the Sub-Manager. Secunitics traded in the over-the-counter marked, including securities listed on an exchange whose primary
market is believed to be over-the-counter (but excluding securities traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (“NASDAC™)) are
valued at the mean of the current bid and asked prices; securities traded on NASDAQ are valued in accordance with the NASDAG
Official Closing Price.

U5, Government securitics and amy other debt mstroments having 60 days or less remaining until maturity are generally valued at
market by an independent pricing vendor, if a market price i available. If a market price s not available, the securities are valued =
amortized cost. This methodology is commonly used for short-term securities that have an original maturity of &0 days or less, as well
a8 shont-term securities that had an original term to maturity that exceeded 60 days, In instances when amortized cost is utilized, the
Valuation Committee (the “Committee™ ) must reasonably conclude that the utilization of amontized cost is approximately the same as
the fair value of the security. Such factors the Committee will consider include, but are not limited te. an impairment of the
creditworthiness of the izzuer or material changes in interest rates,

Fixed-income securities may be valued on the basis of prices that reflect the mrket value of such fixed-income securities and that are
provided by a pricing service when such prices are believed to reflect the fair market value of such securitics. The prices provided by
A pricing service ke mto account mary factors, including mnstitutienal size, trading in szmilar groups of securities and any
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developments related to specific securities. For securities where the Sub-Manager has determined that an appropriate pricing service
does not exist, such securities may be valued on the basis of a quoted bid price or spread from a major broker-dealer in such security,

All ather securities will be valued in accordance with readily available market quotations as determined in accordance with procedures
established by the Sub-Manager. In the event that extraordinary circumstances render such a valustion impracticable or madequate,
the Sub-Manager is authorized to Tollow other rules prudently and in good faith in order to achiieve a fair valuation of the assetz of the
Sub-Fund.

Forward Foreign Carrency Condrocis
Forward foreign currency contracts are valued o the difference between the forward foreign exchange rates at the dates of entry info
the contracts and the forward rates at the reporting date,

Casde and Casit Equivalents
The Sub-Fund considers all haghly liquid investments, with ariginal maturities of lesz than ninety daye, az cash equivalents,

Foreipn Currency

Investment secunitics and other assets and liabilities denomirated in foreign comencies are translated into U5, § amounts at the date of
valuation. Purchases and sales of mvestment securities and meome and expense tems denominated in forelgn currencies are translated
into U8, § amounts on the respective dates of such transactions.

The Sub-Fund does not isolate the portion of the results of operations resulting from changes m foreign exchange rates on investments
froam the Mucteations arising from changes m markel prices of securities held. Such fuctuations are meluded with the net realized gam
(loss) and net change n unrealized appreciation/depreciation on investments in the statement of operations.

Reported net realized gains or losses on foreign cumrencies arise from sales of foreign curmencies, cumrency gams of losses realized
between the trade and settlement dates on securities transactions, and the ditference between the amounts of dividends and inerest
recorded on the Sub-Fund's books and the UL5. § equivalent of the amounts actually received or paid,

Revenne Recopnitfon

Securities transactions are reconded on a trade-date basis. Dividend income and expense ane recognized on the ex-dividend date and
intered income and expense are recognized on an accrual basiz, Realized gains and losses on investment transactions are determingd
by the first in, frst out method. Discounts which are expected to be realized mnd premiwns on investments are mmortized over the
remaining life of the respective investments using the effective interes method.

Allecation of fncome aud Expenses

The Sub-Fund allocates income and expenses Lo each class and series pro rata based on the net asset value per share of the applicable
class or series at the beginming of the caloulation period. Investment Management Fees are calculated and charged as described in
Mote 4. Profit and loss recognized through share class hedging specific to the designated curvency of each class as described in Note
is allocated Lo each class

Income Taves

In accordance with LS. GAAF requirements regarding accounting for uncertainties in income taxes, management has analyzed the
Sub-Fund's kax positions taken for the open tax period and has concluded that no provision for income tax is required in the Sub-
Fuzl's financial statements,

The Sub-Furd is not subject to tae under current Caviman Islands tax laws bt the Sub-Fund may be subject to tieces imposed by
coumtries in which it investz. Such taves are generally based on income and/or capital gains eamed or repatriated, Taves are acored
and applied to pet investment income, net realized gains and net unrealized gain (los=) as such income and'or gains are eamed.

The Sub-Fund remnains subject to examination by U5, federal and date junisdictions, as well as intemational jurisdictions, for certain
vears prior to and mecluding Juby 31, 2022 and upon completion of these examinations (if undertak en by the tacmg jursdiction) tax
adjustments ey be necessary and retroactive o all open tax vears.

Use of Extimales

The preparation of financial stabernents in conformity with TS, GAAP requires management bo make estinates and assumptions that
affiect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, if sy, at the date of the
finamcial statemnents, and the reported amounts of reveniees and expenses recorded during the reporting vear. Actual results could differ
from those estimates and such differences could be material.

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND

180/343



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Indemmiffoaion and Worranuties

In the ordinary course of its business, the Sub-Fund has entered into contracts or agrecments that contain mdemnnifications or
warranties. Future events could eccur that lead to the execution of these provisions against the Sub-Fund. The maximam exposure to
the Sub-Fund under these provisions is unknown as this wold involve futire claims that have mot vet ocourred,

3. Unit Transactions

Deseviption of Unils

The mumber of Units suthorized to be issued 15 unlimited and shall be without par value. Each Unit represents an undivided beneficial
interest in the Sub-Furkd with the result that the amount pavable to a Unitholder upon termination of te Sub-Fund will equal its share
af the net asset value attributable to the relevant Class of Units divided by all Units of the Class then outstanding. All Units of a Class
cotvey, upon isue, the same rights as Lo repurchasze and distributions, Each of the Units has equal rights and privileges with each
other Unit, incleding the right to one vote per Unit,

The Sub-Fund currently offers, and i the future may offer, without consent of the Unitholders, vanous Classes of Units with differing
fee structures and subscriplion requirements Lo meet the needs of certain classes of ivestors or Lo confiorm Lo markel practice or
requirements in cerain jurisdictions.

The Managenrent Compary/Investment Manager may, at any time at its discretion, temporanily discontinue, cease indefinitely o limit
the e of Units to investors resident or established in certain coamtries or territories. The Management Comparmy/ Investment
Mamager may also prohibit certam mvestors from acquirmg Units if necessary for the protection of the Unitholders as a whole and
each Sub-Fund.

Tniiticl Subseription of Unifs
Units were initially offered at AUD 10 per Class AUD and U5, $10 per Class USD. The minimum initial mvwvestment is 100 Units and
the minimuem siebsequent investinent iz 10 Units for Class AUD and Class USD,

Suils egaiernt Subseriptions of Unds
Units will be available for purchase m the Offered Currencies at their respective net asset values per Unit {plus any applicable sales
charge) on ay Dealing Day. Dealing Dy 15 each Busmess Day.

Repurchave aof Uniis
Unitholders may redeem their Units on any Dealing Day by ransmitting an imevocable repurchase order by facsimile or mail to the
administrator of the Sub-Fund,

The Sub-Masmger will endeaver to ensure, for any Dealing Day, that an appropriate bevel of liquidity is mainiained in respect of exch
clazs =0 that repurchase of Units may, wder normal circumstances, be made promptly on such date to Unitholders requesting
repurchase. However, the Sub-Manager may limit the repurchase of Units in the event the Sub-Fund receives, as of any Dealing Day,
requests to redeermn more than 108 of the Units of the Sub-Fund outsanding as of such date, inwhich case Units of the Sub-Fund may
be redeemed on a pro rata basis. Any parl of a repurchase request to which effect is net given by reason of the exercise of this power
by or on behalf of the Sub-Manager will be treated as if a roguest has been made m respect of the next Dealing Day and all following
Diealing Diays {in relation to which the Sub-Manager has the same power) until the original request has been satisfied in fill. Tn
addition, under certain circumstances, the Trustee, in consultation with the Sub-Manager, meay suspend the right of Unitholders 1o
redeern Units.

Disitribations

The Management Compary will dectare 3 monthly distribugion to Unitholders on the 1ast Business Diy of each month {each a “Record
Date’)y; provided that the Sub-Manager may choose not to pay a distribution in its absolute discretion. If declared, distributions will
be paid within three Buziness Days from the relevant Record Date on which such distribution was declared or a5 soon a2 practicable
thereaflier.

The Manageanent Company intends to declare and pay monthly dividends equal to all or substanually all of the Sub-Fumd's net
investment income attributable to each Unit Class.

The Management Compary also may determine if and to what extent distributions paid inchide realized and unrealized gams and/or
are paid out of available capital, attnbutable to the relevant Unit Class. To the extent the net income and net realized and unrealized
profits attributable to these Units exceed the amount declared pavable, the excess retum will be reflected in the respective met asset
value of such Units, There can be no assurance that any distribution payments will ocour,
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LUinit transactions for the ycar ended Julby 31, 2022 were as follows:

Year Ended Wear Ended

July 31. 2022 Juby 31, 2022
Class AUD
Linits sold 55660 2§ 417,531
Units redeaned (8642109 (6,002,531
Net decrease (BOS.550) S (5. 585.000)
Class USD
Lnits sold 105,510 § 1,045,746
Units redecmned (661 290} (6,226, 761)
Net decrense (S55.780) S {5,181, 005)
Total amount of Unit fransaciions: 5 {10, 766.015)

The Sub-Masager has appointed Mizuho Bank. Lid. as distributor (m this capacity, the “Distributor’™) m Japan, As of July 31, 2022,
the Distributor individually owned 1P of the Fund®s net assets, Transactions by the Distributer and/or investors holding a
significant ownership percentage at the Sub-Fund can impact other invesiors,

4. Fees and Expenses

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significam influence over the other
party in making financial or operational decisions.

Trustee Feex

The Trustee shall be entitled to receive a fee of ULS. $10,000 per ammum pay able out of the proceeds of subscription for the Units of
the Sub-Fund. The Trustee shall also be entitled to receive ot of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee for extraordinary Trustee services
and ary direct out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Trustee on behalf of the Sub-Fund,

For the year ended July 31, 2022, the Sub-Fund incurred ULS, 310,000 of Trustee Fees expense, none of which was payable
at July 31, 2022

Meanagemernt Comp gy Tivestment Manager Fee

The Managemmenl Company is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Manager (“Management Fee™) of
the Sub-Fund a fee equal to 0.01% per ammum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each
manth.

The Investment Manager is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund fior #3 services a= Investment Manager (“Tnvestment
Management Fee™) of the Sub-Fund a fee of 0.95% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each
Business Day in each month,

The Management Comgrany shall alzo be entithed 1o be reimbursed out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for any owt-of-pocket expenses
and disbursements mourred on behatl of the Swh-Fund

For the vear ended Juby 31, 2022, the Sub-Fund incwrred US. $352.068 and US. 83,715 of Investment Management Fee and
Mamngement Fee expense, respectively, of which ULS, 5154236 and ULS. 5242 were pavable ol July 31, 2022 and are ncluded within
Investment Management Fee pavable and Mansgement Fee payvable in the statement of assets and habilities, respectively.

Sub-Manager Fee

The Sub-Manager is entitled to be compensated for is services as Sub-Manager of the Sub-Fund, Pursuant to the Sub-Management
Agreement, the Investment Manager will payv to the Sub-Manager a portion of the Investment Management Fee of (.65% per annm
of the average of the net as=zet value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each menth,

Adminisirator, Tranyger Agent and Custodian Fees

The Tristes etered into an admmistration agreement with Brown Brothers Harmiman & Co. o act 2 administrator and ransfer agent
of the Sub-Fund (the *Admimstrator and Transfer Agent™). For its fund accounting administration services in respect of the
Sub-Fund, the Admimstrator and Tramsfer Agent 15 entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee pavable m U5, $
monthty n amears within 30 calendar days of the end of the relevant month. The fee for the find accounting administration services is
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125, £15,000 and arry other transactional charges. The fee for ranster agency services 15 U8, 510,000 per asnum plus TS, 81000 per
Unit Class and any other transactional charges, For the vear ended July 31, 2022, the Sub-Fund mowred U8, 64,123 of
adminisirative fees, of which U5, £16,236 was payable at July 31, 2022 and is included within acerued ecpenses and other liabilities
in the statement of assets and liabilities, For the vear ended July 31, 2022, the Sub-Fund incurred U5, £26,829 of transfer agency fees,
of which 1.5, $9.877 was pavable at July 31, 2022 and is included within accrued expenses and other liabilities in the statement off
assets and liabilfties,

Pursuant 1o a custody service agreement, Brown Brothers Hamiman & Co. acls as custodian {the “Custodian™) for the Sub-Fund with
respect 1o assets delivered 1o mid held by the Custodian. The Custodian & entitled 1o be paid agreed upon transaction charges and to
recover out-of-pocket expenses out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, payable in U.5. S monthly m arrears. For the yvear ended July 31,
2022, the Sub-Fund incurred 1,8, $23,365 of custodian fees, of which U8, $6,702 was payable at July 31, 2022 and is included
within accrued expenses and other liabilities in the staternent of assets and liabilities,

Agent Company Fee

The ManagerTnvestment Manager has appointed AllanceBemstein Japan Lad. as the Agent Comgpany in Japan. The Agent Company
i# entitled to be paid cul of the assets of the Sub-Fund for 1= services a= Agent Company CAgent Company Fee™) of the Sub-Fund a
foe of 0.03% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day i cach month.

For the vear ended July 31, 2022, the Sub-Fund incurmred ULS, $11,146 of Agent Company Fees, of which U5, 8725 was payable at
July 31, 2022 and is included within Agent Comgrany fee pavable in the: staterment of assets and labilities,

Distributor Fee

The Distributor 15 entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Distributor  Distribastion Foe™) of the
Sub-Fund a fee of 0.50%6 per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each month.
Other Distributors may be appointed in the future,

For the vear ended July 31, 2022, the Sub-Fund incurred ULE, $185.773 of Eastribution Fees, of which U5, 314,337 was payable at
Jutlw 31, 2022 adl is inclided within Distribution Fee pavable in the statement of assets ad liabilities,

5. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Sub-Fund uses derivatives to eam income and enhance retums, to hedge or adjust the nsk profile of its portfolio and s Unit
Classes, to replace more traditional direct investments, of to obtain exposure to otherwise inaccessible markets,

The Sub-Fund enters into derivatives which may represent off-balance sheet risk, Cff-balance sheet risk exists when the maximusm
potential loss on a particular investment 13 greater than the value of such investment as reflected in the statenvent of assets and
liabilities.

Certain derivative agrecments allow counterpartics to over-the-counter derivatives to require collateral or termmate derivative
comiracts prior to maturity in the event the Sub-Fund's net assets decline by a stated percentage o the Sub-Fund fails to meet other
credit-risk contingent tenns in the agreement, which would cause an accelerated pavment of any net liability owed to the counterparty.

The principal types of derivatives utilized by the Sub-Fund, as well as the methods in which they may be used are:

Forward Foreign Currency Conlrocis
For the year ended July 31, 2022, the Sub-Fund entered into forward foreign currency contracts to gain exposure to the designated
currency of each respective Unit Chass versus the U5, § as detailed below:

# Class AUD: Buying AUD forward foreign currency contracts agaimst the U8, £, in the AUD amount equal to the extent possible
to approximately 10026 of the U.S. 5 exposure of the net asset value (excluding unrealized currency gain or loss) attributable to
Class AU,

* Class USD: No forward foreign currency contracts,

A Torward foreign currency contract is a commiment to purchase or sell a foreign currency at a future date 3t a negotimbed forward
rale,

Fluctuations i the value of open forward foreign curmency contracts are recorded as unrealized appreciation or depreciation of forwarnd
foreign currency contracts in the statement of assels and liabilities and as net change m unrealized appreciation’depreciation of foreizn
currency denominated assets and liabilities in the staterment of operations, The gain or loss arising from the difference between the
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onginal contract and the closing of such contract would be mcluded in net realized gain or loss on foreign currency transactions in the
statement of operations.

Risks may arise from the potential inability of a counterparty to meet the terms of a contract and from imanticipated movements in the
vilue of a foreign currency relative to the U5, & The face or contract amoamnt, in ULS. %, reflects the total exposure the Sub-Fund has
in that particular currency contract,

At July 31, 2022, the Sub-Fund had the following open forward foreign cummency contracts:

Forward Foreign Currency Contracts

Unrealized

Apprecdation’

o of Net Assels (Depr eciation)
Warious Appreciated Contracts 0.25%% 5 T0,303
Warious Depreciated Contracts (0TS (20.292)
Total Forward Foreign Currency Contracts 0.18% 5 50,011

Crorency Travsacions

The Sub-Fund invests in non-U.5. § denominated securities on a currency hedged or unhedged basis. The Sub-Fund seeks investment
opportunities by taking a long or short position n curencies through the wse of currency -related derivatives, including forward foreizm
currency contracts. The Sub-Fund enters into transactions for investment opportunities when i anticipates that a foreign currency will
appreciate or depreciate in value but secunities denominated in that curmency are not held by the Sub-Fund and do not present attractive
investiment opporiunitics. Such ransactions are also used when the Sub-Manager believes that it may be more efficient than a direc
investment in a foreign cumency -denominated security.

The Sub-Fund typically enters into Indernaticnal Swaps and Derivatives Aszociation, Inc. Mater Agreements (*ISDA Master
Agreement”} with its over-the-counter {OTC™) denvative contract counterpartics in order 1o, among other things, reduce its credit
rigk to OTC counterparties. 1ISDA Master Agreements include provisions for general obligations, representations, collateral and events
of defmilt or termination Under an ISDA Master Agresment, the Sub-Fund typically may offset with the OTC counterparty certain
derivative financial instrements’ pavables and‘or receivables with collateral held andior posted and create one zingle net payment
{close-cut nettang) in the event of default or termination. In the event of a default by an OTC counterparty , the retum of collateral with
markel value m excess of the Sub-Fund's net Liabilite, held by the defaulting party, may be delaved or denied.

The Sub-Fund’s ISDA Master Agreements muy contain provisions for early termmation of OTC derivative transactions in the event
the net assets of the Sub-Fund decline below specific levels ("net asset contingent features™). If these levels are trigegered, the Sub-
Fumd's OTC counterparty has the right to terminate such transaction and require the Sub-Fund to pay or receive a settlement amount
int connection with the terminated transaction. I50TC derivatives were held at peried end, please refer to netting amrangements by the
OTC counterparty table below for additional details,

During the year ended July 31, 2022, the Sub-Fusd had the following derivatives grouped by derivative type:

Axwet Derivaiives Limbility Derivalives
Stafement of Statement of
Al and Assels and
Limbilifies Limbilities
Dierivative Type L.ocution Fuir Vulue L acation Fuir Value
Foreign exchange confracts . . .. ... _...... Unrealized Unrealized
apprecislion on deprediation on
forward forward
foreign cumency foreign cumency
contrads 3 7003 conlracts H 20,292
DO o A e A D 5 J0a0m i 10292
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Realized Change in
Looation aff Gan or Coaln o Unrendized
{Losx) on Derivatives Within (Losx) an Appredution or
Derivative Type Statement of Op erations Derivatives (Depreciation)
Foreign exchange conbracts. . _ . . ... __..... Wet realized gain (loss) on foreden
aurency transaction: Met change in
wnrealized apprecistion/depreciaion on
foreign cumency denominated assets
e lizhilities (505022} 41,443
B L o s e e e e e H (505,921} 5 41,443

The following table represents the average monthly velume of the Master Fund's derivative transactions during the vear ended July
31, 2022

Forward Currency Exchange Contracts:
Average principal amount of buy contracts .. .. ... ..ol $ 131350%
Average principal amount of sale comtracts . ... ..o L.l L L 3 5370

fa) Positions were open_for one montl during the period

Durmng the vear ended July 31, 2022, the Sub-Fusd entered into forward foreign currency contracts [o manage cumency exposure of
the Class AUD versus the U8, S, The principal amomnt apprexmsated the vahie of the net assets attributable to Class AUD and the
results of those contracts are allocated W the Class AUD,

For financial reporting purposes, the Sub-Fund does not offset denvative assets and liabilities that are subject to netting
arrangements in the datement of assets and linbildies.

Al OTC derivatives held at vear end were subject to netting armrangements. The followmg tables represent the Sub-Fund's derivative
assets and liabilities by OTC counterparty net of amounts available for offzet under TSDA Master Agreements (“MA™) and net of the
related collateral received/pledged by the Sub-Fund as of July 31, 2022 At Julv 31, 2022, all derivatives were subject to netting
arrangements,

Drerivative Astets rerivatives Availabde Coflateral Net Amount of
Cousterparty Sulsject 1o a MA for Clset Nel Amoant Heceived Dervatives Asseix
Birowm Brothers Harmiman & Co. 3 Pk [ (20291} 8 i § 0§ bel
Tadal ¥ 10308 § (20291} § ETITIR 4% R

Lisbilsmies Sabject Drerivatives Availkabde Coflidersl Mot Amoanl of
Colsl éTpary I3 & ALA s Oilln et Mol Amosnl Pledged Drrtvatives Lisbdlicies
Browe Brothers Hamiman & Co ¥ 297§ (20291} % it 3 4% -
Tedtal 3 M § (20297} § o § ol § ol

6. Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with U8, GAAP regarding far value measurements, fivr value 15 defined as the price that the Sub-Fund would receive
to sell an asset or pay to ransfer a lability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurament date. U8, GAAP
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based upon the transparency
of mputs to the valuation of an asset or liability. Inputs may be observable or uncbservable and refer broadly to the assumptions that
mark et participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Observable inputs reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained
froem sources independent of the Sub-Fund. Unobservable inputs reflect the Sub-Fund’s own assumptions about the assumptions that
market participants weuld use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available in the circumstances. Each
investment is assigned a level based wpon the observability of the inputs which are significant to the everall valuation,

The three-tier hierarchy of inputs & aammarized below:
& Level | — guoted prices in active markets for identical investiments

= Level 2 — other significant ob=ervable inputs (including quoted prices for similar investments, interest rates, prepayment
speeds, credit rsk, ete.)
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*  Level 3 — significant unobservable mputs (including the Sub-Fund’s own assumptions in determining the fair valie of
investments)

The fair vahee of debt instruments, such as bomde, and OTC denvatives iz generally based on market price quotations, recenthy
executed market transactions (where obzervable) or industry recognized modeling techmiques and are generally ¢lassified as Level 2
Pricing vendor inputs 1o Level 2 valuations may include quoted pricez for sonilar myvestments in active markets, interest mte curves,
coupren rabes, curmency rates, yield curves, oplion adjusted spreads, default rates, credit spreads and other unique security features in
order to estimiate the relevant cash fows which are then discounted to calculate fair values. If these inputs are uncbservable and
significant to the far value, these investments will be classified as Level 3.

Other fived income inmvestments, including non-ULS. govermment and corporate debt, are generally valued usmg quoted market prices,
if available, which are typically impacted by current interest rates, matunty dates and any perceived credit sk of the Eser,
Additienally, inthe absence of quoted market prices, these mputs are used by pricing vendors to derive a valuation based upon
industry or proprictary models which incorporate issuer spectfic data with relevant vield/spread companisons with more widely quoted
bonds with similar key characteristics, These investments for which there are observable inputs are classified as Level 2 Where the
inguts are not observable, the investments are classified as Level 3,

The follewing table susmmarizes the valuation of the Sub-Fund 'z investrments following the fair value hierarchy levels a2 of July 31,
2022:

Invesimeni s in Securities Level 1 Lewel 2 Level 3 Total
Comporates - Non-Investment Grade ... ... ..., H - T umnTTe H 04 Ponanae
Codpeorates - Investment Grade . . .. ... ..... ... -0~ 4509118 -0 4509118
Emetging Markels - Corporate Bonds ., . .., .., . -0- 34,946 &0 315 006
Commom Stodcs . ... oo u i i e iaaa 0= B O# =0

Short-Term Investmends. .. . ... ... ... ... -0- 417919 - 417 939

Total Invedments in Securilies -0- 28,189,712 &l ZE 160772

Diber Finmmcal [nstrumenis®:

Assels
Forvard Foreign Currency Conbracts, ... ..., ... =0- TOY -0- T 303

Linbibities
Forward Forelgn Cwrency Contracts . ... ... . ... -0- {20,292 - (20.292)

Tobal s B e 5 -l § 2R219.723 3 Gl 5 XR219.TRR

#  TThe Sub-Funed held secrrities with sero marke! value o period ernd

* Cther financial instriments are derivigive instrrements, such as fidures, forwards and swaps, which are vedued af the wirealized
apprecictionydepreciation! on the indrumend. Other financial instruments mery also include swaps with upfront preminms, oplios
written and sveptions written witich are valued o morket value.

7. Financial Highlights
The financial highlights represent the Sub-Fund’s financial performance for the vear ended July 31, 2022

The per share operatng perfonmance and ratios are compuled based upon the average units outstanding and average net assets,
respectively, for the year ended July 31, 2022
Unitholder’s performance may vary based on tening of Unit transactions and currency management specific to the designasted

currency of each respective Unit Class. Total retum is competed based on the change im the net asset value per unat durtng the peread,
including reinvestments of distributions. Total investment retum is based on net asset value of offered currency.
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Year Ended
Juﬁ 31: 022
Mot asset value, beginning of
year o $7.72
Incomse me Inves'l:merl
Operations
Metirvesiment income ., . ... 0.27
Mot realized and unreakzed
loss on investiment and
foreign currency transactions 1.38)
et decrease in net asset
value from operations .. ... 112
Less: Distributions

Distributions to Unitholders . . . (0.28)
et azset value, end of year | . 56,32
Total Retum
Total investment return based

on netassetvalue . ... .. {10.80)%"
RatiosiSupplemental Data
Met assets, end of year (000's

omitted) . 54,574
Ratio ta wmgi net assets of

Expenses . . P 2.27T%

Met |msﬂnaﬂt muum& ..... 3.75%

* Tolal refurn based on reperfing curmency is (14.92)%,

Year Ended
July 31, 20223
Mt asset value, beginning of
| R R el 51010
Income From Investment
Operations
Met investment income . , . ... 0,38
Mot realized and unrealized
loss on investment and
foreign currency transactions {1.34)

Met decrease in net asset

value from operations . ... {0.98)
Less: Distributions

Dhstributions to Unitholders . . . {0.35)
Het asset value, end of year |, . S58.77
Taotal Retum
Total imvestment return based

on net asset value . e {9.88)%

Raduﬁ'ﬂl.lpplmmtd Data
et assets, end of year (000's

omitted) . . 523368
Ratio to wﬂugc et assets of

Expenses . 2.2T%

et |mﬂrﬂmtm-m ..... 3. TE%W

MIZUHO AB TRUST SERIES - MIZUHO US HIGH INCOME BOND FUND

187/343



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

8. Risks Invalved in Investing in the Sub-Fund

Crrrency Risk

Underlying investments of the Sub-Fusd may be denominated i one or more currencies different than that in which the Sub-Fund is
desrominated. This means curency movements in such undertying investments may significantly affect the net asset value in respect
of the Sub-Fumd"s Units, Investments by the Sub-Fund that are denommated ina particular currency are subject to the rizk that the
vilue of such currency will change in relation to one o more other currencies. Among the factors that may affect currency values are
trade balances, the level of short-term interest rates, differences m relative values of similar assets i different currencies, long-term
opportunities for investment and captal apprecation and political developments. The Sub-Fund i not imited in the percentage of its
assets that may be denominated in currencies other than the U5, 5.

Conndyy Rishs

The Sub-Fund may imvest in securitics of issuers located in vanous coumdries and geographic regions, The econcmies of individual
coumiries may ditfer favorably or unfaverably from each edbver in such respects ag growth of gross domestic product or gross national
proafuct, rate of inflation, capital reinvestment, resource sell-=ulficiency and balang e of payments position. Issuers in general are
subject 1o vary ng degrees of regulation with respect o such matters &= insider trading rules, restnictions on market manipulation,
Unithelder procoy requaraments and timely disclosure of information. The reporting, accounting and suditing stamdards of 1ssuers may
differ, in some cases significantly | from country o country = important respects amd less imformation from country to country may be
available to iInvestors in scourities or other assets. Nationalization, expropriation or confiscatory taccation, cumency blockage, political
changes, govermament regulstion, political or social instability or diplomatic developments could affect adversely the econonmy of a
coumtry or the Sub-Fund's investments m such country.  Inthe event of expropriation, nationalizstion or other confiscation, the Sub-
Fumid could lose its entire imvestment in the country involved. In addition, laws in countries goveming business onganizations,
bankruptcy and insolvency may provide limited protection to seourity bobders such as the Sub-Fumd.

The Sub-Fusd meay trade its securities in a variety of markets with many different brokers and dealers. The failure of a broker or
dealer mav result in the complete loss of the Sub-Fumd's assetz on depezit with siuch broker or dealer depending on the regulatory nules
goverming such broker o dealer, In addition, brokerage comanissions in certain coumtnes may be higher than m others, and securities
ik el an cortain coumntries may be less liguid, more volatile and less aibject to govermimental agarvision than in others

The securities markets of many countries are also relatively small, with the majority of market capitalization md trading volume
concentrated ma limited number of companics representmg a small number of ndustries. Consequently, if the Sub-Fund mvested in
equity securities of companies in such countries, the Sub-Fund may experience greater price volatility and significantly bower liguidsty
thamn if the Sub-Fund invested solely in equity securities of compenies in countrics with relatively larger securities markets. These
susiller markets may be subject to greater influence by adverse events generally affecting the market, and by large investors trading
sigmificant blocks of securities, Securitics settlements may in some instances be subject to delayz and related administrative
uncerainties

Certain coundries require governmental approval prior to imvestments by foreign persons or limit mvestment by foreign persoas 1o only
a specified percentage of an isaser's outstandmg securities or a specific class of securities that may have less advantageous terms
(including price) than securities of the company available for purchase by nationals. These restrictions or comrols may at times limit
or preciude mvestment in certain securitics and may increase the costs and expenses of the Sub-Fund. In addition, the repatriation of
investiment income, capital, or the proceeds of sales of securities from certain countries is controlled under regulations, mcluding in
some cases the need for certain advance govermment notification or authority. If deterioration occurs na coumtry's balance of
piayments, the coumiry could impose temporary restrictions on foreign capital remittanc es. The Sub-Fund also could be adversely
affected by delays i, or a refusal to grant, any required govermmental approval for repatriation, == well as by the application of other
restrictions on investrnent. Investing m local markets may require the Sub-Fund to adopt special procedures that may imvolve
additional costs to the Sub-Fund, These factors may affect the liguidity of the Sub-Fund’s investments in any country and the
Investment Manager will meniter the effect of any such factor or Factors on the Sub-Fund's investments.

Interest-Raie Risk

The value of the Sub-Fund's Units will Nluctuate with the value of its investments, The value of the Sub-Fund's investments in ficed-
income securities will change as the general level of interest rates fluctuate. During periods of falling interest rates, the values of
fixed-income secunities generally rise, although if falling inferest rates are viewed as a precursor 1o a recession, the values of a Sub-
Fumd's securities may fall along with interest rates. Conversely, during periods of rising interest rates, the values of fixed-income
securities generally decline. Changes in mterest rates have a greater effect on fixed-income securities with longer maturities and
durations than those with shorter maturities and durations,
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Derlvatives Risk

The Sub-Fund may use derivatives, which are financial contracts whose value depends on, or is denved from, the value of an
underlying asset, reference rate, or index. The Sub-Manager will sometimes use derivatives as pan of a strategy designed to reduce
other risks. Generally, however, the Sub-Fund may use derivatives ag direct investments 1o eam income, hedge currency exposure,
enlwance yield and broaden porifolio diversitication. In addition to oller risks aich az the credit risk of the coumterparty. derivatives
invedve the rigk of difficulties m pricing and valuation and the rigk that changes in the value of the derivative may nol comelate
perfectly with redevant underlving assets, rates, or indices.

Cross-Class Liabdity Rick

The Sub-Fund may enter into curency derivative transactions including forward foreign currency contracts in respect of a particular
Unit Class in order to reduce exposure to the relevant Offered Curmency versus the base curvency of the Sub-Fund. Although the
Sub-Fund will typically enter into forward foreign currecy contracts with only these counterparties that agree to limit their recourse
to the particular Unit Class on behiall of which such forwand foreign currency confract was entersd, given that there iz no legal
segregation of liabilities between the various Unit Classes within the Sub-Fund, there 18 a rigk that, under certain circumnstances,
curreney derivative transactions in relation to a particular Designated Currency inrespect of a particular Unit Class could result in
lisbalsties which might affect the net asset value of the other Unit Clagses of the Sub-Fund, i which case azsets of the other Unit
Classes of the Sub-Fund may be used to cover the liabilities mourred by the Unit Class,

LIBOR Transitfon aed Asvociated Risk

A Sub-Fund may be exposed to debt securities, derivatives or other fmancial instruments that utilized the Londen Interbank Offered
Rate, or "LIBOR,” as a “benchmark” or “reference rate” for various inferest rate caleulations. In 201 7, the United Kingdom Financial
Conduct Authority ("FCA™), which regulates LIBOR, annoamiced a desire to phase out the use of LIBOR by the end of 2021, The FCA
and LIBOR s administrator, ICE Benclumark Administration, have since announced that most LIBOR settings (which reflect LIBOR
rates quoted in different curencies over various time periods) will no longer be published after the end of 2021 but that the most
widely used U5, Dollar LIBOR settings will continue to be published until June 30, 2023, However, banks were strongly encouraged
to cense entering into sgreanents with counterparties referencing LIBOR by the end of 2021, It iz possible that a subset of LIBOR
seitmgs will be pubhisied after these dates on a ™~ synthetic™ basiz, but any such publications would be considered non-representative of
the underlving market. Since 2018 the Federal Reserve Bank of New Yok has published the secured overnight finding rate (referred
to s SOFR), which is intended to replace US. Dollar LIBOER. 30OFR & a broad measure of the cost of borrowing cash overnight
collaterahzed by ULS. Tresamy securities in the repurchase agreament (repo) markel and has been used increasingly on a volunlary
basis m new mstruments and transactions. In addition, on March 15, 2622, the Adjustable Interest Rate Act was signed into law. This
law provides a statutory falfback mechanism to replace LIBOR with & benchmark rate that 15 sebected by the Federal Reserve Board
and based on SOFR for certain contracts that reference LIBOR without adequate fallback provisions.

The elimination of LIBOR or changes to other reference rates or any other changes o refonms to the determination or supervision of
reference rates could have an adverse impact on the market for, or value of, amy securities or payments linked to those reference rates,
which may adversely affect a Sub-Fund's performance and’or net asset value, Uncertainty and risk also remain regarding the
willingness aned ability of issuers and lenders to include revised provisions in new and existing confracts or nstruments, Consequently,
the transition from LIBOR to other reference rates may lead to imcreased volatility and illiquadity in markets that are tied to LIBOR,
fluctuations m valies of LIBOR-related investments or investments in isseers that utilize LIBOR, increased difficulty in bomewing or
refinancing and diminished effectiveness of hedging strategies, potentially adversely affecting a Sub-Fund's performance,
Furthermore, the risks associated with the expected discontimmtion of LIBOR and transition may be exacerbated if the work necessary
to effect an orderly transition o an alternative reference rate 15 not completed in a tmely mamner. Neither the effect of the LIBOR
transition process nor s ultimate success can vet be known.

Markeit Risk

Marked risk is the potential for changes in the value of investment positions due to market changes, inchuding interest and currency
rate movernents 2z well a= fluctuations in the prices of nvestment positions. Market risk is directly impacted by the volatility and
liquidity of the markets in which the underlving financial mstrenents are traded. The Sub-Fund attemnpts to manage market risk in
various wiys, including through diversifying exposures. placing limitations on position sizes and hedging in related securities or
dervative fmancial instruments. The abality to manage market risk may be constrained by changes in hquidity conditions, relative
prices, volatilities and correlations between investment positions and the instruments used Lo hedge such investiment pesitions.

Beginning late in 2019 and continuing into 2022, the cutbreak of a novel coronavirus, which causes the disease known as COVID-19,
expanded into 3 global pandemic. Growing tummail from the spread of this coronavins, and the potential for an enduring and

significant adverse impact on global economices, have driven a sharp increase in volatility across markets and a strong flight to quality,
The Sub-Fund’s management will continue to monitor the evolving situation and its impact on the financial position of the Sub-Fund,

European Instabality —Recent events m Ukraine have interjected uncertamty into e global fimascial markets, especially European
markets, A number of countries, ncluding the United States and European Union, have mposed sanctions on Russia and individuals
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and businesses aftiliated with that coumtry. 1t is possible that the Sub-Fund might suffer from the imposed sanctions creatmg liability
and compliance risks to the Sub-Fund. The long-term impact of these sanctions and the Ulkrainian conflict remains unclear and may
resull in a negative impact to the Sub-Fund®s performance. The Sub-Fund did not have exqposure to Russian or Ukrainian securities as
of July 31, 2022 or subsequent to the vear end

Credit Risk
Credit rigk is the sk that comnterparties may fail 1o fulfill their obligations or that the collateral value becomes inadequate. The
Sub-Fund atternpts to mmimize its credit risk by momtoring the credit exposure with, and the credit worthiness of, counterparties.

T-Balace Sheet Risk
The Sub-Fund may enter into imvestment transactions which may present off-balance sheet risk, Off-balance sheet risk exists when the
i imnmm potential loss on a particular investment is greater than the value of such mwvestment, 23 reflected in the statement of assets
and liabilitiez, Off-balance sheet risk generally arises from the use of derivative firancial mstruments,

9, Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, the Fmancial Accounting Standards Board ssued an Accounting Standards Update, ASU 2020404, “Reference Rate
Reform (Topic 848) — Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Fmancial Reporting ™ ASU 2020004 provides optional
guidance to case the potential accounting burden due to the discontinuation of the LIBOR and other imerbank -offered based reference
rates. ASL 2020004 i efMective as of March 12, 2020 throwgh Decernber 31, 2022, Managerment 1 currently evaluating the impact, if
any, of applying ASU 202004,

10. Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated the possibility of subsequent events existing in the Sub-Fund's financial statements up to Cotober 10,
2022, the date the financial statements were available to be issued

Frown Augus 1, 202210 Oétober 10, 2022, the Sub-Fund received LS. 530,702 of Unit subsergptions, paid 1.5, 51,554,591 of Usnit
redemplions and paid distributions totaling U5, $306,034,
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2023 11

19,719,623.68

2,900,165,055

186,379.59

27,410,846

19,533,244.09

2,872,754,208

2,273,780
8.59 1,263
2023 11
5,565,484.38 542,356,453
52,602.05 5,126,070
5,512,882.33 537,230,383
637,860
8.64 842
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2023 Partners® capital attributable to
AllianceBernstein Unitholders 43.14 6,453
283,971,597
2023 4,313,899 6,453
2022 3,932,439 5,882
2021 3,991,400 5,970
2020 3,937,831 5,890
2019 3,865,491 5,782
2018 3,940,067 5,894
2023 29
149.58
11
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CEO
CEO CEO
CEO CD&A
Form 10 K
2007 12

AXA
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2023 6,690 100
27
54
2023 29
149.58
2023
2,600
2,828
1,262
2023
2023
AB 1992 28 20,960 82.85"
1993 20,544 6.22*

1997 22 13,311 2.98"
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1992 27 5,409 6.56"

80

1994 25 2,940 6.57"
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131

23 103

2023 11 30
147.07
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12 31
2022 2021

1,130,143 166,210 1,285,700 189,088

1,511,916 1,503,554 1,522,431 223,904 1,503,957 221,187

112,226 16,505 65,897 9,601

1,881,496 276,712 2,059,842 302,941

AB 314,247 46,216 340,158 50,027

127,040 18,684 185,653 27,304

47,870 7,040 63,839 9,389

169,648 24,950 209,579 30,823

19,751 2,905 90,326 13,284

516,536 75,967 613,025 90,158

44,424 6,533 30,461 4,480

189,258 27,834 169,175 24,881

3,598,591 529,245 3,001,763 454,706

310,203 45,622 41,531 6,108

52,250 7,684 74,899 11,015

371,898 54,695 421,980 62,061

551,351 81,087 - -

179,568 26,409 262,303 38,577

11,138,931 1,638,203 10,510,088 1,545,719

389,828 57,332 265,957 39,114

- - 3,828 563

3,322,903 488,699 3,603,558 529,975

AB 162,291 23,868 94,962 13,966

247,309 36,372 38,260 5,627

173,466 25,512 219,047 32,215

427,479 62,869 490,735 72,172

55,529 8,167 87,000 12,795

415,878 61,163 369,649 54,364

990,000 145,599 755,000 111,038

107,952 15,877 _ _

6,292,635 925,458 5,927,996 871,830

14

368,656 54,218 421,169 61,941

45,985 6,763 42,850 6,302

285,979,913 271,453,043 4,648,113 683,598 4,336,211 637,727
(4,270) (628) (8.333) (1,226)
AB (95,318) (14,018) (119,470) (17,570)
(129,477) (19,042) (90, 335) (13,286)

AB 4,465,033 656,672 4,160,923 611,947

12,607 1,854 — —

4,477,640 658,527 4,160,923 611,947

11,138,931 1,638,203 10,510,088 1,545,719
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12 31
2022 2021 2020
2,971,038 436,951 3,194,524 469,819 2,595,436 381,711
416,273 61,221 452,017 66,478 459,744 67,615
607,195 89,300 652,240 95,925 529,781 77,915
123,001 18,103 38,734 5,697 50,923 7,489
(102,413) (15,062) (636) 94) (16,401) (2,412)
105,544 15,522 108,409 15,944 104,703 15,399
4,120,728 606,035 4,445,288 653,769 3,724,186 547,716
66,438 9,771 3,686 542 15,650 2,302
4,054,290 596,264 4,441,602 653,226 3,708,536 545,414
1,666,636 245,112 1,716,013 252,374 1,494,198 219,752
629,572 92,591 708,117 104,143 569,283 83,724
34,762 5,112 34,364 5,054 27,355 4,023
215,556 31,702 197,486 29,044 189,787 27,912
641,635 94,365 555,608 81,713 491,070 72,222
6,563 965 2,710 399 1,855 273
17,906 2,633 5,145 757 6,180 909
26,564 3,907 5,697 838 21,372 3,143
3,239,194 476,388 3,225,140 474,321 2,801,100 411,958
815,096 119,876 1,216,462 178,905 907,436 133,457
39,639 5,830 62,728 9,225 45,653 6,714
775,457 114,046 1,153,734 169,680 861,783 126,742
(56,356) (8,288) 5,111 752 (4,169) (613)
831,813 122,335 1,148,623 168,928 865,952 127,356
3.01 443 4.18 615 3.19 469
3.01 443 4.18 615 3.19 469
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12 31
2022 2021 2020

) ) ( ) ( ) ) )
775,457 114,046 1,153,734 169,680 861,783 126,742
(47,208) (6,943) (7.839) (1,153) 23,882 3,512
_ — 4,458 656 (216) (32)
(47,208) (6,943) (12,297) (1,809) 24,098 3,544
1,215 179 457 67 (854) (126)
(45,993) (6,764) (11,840) (1,741) 23,244 3,418
24 4 24 4 24 4
6,922 1,018 15,743 2,315 (4,280) (629)
6,946 1,022 15,767 2,319 (4,256) (626)
(95) (14) (59) (9) (187) (28)
6,851 1,008 15,708 2,310 (4,443) (653)
(39,142) (5,757) 3,868 569 18,801 2,765
(56, 356) (8,288) 5,111 752 (4,169) (613)
792,671 116,578 1,152,491 169,497 884,753 130,121
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12 31
2022 2021 2020
( ) ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )

42,850 6,302 41,776 6,144 41,225 6,063
8,318 1,223 11,486 1,689 8,660 1,274
(10,715) (1,576) (10,605) (1,560) (8,376) (1,232)
25 4 117 17 23) ®)

(385) 7 76 11 290 43

AB 5,892 867 _ _ _ _
45,985 6,763 42,850 6,302 41,776 6,144
4,336,211 637,727 4,229,485 622,030 4,174,201 613,900
823,495 121,111 1,137,137 167,239 857,292 126,082
(1,059,105) (155,763)  (1,049,287) (154,319) (828,503) (121,848)
2,521 3n 11,586 1,704 (2,147) (316)
(38,286) (5,631) 7,290 1,072 28,642 4,212

AB 583,277 85,783 _ _ _ _
4,648,113 683,598 4,336,211 637,727 4,229,485 622,030
(8.333) (1,226) (8.316) (1.223) (9,011) (1,325)

607 89 941 138 802 118
3,456 508 (958) (141) (107) (16)
(4,270) (628) (8.333) (1,226) (8.316) (1,223)
(119,470) (17,570) (57,219) (8.415) (76,310) (11,223)
(210,568) (30,968) (261,825) (38,507) (148,624) (21,858)
40,346 5,934 (7,348) (1,081) (28,696) (4,220)
198,783 29,235 215,484 31,691 194,840 28,655
(4,240) (624) (9,690) (1,425) 1,556 229
(169) (25) 1,128 166 15 2
(95,318) (14,018) (119,470) (17,570) (57,219) (8,415)
(90,335) (13,286) (94,203) (13,854) (113,004) (16,619)
(45,993) (6,764) (11,840) (1,741) 23,244 3,418
6,851 1,008 15,708 2,310 (4,443) (653)
(129,477) (19,042) (90,335) (13,286) (94,203) (13,854)
4,465,033 656,672 4,160,923 611,947 4,111,523 604,682
12,607 1,854 _ _ _ _
12,607 1,854 — - - _
4,477,640 658,527 4,160,923 611,947 4,111,523 604,682
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12 31
2022 2021 2020
( ) ( ) ( ) ) ( ) )
775,457 114,046 1,153,734 169,680 861,783 126,742
34,762 5,112 34,364 5,054 27,355 4,023
199,390 29,324 216,425 31,830 195,642 28,773
66,617 9,797 44,985 6,616 61,028 8,975
40,857 6,009 4,454 655 10,405 1,530
73,194 10,765 1,882 277 (854) (126)
99,861 14,687 98,773 14,527 98,798 14,530
7,400 1,088 - - _ _
14,604 2,148 22,580 3,321 (2,914) (429)
(18,474) 2.717) 249,521 36,697 (658,612) (96,862)
35,410 5,208 (360,789) (53,061) (182,684) (26,867)
(10,331) (1,519) (27,000) (3,971) 7,597 1,117
23,295 3,426 (312,325) (45,934) 279,276 41,073
(12,113) (1,781) (45,197) (6,647) (55,125) (8,107)
(5,487) (807) (6,578) (967) 69,160 10,171
(45,432) (6,682) 38,161 5,612 7,169 1,054
110,112 16,194 214,139 31,493 861,502 126,701
(8.424) (1,239) 35,877 5,276 10,666 1,569
(150,285) (22,102) 50,545 7,434 46,885 6,895
(109,182) (16,057) (114,769) (16,879) (115,656) (17,010)
1,121,231 164,899 1,298,782 191,012 1,521,421 223,755
_ _ _ _ (4,079) (600)
(62,308) (9,164) (61,931) (9,108) (41,504) (6,104)
40,282 5,924 (3,793) (558) (13,552) (1,993)
(22,026) (3,239) (65,724) (9,666) (59, 135) (8,697)
235,000 34,561 80,000 11,766 115,000 16,913
(25,411) (3.737) 16,192 2,381 (12,633) (1,858)
(1,069,820) (157,338)  (1,059,892)  (155,878) (836,879) (123,080)
3,843 565 313,699 46,136 (219,033) (32,213)
1,590 234 (2,346) (345) (867) (128)
AB
AB
178 26 3,402 500 147 22
AB D) (210,568) (30,968) (261,825) (38,507) (148,624) (21,858)
(42,661) (6,274) - - _ _
(2,131) (313) (2,186) (321) 306 45
(1,109,980) (163,245) (912,956)  (134,268)  (1,102,583) (162,157)
(56,234) (8,270) (17,982) (2,645) 23,032 3,387
(67,009) (9,855) 302,120 44,433 382,735 56,289
1,376,026 202,372 1,073,906 157,939 691,171 101,651
1,309,017 192,517 1,376,026 202,372 1,073,906 157,939
78,434 11,535 5,263 774 18,858 2,773
55,473 8,158 55,656 8,185 59,791 8,793
2022 2021 2020
4,080 280
60 1,085,141 159,592 13,235 1,946 18,389 2,704
5,072 746 - - - -
296,750 43,643 1,642 241 437 64
13,191 1,940 - - _ _
231,385 34,030 7,800 1,147 4,400 647
589,169 86,649 - - _ _

206/343



AB

account

ESG

ESG

AB

ESG

207/343

EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AB

EQH
separately-managed



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 12 31 EQH
AB
3.5 EQH
AB AB
AB
100,000 AB
2022 12 31
AB
EQH 59.9
AB 39.4
0.7
100.0
AB AB
EQH 2022 12 31 AB 61.3
2.
GAAP
AB AB
VIE VOE
2022
AB
AB

ASC 606

AUM

AUM
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AUM
AB
AUM
2022 4 AB EURONEXT - SCGLY SocGen
BRS
24
2
12b-1
12b-1
30
NAV 12b-1
NAV

12b-1
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NAV
NAV

2022 12 31

(i)

VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE

VOE
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VOE VOE
VIE VOE
2022 2021 12 31 2 6,710
2,340
2022 2021 12 31
2022 2021 12 31
2022 12 31
2021 12 31 2021 12 31
1 1,490 2022 2021 12 31
2022 2021 12 31

AB

AB

AB
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100%

AB
2022 7 1 AB
100% AB
AB
2022 11 22 AB SocGen
BRS
1 5,980
€Y @
24
2022 12 31
6 6,610 2000
9,190 1 5,980
1 1 9 30
1
2022 9 30
2022 4 AB SocGen
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30 90
360
24
AB
2022 3
AB AB
AB
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2022 2021
560 100
6 2 2,890
9 24 2022
2021 2020 4 60
140 2016
24
5 20
5 10 3 300
24
2022 12 31 3 1,020
2 9,500
1,520
2021 12 31 4,150
2,630
1,520
2022 12 31 3 2,790 2021 12 31
5,380 2022 12 31 3,290 2021 12 31 2,750
2022 2,660 2021 570 2020 2,140 1 3
4,700 4 4,600 5 2,500
2022 4 2014 CPH
560 2021 2020 4 2016

100 150
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2022
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2022 12 31
1 800
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1
2021 2022
2020 12 AB
250,000
AB
2022 2021

AB

AB AB
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(vi)
5 5,140
50
100,000
100
2020
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AB
AB 3
AB
AB
AB
AB
2022 2021 12 31
AB
AB
AB
AB
)]
1934
18 AB
AB
2022 4
2022
2022
700 AB
340
2022 2021 AB
10 AB

20

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB
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340
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AB
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AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
AB AB
AB AB
AB AB
AB
12 31
2022 2021
5.2 5.6
211.8 262.3
2.3 2.6
1 92.7 117.9
10b5-1 10b-
SEC
AB
AB 12
2021
12 2021
AB
5,774
AB
AB
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AB AB

2023 2 8
2022 12 31
1
2023 2 21

2022 2021
3.87

Us$
2022 2021 2020
330
AB
AB
AB 1 0.77
3
1
2023 3 16
2020
3.86 3.08
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us$
Us$
1,020
AB
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1
1
1



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

SEC
3.
2022 2021 2020 12 31
12 31
2022 2021 2020
2,825,791 2,949,405 2,462,810
145,247 245,119 132,626
416,273 452,017 459,744
290,740 350,674 331,268
12b-1 69,041 83,920 75,973
247,414 217,646 122,540
86,661 90,225 82,317
18,120 16,034 21,240
4,099,287 4,405,040 3,688,518
56,653 35,048 35,273
(102,413) (636) (16,401)
763 2,150 1,146
(44,997) 36,562 20,018
4,054,290 4,441,602 3,708,536
4.
99
99
12 31
2022 2021 2020
AB 831,813 1,148,623 865,952
273,943 271,729 269,058
AB
1 11 27
273,944 271,740 269,085
AB 3.01 4.18 3.19
AB 3.01 4.18 3.19
12 31
2022 2021 2020
- - 29,056
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5.
2022 2021 12 31 15¢3-3 15
6.
12 31
2022 2021
21,055 32,237
138,012 133,992
1 - 18,243
1 - 1,893
26,815 31,602
15,711 19,318
7,750 21,024
8,175 15,109
217,518 273,418
@ 2022 12 31
24
2022 2021 12 31 4,790
6,380
2009
AB
VIE
VOE
15
2022 2021 12 31 960
7,900
2022 2021 12 31 ASC 321-10
12 31
2022 2021

(23,855) 19,240
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2022 2021 12 31
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17,960 23,697
(41,815) (4,457)
ASC 815-10
2022 2021 12 31
154,687 1,768 162 19,994
34,597 4,446 5,047 1,965
16,847 386 262 70
225,671 17,507 7,302 (1,000)
28,742 605 933 14,828
50,000 - 6 5,211
510,544 24,712 13,712 41,068
131,876 392 1,186 (5,072)
66,058 7,344 6,980 1,746
13,483 497 833 (316)
155,757 6,594 6,967 (2,914)
63,817 595 527 (6,433)
50,000 - 430 (309)
480,991 15,422 16,923 (13,298)
2022 2021 12 31
840 290
1SDA

1SDA
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420

2021 12

222/343

EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUM
2022 2021 12 31
560
24
2021 12 31 280
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15
2022 2021 12 31
2022 12 31
1 62,063 - 62,063 (62,058) - 5
24,712 - 24,712 - (8,361) 16,351
1 _ _ - - - -
2021 12 31
19,899 - 19,899 (18,327) - 1,572
15,422 - 15,422 - (2,872) 12,550
1,893 - 1,893 - - 1,893
2022 2021 12 31
2022 12 31
1 272,580 - 272,580 (267,053) 5,527
13,712 - 13,712 - (4,158) 9,554
1 _ _ - - - -
2021 12 31
23,911 - 23,911 (23,373) - 538
16,923 - 16,923 - (5,572) 11,351
2,774 - 2,774 - - 2,774

@) 2022 12 31
24
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15
NAV
2
95,521 - - - - 95,521
- 1,521,705 - - - 1,521,705
1,768 22,944 - - - 24,712
129,655 27,799 129 1,484 - 159,067
- - - - 42,526 42,526
- - - - 7,750 7,750
6,689 - - - 1,486 8,175
136,344 27,799 129 1,484 51,762 217,518
233,633 1,572,448 129 1,484 51,762 1,859,456
162 13,550 - - - 13,712
- - 247,309 - - 247,309
162 13,550 247,309 - - 261,021
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NAV
2
2021 12 31
151,156 - - - - 151,156
- 1,503,828 - - - 1,503,828
392 15,030 - - - 15,422
144,917 39,284 126 145 - 184,472
1,893 - - - - 1,893
3 - - - - 50,920 50,920
4 - - - - 21,024 21,024
9,094 - - - 6,015 15,109
155,904 39,284 126 145 77,959 273,418
307,452 1,558,142 126 145 77,959 1,943,824
1,054 - - - - 1,054
2,774 - - - - 2,774
1,186 15,737 - - - 16,923
- - 38,260 - - 38,260
5,014 15,737 38,260 - - 59,011
@ 2022 12 31
24
@) NAV
(3) GAAP
4) GAAP
1
2022 2021 12 31 670 910
(1) 2022
2021 12 31 30 (ii)GAAP 2022
3 2021 12 31 290
(iii) GAAP 2022 2021 12 31
120 280
[ ]
o 15c3-3
o NAV
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2022 3

3.9 31.5

4.1 4.6
2022 12 31
11.5
1.9
2021 12 31
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2022 12 31
AUM
12 31
2022 2021
126 125
3 1
129 126
12 31
2022 2021
38,260 27,750
231,385 7,800
6,563 3,310
- (600)
(28,899) -
247,309 38,260
2 2,890 24
0 6 5,000 2027 12 31 6
14.1
4.2
2.0 83.9
AUM
10.4 4.5
2.0 83.9 11.9
AUM
7.0
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10.

2022 2021

11.

2022 2021

CDSC

2022 2021
2,740

2023
2024
2025
2026

12 31

2020 12 31
3,970 3,880

12 31

2020 12 31
CDSC

3,920
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12 31
2022 2021
605,567 584,161
323,982 301,036
929,549 885,197
(740,291) (716,022)
189,258 169,175
12 31
2022 2021
172,181 177,233
(66,184) (53,976)
(53,747) (48,358)
52,250 74,899
3,480 3,440
2022 12 31
28,683
17,848
5,309
410
52,250




12.
AB 8
2026 10 13
AB
SCB LLC
SCB LLC
2022 12 31
AB
2022 2021 12 31
EQH
AB EQH EQH
EQH 2024 11 AB
EQH AB
EQH AB
EQH
EQH
EQH
2022 2021 12 31 AB  EQH 4.3
5,500 2022 2021  EQH
6 5,520 4 460 1.7%
EQH
EQH AB  EQH
EQH 2024 9 1
EQH
EQH EQH
2022 12 31 EQH
2022 EQH 1
4.3% 2021
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AB

2
AB
c
AB SCB LLC
AB
/
2022 2021
EQH
AB
0.2% 9 7
1
0.2%
EQH
4.3% 9,000
70



2022

AB

SCB

SCBLLC

12 31

0.9%

13.

2010

2022
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2021 12 31
2022 2021 1
1 8,990 1 5,700 1.5% 0.2%
2
2021 11 16 2021 1 1,330
1.1%
5 4 3 1,500
AB
AB SCBLLC 2022 2021
SCBLLC 2022 2021
140 47,000 3.7%
15
100
2021 12 31
2002 12 31 2021 12 31
360,092 414,105
415,539 482,781
18,116 10,947
(6,310) (3,072)
11,806 7,875

11,940 7,954
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2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
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2021 12 31

@

20
3 9,300
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2022 12 31 2021 12 31

97,198 97,466

3,860 2,355

200 107

4,060 2,462

40,552 39,827

(34,420) (37,317)

107,390 102,438

97,489 4,169 101,658

104,596 3,258 107,854

37,319 2,828 40,147

35,808 1,810 37,618

32,821 324 33,145

146,319 - 146,319

454,352 12,389 466,741
(38,813) (449)
415,539 11,940

166,000 2024

7.35
3.47

2.69%
2.10%
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14.

2022 12 31 2021 12 31
)
38,875 82,379
7,791 7,782
@)
13
IT 2022 12 31
2023 107.6 (31.9) 75.7
2024 108.9 (30.9) 78.0
2025 58.3 - 58.3
2026 55.7 - 55.7
2027 51.3 - 51.3
2028 487.7 - 487.7
869.5 (62.8) 806.7
13
2022 12 14
4 AB
2016 12 14
1974
ERISA

AB

AB
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2,500 2022 12
2014
]
11 2020
2,160
15.
VIE
VIE
AB
2022 2021 12 31 6,180

31

2,730
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2,240
1

2022 12 31

AB AB

2022 12 31 2021 12 31
19,751 90,326
516,536 613,025
44,424 30,461
580,711 733,812
55,529 87,000
368,656 421,169
156,526 225,643
580,711 733,812

5
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2022 2021 12 31
2022 12 31
129,706 386,830 - 516,536
1,529 6,023 - 7,552
131,235 392,853 - 524,088
14,932 6,608 - 21,540
14,932 6,608 - 21,540
2021 12 31
165,415 444,253 3,357 613,025
622 5,265 - 5,887
166,037 449,518 3,357 618,912
16,291 2,051 - 18,342
16,291 2,051 - 18,342
12 31
2022 2021
3,357 619
(3,351) (717)
®) (205)
248 3,675
(248) G}
- 3
- 11)
- 3,357
2022 2021 12 31 VIE 1,400 1,250
2022 2021 12 31
940 70
2022 2021 12 31 VIE 270

90
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2022 2021 12 31 VIE 540
180 VIE

2022 2021 12 31
2022 12 31

7,552 - 7,552 - (2,731) 4,821
2021 12 31

5,887 - 5,887 - (904) 4,983
2022 2021 12 31
2022 12 31

21,540 - 21,540 - (5,444) 16,096
2021 12 31

18,342 - 18,342 - (1,824) 16,518

VIE
2022 12 31 VIE 464
VIE 570 VIE
5,420 2021 12 31 VIE 689
VIE 880 VIE

7,570
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16.
SCBLLC
SEC SCB LLC
100 2%
2022 12 31 SCB LLC 3 2,310 3,820
2 8,490 SCB LLC SEC
2022 12 31
4,540 560
5,100
ABI
SEC
2022 12 31 ABI 5,350 30
5,320
2022 12 31

17.

235/343



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

236/343



18.
2022 2021
840
2008 12 31
ERISA
2023
2015 12 31

1,750

1,650

2020

2000 10

2022

1,560
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2022 2021 2020
1,020 980
12 31
2022 2021
141,862 151,124
3,958 3,794
(4,524) (5,803)
(37,839) (4,447)
(2,977) (2,806)
100,480 141,862
130,939 125,022
(27,448) 14,526
(4,524) (5,803)
(2,977) (2,806)
95,990 130,939
(4,490) (10,923)

65
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2022 2021 2020
2022 2021 2020
6,519 15,858 (4,089)
24 24 24
6,543 15,882 (4,065)
(33) 87 (216)
6,510 15,795 (4,281)
2022 650 3,870
170 100
3,400 50
40
2021 1,580
820 560 200
150 100 20
2020 430 1,670
1,040 100
140 40
AB AB
2022
ocl
ocl
( )
6,519 107 296 6,922
24 - - 24
6,543 107 296 6,946
(33) - (62) (99)
6,510 107 234 6,851
2022 2021 12 31
2022 2021
( )
(37,249) (43,768)
(659) (683)
(37,908) (44,451)
177 210
(37,731) (44,241)
27.9

24,000 100
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2022 2021 12 31 1 50 1 4,190
2022 2021 12 31 5.50%
2.90%
2023 10,121
2024 6,767
2025 8,058
2026 7,865
2027 8,743
2028 2032 38,404
12 31
2022 2021 2020
3,958 3,794 4,443
(6,591) (6,351) (6,084)
24 24 24
1,678 2,024 -
1,042 1,447 1,386
111 938 (231)
12 31
2022 2021 2020
2.90% 2.55% 3.35%
5.25% 5.25% 5.50%
5.25
2022 12 31 MP-2021 2021
2021 MP-2020
Pri-2012
IRS 2022
2023 IRS
2006 RP-2014 MP-2021 2023
12 31
2022 2021
46% 52%
42 38
12 10
100% 100%
10 35% 24%

15 40% 27% 5 35% 10% 10 35%
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21% 5 35% 18%
2022 2021 12 31
2022 12 31
1,441 - - 1,441
STRIPS - 15,634 - 15,634
2,149 - - 2,149
- 22,478 - 22,478
26,074 - - 26,074
10,928 219 - 11,147
40,592 38,331 - 78,923
- - - 17,067
40,592 38,331 - 95,990
2021 12 31
47 - - 47
STRIPS - 32,355 - 32,355
17,477 - - 17,477
43,786 - - 43,786
14,801 - - 14,801
76,111 32,355 - 108,466
- - - 22,473
76,111 32,355 - 130,939
2022 2021
o STRIPS
o 2022 2021
2022 2021
2021

o 2022 2021
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° u.S
10
[ ]
o 2022 2021 2
/
19.
2022 2021 2020 1 6,430 1
8,410 1 7,740 2022 2021 2020 12 31
1 6,010 1 7,340 1 7,680
2017 30 2017 29 AB
2017 AB 2017 2017
i AB AB
AB ii AB
iii AB AB
2017
i ii
i AB
iv AB
AB 2017 2027 30
2017 2017 AB
6,000 3,000 AB
2022 12 31 AB 29,795,964 AB
2017 2017 9 30
2010 AB
2022 12 31 30,204,036 AB
2017 AB
2021 12 31 AB 28,109,084 AB
2017 2017 9 30
2010 AB
2021 12 31 31,890,916 AB

2017 AB
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2022 2021 2020 AB
AB 20
AB 33.3
2022
AB
2021 12 31 5,774 20.12 0.33
(5,774) 20.12
2022 12 31 - - - -
2022 12 31 - - - -
2022 12 31
2022 2021 2020 20 220
32,368
2022 2021
2020 2022 12 31
AB
2022 2021 2020 AB
AB
3 2021 4 )
AB
2022 2021 2020
30,870 35,358 50,232
38.55 44 .29 23.69
1.2 1.6 1.2
2017 4 28
AB 2021 12 31
AB
2021 2020 12 31 30 90
2022 420 2022 12
AB 380 2021
AB 40 AB
38.84 50.94
2021 350 2021 12 AB
330 2020 AB
20 AB 1 32.10 50.94
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2020 530 2020 12 AB
500 2019 AB
30 AB 1 28.75 32.10
2020 AB
4 12 1 25% 2021
3 12 1 33.3%
AB
10
2022 2021 2020
0.5 3.4 0.4
$34.86 - $49.90  $29.06 - $53.86  $18.80 - $35.42
35.0 40.9 32.1
AB
AB 2022
AB
AB
2021 12 31 18,130,740 33.98
4,709,600 40.31
(7,671,109) 32.10
(396,995) 36.15
2022 12 31 14,772,236 36.92
2022 2021 2020 AB
2 4,620 1 9,900 1 5,500 2022 12 31
AB 14,772,236
10,148,408
4,623,828 2022 12 31 AB
1 1,400

6.1

243/343



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

20.
2022 2021 12 31 AB
2022 2021
271,453,043 270,509,658
5,774 143,211
1 17,326,222 3,917,437
2 (2,805,126) (3,117,263)
12 31 285,979,913 271,453,043
() 15,321,535
@) 2022 2021 2,500 5,400 AB
21.
AB
AB 4.0 UBT
AB
AB AB
AB AB EQH
EQH
1 AB
AB AB
AB AB
AB
AB AB
12 31
2022 2021 2020
689,278 1,007,847 743,687
125,818 208,615 163,749
815,096 1,216,462 907,436
UBT 5,996 6,951 3,356
1,457 750 1,495
931 956 904
34,327 58,080 44,086
42,711 66,737 49,841
(3,072) (4,009) (4,188)
39,639 62,728 45,653

244/343



UBT

UBT

FIN 48
UBT

2017
ASC 740

UBT

2022 2021

2021
40

2022 2021

2018

2020 4

4.0
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12 31
2022 2021 2020

32,604 4.0 % 48,659 4.0% 36,297 4.0 %

1,460 0.2 1,322 0.2 2,025 0.2

32,664 4.0 43,019 3.5 33,969 3.7

i} i} - - (1,886) (0.2)

(98) - 23 - 8 -

1,089 0.1 1,003 0.1 (887) (0.1)

(1,535) (0.2) 1,492 0.1 3 -

- - - - (221) -

5,366 0.7 1,799 0.1 2,654 0.3

(5.275) (0.6) - - i} _

(26,636) (3.3)  (34,589) (2.8)  (26,309) (2.9)
39,639 4.9% 62,728 5.2% 45,653 5.0%

12 31
2022 2021 2020

2,838 2,838 5,706

i} - (2,868)

2,838 2,838 2,838

2020 12 31
2022
2020
2022 2021 12 31
2020 12 31
2017 2019 AB UBT
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2022 12 31 12 280
12 31
2022 2021

4,918 7,833

17,524 24,468

10,286 5,523

3,071 3,942

4,911 5,327

26,479 -

6,171 -

6,860 4,917

80,220 52,010

(38,110) (3.828)

42,110 48,182

10,190 7,622

- 4,084

4,191 4,490

2,808 2,075

17,189 18,271

24,921 29,911

2022 12 31 3,810
2021 12 31 380
NOL
2022 2021 12 31 NOL 3,030
5,510 5
2022 12 31 2,960

620
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2022 2021
12 31
2022 2021 2020
659,983 587,017 512,914
2,000,908 2,223,829 1,811,948
1,004,003 1,126,142 882,672
416,273 452,017 459,744
39,561 56,283 56,908
4,120,728 4,445,288 3,724,186
66,438 3,686 15,650
4,054,290 4,441,602 3,708,536
2022 2021 2020
2,381,958 2,558,592 2,106,636
1,672,332 1,883,010 1,601,900
4,054,290 4,441,602 3,708,536
4,067,991 3,331,572
72,466 45,796
4,140,457 3,377,368
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23.
12 31
2022 2021 2020
1,452,885 1,644,757 1,368,484
590,580 637,076 516,336
79,167 85,745 79,394
8,366 8,364 8,314
- 2 3
2,130,998 2,375,944 1,972,531
EQH
EQH EQH
EQH EQH
EQH
12
12 31 EQH
EQH
2022 2021 2020

148,377 133,074 115,901
688 675 1,330
149,065 133,749 117,231
3,897 4,550 3,952
2,882 2,373 2,281
14,069 3,953 5,463
20,848 10,876 11,696

7,732 8,607

385 545

EQH (4,206) (1,534)

EQH (990,000) (755,000)

(986,080)  (747,382)
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770 1,120
24.
2022 7 1 AB 100%
122 2022 7 1 AB
100% AB AB
AB AB 320
1,210 4 5,640 2022 11 1
2022 7 1 2022 3
AB AB 100% AB
2027 12 31 6 AB
2,890 AB
AB
1 5,610
510
5

3 300
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AB

AB

1 3,280
2022 11 1
10- Q

1,530

AB
AB

6 6,610
10

AUM

AB

5 8,920
AB
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2022 4

AB 589,169
228,885
818,054

40,777
82,523
947
2,464
16,482
10,600
5,073
303,000
666,130
1,127,996

(17,793)
(219,726)
(42,661)
(16,571)
(13,191)
(309,942)

818,054

2022

2022 11 22 AB SocGen

2023 AB 49% SocGen 51%
5 100% AB

740
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2022 12 31

159,123

44,717
29,243
22,988
24,507

4,128
107,764
1,552
4,903

159,826
(7,400)

551,351

32,983
10,232
50,884
13,853
107,952

2022 12 31
1 5,910
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Partll

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition

ears Ended December 31

I
{in thousands,
wcepl il amoantil
ASSETS
Cagh and cash equivilents 5 g 1,285,700
Cash and securilies segregabed at fair value (cost 51.511.916 and 51.503.554) 1503957
Receivables, net
Brokers and dealers B5.897
Brokerage dienls 1 2058642
AB funds Tees 340,158
Crihar fees 185,653
Investrments
Lonig-term incentive compensation-relaled ] 63830
Orihar 169 545 208,579
Assels of consciidated company-sponscred imeestiment funds:
Cash and cash equivalents 19,754 90,326
Irvggimients 516,53 613025
Other assels dad 424 30,461
Furmiture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 169,175
Gaodwll 3081, 763
Intargitie assels. net 41,531
Defisted sales commissions, net 74,859
Right-of-use assets 421 880
Assets held Tor sale =
Oher assets 2230
Total assets 5 § 1050088

252/343
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Tatiw of Contants
Par Il
Years Ended December 14
{in thewsands,
eacept Wil amounts)
LIABILITMIES, REDEEMAELE NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST AND CAPITAL
Liabiities:
Payables
Brokors and deslers 5 Je9.828 % 285957
Securites sobd mol yel purchased B3
Brokarage dients 3322803 3.803,558
AB mutual funds 1 94,062
Contingent consideration lisbility 38,2680
Accounts payable and socnued expenses 219047
Leass liabidites 490,735
Liabikities of consalidaled company-sponsored investmeant funds 7,000
Accrued compensation and benefits 369649
Dbt 755,000
Liabilities hedd for sale 107 952 -
Total liakilities 6,252 835 5,927,098
Comiritments and contingendes [See Nole 14)
Redaernable non-controlling indenest of consclidated entities TER 56 421169
Capital:
General Paniner 45,985 42,650
Lirmited panners: 285,978,913 and 271,453,043 units is50ed and culstanding 4548113 433821
Receivables from affiliates 2700 {8.333)
AB Helding Unsts held Tor long-berm incentive compensaton plans. [119.470)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss {80.335)
Partners’ capital attributable to AB Unitholders 4485033 4,160,823
Mon-redeemable non-contnalling interests in consolidated entities 12607 -_
Total capital 4477 840 4,180,823
Total liabilities, non-controlling interest and capital § 11438831 § 10510088

Sea Accompamying Mabes to Consolidated Finandal Statements

&2 AllianceBermsiein
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Tabie of Contants

Partll

AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31

{in thowsands, xcept per unit amounts )

Revenues.
Irvestrment advisory and services fees 5 5 31845M 5 259543
Bermstein research services 452017 450,744
Disfribution revenues G52 240 529,781
Dividend and inlerast income BT 50,923
Irverstment (losses | (636} {16.401)
Orther revenues 108,409 104,703
Tatal revenues 4,445 788 3 T24185
Less; interes! expense 3,656 15,650
el revenues 4.0 4,441 802 3,708,538
Expenses:
Erployes compensation and benelils 1,656,626 1,716,013 1,494,158
Fromoticn and senddng
DCaswrbution-redated payments TR 117 569,283
Amorsization of defermed sales commisRons 84 27,355
Trade execution, marketing, TAE and other 197 485 189, 7E7
General and adminisiative 555,808 491,070
Contingent payment amangements 2710 1,655
Interest on bomowings 5.145 G180
Amoriizaton of infangible assets 26,584 5,697 1,372
Tolal expenses 3230, 154 3.225.140 2.801,100
Crperating income 815,086 1,216,462 07 A
Income tax 38,629 E2.728 45683
Neat income TTEAST 1153734 851,783
het [loss) income of consolidale] entities attnbutable (o non-contnglling nlerests (56,355} 5mM {4, 183)
Met income attributable 1o AB Unitholders 5 B8l 5 1143623 8 855952
Nirt income par AB Unit:
Bagic 5 i 5 418 8 319
Diiluted 5 amm 5 418 5 318
See Accomparrying Mates to Conschdated Finandal Statements
2077 Anrual Repost 63
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Tabie of Contants

Part I

AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years Ended December 31

{in thousands)
Net income ] TEAST 85 11537 S5 851, T3
Ofher comprefsensive inCome:
Forsign cumency transiation adpesiments, bifors reclassification and tax (47, 208) (7,835} 23,882
Less: reclassification adjustment for gains (losses) induded in net income upon liquedation - 4458 {216)
Forgign cumency transiation adusiments. before lax (47 308) | 12,287} 24058
Income tax benefit (expense) 1,215 457 {854]
Foredgn cumency transiation adsiments, ned of fax [45 993) {11,840} 23,244
Changes in empityes benefit related ifems:
AmOMEaon of pror Sendoe oost 24 24 24
Recognized acluanial gain [loss) B,92] 15.743 (4280}
Chaenges in employes benedt related lems 6.546 15,767 {4.256)
Income tax {expense) {351 1520 (187}
Employes benelit related items. net of tax 8,851 15,708 (4,443}
Ofhir comprehersive (1055} gain [39.142) 3868 18.801
Less: Comprehensivi (1055) inoome in consolidated entities atiibutable to non-coniraling
mnlerests |56.356) 5111 {4.1849)
Comprohansive income attributable to AR Unitholders 3 TILET 5 115040 5 B TE
See Accompanying Mates to Consclidated Finandal Stalements
B4 AllianceBemstein
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Tatiw of Contants
Partll
AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Partners’ Capital
Years Ended December 1
I I T
fin thousands)
General Partner's Capital
Balancae, beginning of year H 42850 % MTTE § 41,225
Ml income 3,318 11,486 8660
Cash distributions to General Partner (10,7153 {10.605) (8376}
Long-term incentive compensation plans acivly 25 17 {23}
{Retirerment) issuance of AB Lnits, net | 385) 76 200
Issuance of AB Units for Caral acquisiion 5,80 — —
Balance, end of year 45,985 42,850 41,778
Limited Parnors' Capital
Balance, baginning of year 4,338,211 4,233,485 4,174,201
Het income -] 1137437 B57.292
Cash distnbutions b Unisholders (1,048, 287) (828.503)
Long-term incentive compensation plans acthity 11,566 {2147}
(Retirerment) issuance of AR Lirits. ned 7.290 28642
Issuancd of AB Linits for Carvial acquisition BE3.277 - -
Balanca, end of yoar 4,648,113 4,336,211 4,229,485
Receivablea from Afflliatas
Balanca, beginning of year (8.333) (B, 316) 19,011}
Long-term incenthve compensation avwards expendgs BOT 41 anz
Capital contributions from (o) AB Helding 3.456 (958) (107}
Balarca, snd of year (4.270) (B,333) [B.316)
AB Holding Units held for Long-tarm | neentive Compensation Plans
Balanca, beginning of year (118.470) (57,219) {TE.310)
Purchases of AB Holding Linits 1o fund long-ténm compensabon plans, net {210 528} (261,825) (148,624}
Refrement (Issuance) of AB Urits, ned 356 {7, 348) (28,606)
Loong-term incentive compensation awands sxpense 215,484 194,840
Re-valuaion of AB Holding Units hedd in rabbs trust {9,650 1,556
bt 1,128 15
Balance, snd of year (115,470) (57,219)
Accumulated Other Comprahensive (Loss)
Balance, beginning of year i@ |84, 2003 (113,004}
Foreign currency franslation adjusiment, net of tax 4 {11.540) 23244
Chisnges in employes beneht related items, nel of fax 5.851 16.708 (4.443)
Balance, end of year {128477) (90,235) (54, 200)
Total Partners” Capital atfributable to AB Unitholders 4 485032 4,160,923 4,111,523
Hoenvedesmabla Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Entitles
Balance, beginning of year - = —
Cariiel acquisiion 12,507 - -
Balanca, and of yaar 12,6807 _ -
Tatal Capital ¥ 4A7T 8B40 3 4,160,923 ] 4,111,523

See Accompanying Mates 1o Consoldated Finencial Statements

&5 AllianceBermitein
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Tatiw of Confants
Partll
AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Wears Ended December 31
T
§in thousamds)
Cash flows from operating activities
Mt income 5 Tr5457 3 11537Tm 0§ 861,783
Adustments 1o meooncle ned income o nel cash provided by operating activites:
Amorfization of deferred sales commissions 24,782 34,364 27355
MNon-cash long-term incenive compensalion expense 216425 195,642
Depreciation and ofher amorizetion 44,955 61,028
Unrealized losses on imestments 4,454 10,4065
Unrealized losses (gains) on invesiments of consolidated company-sponsoned
inrEsment funds 1,882 {1854)
MNon-cash lease expense 98,773 48 78
Loss om assels held for sale — —
Chwr, ro 2580 {2814)
Changes in assets and liatlites:
(Increshge) decraass in Secunbes, segregaled 18,474 249521 {E58.812)
Decrease (increase) in receivables 5410 {360.789) {182, 684)
(Incresase) decrease in investmenis (27000 75087
Decrease (increase ) i investments. of consclidated company-sponscoed imesiment
Tunds 23295 (312.325) 270276
(increase) in defemed sales commissions (12,113 [&5,197) (55,125)
(Increase) decrease in other assets (5,487 ) [6.578) B9, 160
(Incresse) decrease in other assets and lishilities of consdidated company-sponsoned
invesiment funds, ned 45,8025 38,161 7,169
Increase in payables 110,112 214138 861,502
(Decrease ) increase i aocounts payable and socnsed expenses [8.424) 35877 10666
[Decrease) incrisise in sccnaed compensation and benefits 150.285) 50,545 46 845
Cash payments 1o refieve operating leass liabilites {109, 152) {114,7649) {115.656)
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,121,231 1,288,782 1,521,421
Cash lows from investing activiles
Purchases of equity method investments — {4.073)
Purcheses of fumiture, equiprment and leasehold improvements (62.308) [61.8931) (41,504)
Acquisition of businesses, nef of cash acquired 40, 282 (2.793) (13,552)
Net cash usad in investing activities {22.026) (65 T24) {59,138)
Cash Nows from financing actihilies.
Procedds from deb!, net 235000 20,000 115000
{Decreasa | increase in overdrafis payable 25,411) 16,192 {12633)
Disiributions to Genersl Partner and Unitholders (1,055 832) (836.879)
Subscriptions [redemptions ) of non-controling interests of consolidated company-
sponsored investment funds, et 3 B43 213,689 {219.033)
Capital contributions from (o) afilates 1,580 [2.348) (BET)
Addiional irmvestments by AR Holding with procisds from euercise of compensatany
oplions fo buy AB Holding Liniis: 178 3,402 147
Purehases of AR Holding Uinits to fund long-lem incentive compensation plan swands,
it 210.568) (261 825) (148,624)
Penyrnent of goquision-refated debt obligation (42661 ) — —
Otheer, ned (2131 (2.186) 06
Nut cash used in financing activities (1,109,980} {912,858) (1,102,583}
Effect of exchange rale changés on cash and cash equivalents 56.23) (17882 23032
Net {decraase) increase in cash and cash equivalents (67,008 302,120 382,TIS
Cash and cash equivalents as of beginning of the perdod 1,376,026 1,073,906 531,171
Cash and cash eqguivalents as of end of the period § 13807 0§ 13TE02E 1,073,008
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Cash paid:
| ) H TE434 § 5283 S 18658
n el 55473 55,656 SaT

Non-cash investing activities:
Fair vakee of assels acquired {exduding cash acquired of 540.8 milkon, 52 & milkon and

0.8 million, for 2022, 2021 and 2020, respecively) 13.235 18.389
Fair vaiue of deferred tax asse! recorded = —
Fair valee of kabilities assumed 1,642 437
Fir visiuntr of non-fedesmmable non-confroling intéres! recanded — —
MNon-cash financing activities:

Payables reconded under contingent payment amangements 251,335 7.800 4 400

Equity consideration issued in connection with acquisition 588 169 — —

Sea Accomparying Mates to Consolidated Finendal Statements

AllianceBemsiein
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Partll

AllianceBernstein L.P. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The words “we’ and “our” refer coliectively fo AllanceBemstain L P and fis subsidianes “AB’), or lo their officers and empiopess. Simfary, the wond
‘compamny” refers to AB. Cross-references are in Jlalics

1. Business Description and Organization
Wi provide diversified irvestment management. research and refated sendoes globaly o a broad range of dients Cur principl sendors indude:

= Institwtional Sarvices—sendicng our institutional dients, induding private and public pension plans. foundations and endowments, Insurance companies,
céntral banks and governments worldwide, and affiliales sech as Equitable Holdings. Inc. ("EQH") and its subsidianes. by means of separately managed
Bocounts, sul-advisory refationships, structured products, collective imvestment trusts, mubual funds, hedge funds and other investment vehides.

Retail Services—senvicing cur retail clients, primanity by means of retsl mutusl funds sponscred by AB or an afifisied company, sub-advisery

refationships with mutual lunds sponsored by Tind paries, separately managed actount programs sporsored by finandal inemedianes worldwide and
other investment vehicles.

Private Wealth Managemant Services—seniang our prvase dients, induding high-nel-worth indnidusals and Tamilies, nests and estates, chantable
foundations, parnerships, private and famidy coporaions, and other entibes, by means of separately managed accoents, hedge funds, mutug funds and
other investment vahicles.

Bornstein Ressarch Services—serddng instiutional investors, such as pension Tund, hedge Tund and mutual fund managers, seeking high-guakty
fundamental research, quantitative services and brokerage-related services in equities and Ested cplions.
Wiz also provide dsinbution, shareholder sedvicing, ansher agency Senices and adminisiralive senvices Lo the mutual Tunds We Sponsor

Cur high-quality, in-depth research is Twe foundation of our asset managerent and private wealth management businessas. Our reseanch disciplines indude
economic, fundamental equity, fived income and quantitalive research. In addition, we have expedise in muli-asset strategies, wealth management,
ervdronmental. $ocal and corporate govirmancs (TESGT), and allemaive investmnis

Wi provide a broad range of invesiment senices with expertise in:

* Actively managed equity stralegles across global and regional universes, as well as cepitalizaton ranges, concentration ranges and investment
strategies, induding walue, growlh and core equities;

* Actively managed raditional and uneonstrained fixed income stratégies, including taxable and tex-exempl sirateges;

+ Actively managed altemative investments, indluding hedge funds. fund of funds and direct assets (e.g., dinect lending. real estate and private equity)

« Potfelios with Purpose, induding sctvely managed, impactfocused snd Responsbli+ (chmate-conscous, S0 leaders, change catalysts) equily, fxed
ifctene and mulli-asset siralegies that acddress our dients eveiving need 1 ifvest heir cagital with purpase while purswing Sirang investment refums,

= Multi-asse! services and solutions, induding dynamic asse! alocalion, customized tangel-date funds and targelrisk funds. and
= Eome passive menagement, including index, ESG index and enfanced index siralegies.

2022 Anrual Repord B
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Part I

Organization

A% of December 31, 2022, EOH owned approvimately 25% of e issued and cutstanding unils representing assignments of beneficial ownership of lmited
parinership interests in AllanceBamstan Holding LF. ("AB Holding Unita”). AlkanceBemsiein Corporation {en indirect wholty-cwned subsidiary of EQH,
“General Pariner’) is the general pariner of both AlllanceBemstein Holding L.P. ("AB Holding”) and AB. AllianceBemstein Corporafion owns 100,000
genenal parinership units in AB Holdng and a 1% geneml parnership interest in AB. As of December 31, 2022 the cwnership strectune of AB, induding
Ernited parinership units cutstanding as well as the general pariner's 19 inberest. was as folows:

EQH and its subSdianes 53.9%

AB Holding 9.4

UnaMliabed holders 0.7
100.0 %

Including tofh thee general partnership and limited parnership interests in AB Holding and AB. EQH and its subsidiaries had an approdmate §1.3%
ELonGmIc interest in AB a3 of December 29, 2022,

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

Thir consclidated financal statements have been prepaned in accordance with accounting princples generslly accepied in the Unibed Stales of Amedca
("US GAAP"). The preparation of the consolidated financial stalements requines management 10 make céran estimales and assumpions il affect the
reporied amounts of assets and lablities and disdosure of contingent assets and liabilites at the dates of the consolidated financial staternents and he
reporied amounts of revenues and expensas during the reporing perods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated fnancial staternents include AB and its majodity-camed andior controlted subsidanes, and the consolidated entities hat ane consdenad o
be variable inlenes! enfities ("VIEs"™) and voling interest enflies ("WVOEs") in which AB has a contralling finandal inenest. Non-confnolling inberests on the
congolidated statements of firancial condifion indude the portion of consdidated companmy-sponsored investiment funds in which we do nod have dinsct
Uiy cwnership. A8 Significant inter-company transactions and balances among the consolidated entities have been eliminated,

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements or Accounting Pronouncements
Mot Yet Adopted

Curing 2022, there have been no recendy adopbed sccouniing pronouncements o pronouncermants not yet adopted that have or are expected 1o have a
il impisct on our consolidated resdls of openations,

Revenue Recognition

I Investment Advisory and Services Fees

AR provides assel management sericks by managing customer assebs and seeking to dediver investment returms to investors. Each investrment
management conrict between AB and & customer oeates o Stincl, separately idensfiable perfarmance cbligation for each day the customers assels ane
managed &5 the curstomer can benefil from each day of sendce, In actondance with AZC BB, a senies of disingt goods and sendoes thal are substantially
the same and heve e same patten of transfer 1o he customer are tresled as a single performance cbligation. Accordingly, we have delermined thal our
imvesiment and advisory sendces are perfomed over time and entitie us 1o varable consideration eamed based on the value of the investors’ assets under
minagerment (AUMN)

Wi caloutate ALIM wsing established market-based valuation methods and fair valuation (non-chserable mamkel) methods. Markel-based valualion methods
include: last salefsatie prices from an exchange for actively-traded listed equities, oplons and fulures: evaluaied bid prices from recognized pricing vendors
for fixed income, assed-backed or marigage-backed issues; mid pices from recognized pricing vendors and brokers for credit default swaps: and quaoted bids
or spreads from pricing vendors and brokers for olher derhative products. Far valuation methods indude; dscounted cash flow models o any ofher

L] Alliance Bermatein
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Partll

methodaogy thisd is validated and approved by olr Vilustion Commithes {see paragraph immedalaly befos for addiional information about o Valuation
Cornmiftes), Fair valuation methods are wsed only where ALM cannot be valued using merket-based valuation methods, such as in the case of privete
exquity or iliquid securifes.

The Valuation Committes, whidh consists of senior officers and employees, is responsible for overseeing the pricng and vahmton of al imesiments hedd in
cient and AB portlolics. The Valuation Commiltes has adopled & Statement of Pricing Polices desonbing principles and pelicies hal apply to pricing and
valuing Imvestments held in these portfoios. We also have a Pricing Group, which reports 1o the Valuation Comitles and 15 responsible for overseeing the
pricing process for all investments. We record as revenue investment advisory and sendces base fees, which we generally calcufale as a percentage of
ALM, At month-end, &8 the companents of hi Fansacion prce (fe, e Dase Tee calculation) ane no longer variabbe and e value of S considenation is
detlermingd. These fees are nol subject to daw badk and thene is minimal probability that a significant reversal of the revenue recorded will ooour

The transacton price for the assed management performance obligation for cartain investment advisory contracts, including those associated with hedge
funds or oiher altemative investments, provide for 8 performance-based fes induding camied intenest), in addition to a base advisory fee, which is calouated
s gither & perosntage of absolute investmen? resulls o a perceniage of irvesiment regulls in ecess of 8 siated benchmark over a specified period of time.
The pestorrnance-tased feds are Torms of virable consideration and ane thetefore exduded from he transaction prce until it becomes probabie that there
will not be significant reversal of the cumulabive revenue recognized. AL each reporing dale, we evaluale the constraining factors, discussed Below,
sumounding the varable consideration to determine the extent towhich, f any, revenues assocleted with the performance-based fee can be recognized

Constraining faciors mpacting the amount of variable consideration included in the ransaction price indude: the contraciual clew-Dack provisions 1o which
the vanable consideration is subject, ®e length of Sme 1o which the uncertamty of the consideration Is subject, ®e number and range of possible
consideration amounts, the probability of significant fuctuations in the funds market value, e level al which the fund's value exceeds the contraceal
threshold required o earm such a fee. and the matenality of the amount being evaluated.

I Bernstein Research Services

Bemstein Research Services revenue consisis princpally of commissions recesved, and 1o a lesser but increasing extent, dinect payments for trade
emecuton senvices and equity research services provided o institutional clients. Brokerage commissions for trade execution services and related

are reconded on & trade-date basis when the pérformance obligations ane salisted. Generally, 1he transaction price is agnedd upon 1 the time of each trade
and is based upan the number of shares raded of the valse of the consideration Faded Research revenues ane recognized when the transacion pace is
quantified, collectability is assured and significant reversal of such revenwe is not probable.

In the fourth quaster of 2022, AB and Société Générale (ELURONEXT: SCGLY, “SecGen’ |, @ leadng Eurcpean bank, anncunced plans fo form a joint ventune
cormbining their réspective cash equilies and resesrch busingsses. A% a resdl. The Bemsiein Reseanch Senices ("BRS") business has been dassfied as
eld for sale. For further discussion, see Mole 24 Acguizitans and Divestiums.

I Distribution Revenues

Two of car subsidanies acl as distinbutors andior placement agents of company-sponsoned matual funds and receive disiibution services fees from certain
of those funds a% Tull or parlial reimbursement of the distibulion expenses ey incur. The vadable conssderation can be determingd in dferen ways, a5
dizcuzsed helow, a5 we salsly the performance obligation depending on the contractual amangements with the customer and the specific prodwct seld.

Mot open-end LULE. funds hive adopled a plan under Rule 1201 of the Investment Company Act thal allows the fund 10 pay, oul of assels of the fund,
distibution and serich Tees for the distribution and sale of it shares (™12b-1 fees”). The cperrend ULS. funds have such agresments with us, and we have
selling and desinibusion agresments pursiant i which we pay sales commissions 0 the finandal intermedianes that distritate our oper-end LS. funds.
These sgreemnents are terminabée by either party upon notice ¢ generally 30 deys) and do not abligate the financial inlermediary to sell any spedcific amount of
fund shares.

We record 12b-1 fees monthly based upon a percentage of the net assat value ("MAY) of the funds. At month-end, the varnable consideration of the
transaction price is no longer consirained as e NAY can be calculated and the value of consideration is determined. These sanvces are separate and
dstinct from other asset management services as the customer can benafit fom these services independently of other services. We acorue the
comesponding 120-1 fees paid to sub-disiibutors monthly 8% the expenses ane incumed. Wi are acting in a prncipal cipacity in hese ransactions; as such,
these revendes and expenses are reconded on & gross basis.
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Wi offier bircki-gnd lod Shares in limited instances and change i invesior a contingént defemed Sales charge (FCDSCT) i e investment i redeeméd within
@ certain period. The vaniable consideration for these conlracts |5 contingent on the Bming of Se redemption by the investor and the value of the sale
proceads. Cue fo these constraining faciors, we exclude e CDSC fee from the tansaction price untl the invesior redeems the investment. Upon
redempbion, the cash consideration recaived for these contractual amangements are reconded as reductions of unamontized defemed sales commissions.

Cur Lunembourg subsidiary, e managerment company for most of our nen-ULS, funds, eams a management fee thal is accrued dally and paid montily, af
an annual rate, based on the average daly nel assals of the fund. With respect to certain share dasses, the management fee may also contan a component
that is paid to distibutors and ofher financial intermedanes and service providers 1o cover sharsholder sendcing and ofer administaive expenses (also
referred to a5 an AlHn-Fee) As we have conduded that assel management ks distingt from distribufion, we aSocate a portion of the invesiment end advisony
e 10 distribution revenues for the servicng companent based on standalone salling prices.

I Other Revenues

Rewvenues from confracts with customers include a portion of other revenues, which consisis primarily of sharehcider servicng fees, as well as muteal fund
reimbursements and obher brokerage noome.

Wi provide shareholder sendoes, which indude Fansier agency, admmisirative and recondeeping Senices provided 1o company-sponsoned mutual funds,
The consideration for these senvices is based on a percentage of the MAY of e fund of a fixed fee based on the number of shareholder soccolmts being

serviced. The revenues ane recorded at month-end when e constraining factors involved with determining MAY or the number of shareholders’ accounts
Bre regoivid

I Mon-Contractual Revenues

Dinddend eewd inberest income is acorued 85 eamed. Invesiment gains and losses en the consolidated statements of income include unrealized gains and
hosses of rading and pivale equity invesiments siated at fair value, equity in eamings of our limiled parinership hedge fund invesiments, and realized gains
and lasses on irvesments old

I Contract Assets and Liabilities

W use the practical expedient for contracts that have an eriginal duration of one year or less. Accordingly, we da not consider the Bme value of money and,
instead, accrue the incremental costs of oblasning the contract when incumed. As of December 31, 2022, the balances of contract assets and contract
Eabilities ane nod considersd matenal and, sccordngly, no further disclosures ane necegsany,

Consolidation of Company-Sponsored Investment Funds

Fer legal entiies (company-sponsoned investment funds) evaluated for consolidation, we first determing whether the fees we receive and the interests we
Inold gualify es A variabie mberest in the entity, induding an evaluation of fees paid 10Us 85 8 Jeoision Maker of Sendoe provider to Te entity Deing evalusied,
Fees recelved by us are not variable interests if (i) the fees are compensation for sendces provided and are commensurabe with the level of effort required to
provide those services, (il) the service amangement inciedes only terms, conditions or amounis thet are customarily present in amangements for similar
senices negotiabed at amm's length, and (iil} our other econamic interests in the entity held directty and indisectly Shrough our related parties, as well as
Economic imterests hild by related pardes under common contral. would nol absart mane than an insignificant amount of the entity’s I05565 of rective more
than an insigndficant amount of he enlity's benefits,

For hose entities in which wé hive a wanisble interest, we pedom an anahesis fo detéfmineg whether the entity is a VIE by considédng whather he entity's
equity imvestrment at sk is insuffident, whether e investors lack dedcision making rights proporfional fo Their ownership percentage of the entity, and
whelher the invesions lack he obligation 1o absom an endly's expected losses or the Aght 10 recesve an enlity’s expected income
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A NE must be consolidabed by its pimary beneficiary which gendrally is definéd as the party that has a confralling finandgal interest in the VIE. We ane
deemed 1o have a confrolling Snancial inenest in a WIE if we have (i) the power 10 direct the acthvises of the VIE thal most significantty affect the VIE'S
economic perfomance and (#) the obligation 1o absorb losses of #ve VIE or the right 1o receive income frem the VIE that could potentally be significant to the
VIE. For pumposes of evaluating (i) above, fees paid to us as 8 dedsion maker of sendoe providier ane excuded i the amount of Tees s commensurate with
the level of effort required 1o be performed and She amangement indudes only arstomary fenns, condfions or amounts present in amrangements for similar
SerdoRs negotiated o arm's length, The prmany beneficiary evalsalion generally is perfommed qualitatively based on all facts and droumstances, a5 well &
quantitatively, a5 eppropnate,

I wer hawe & variable inferest in an enfty that is determined not to be a VIE. the enity is then evaluated for consolidation under the VOE model. For limited
parinerships and smiar entities. we ane deamed 1o have a controliing finandal intenest in a VOE, and would be required 1o consolidate the entity, if we own a
majority of the entty's kick-cut righis through voting limited pamnership imMenests and limited pariners do not hold substantive participating righis (or other
nghts that would indicate that we do not contra the entity). For entiies other than kmited partnerships, we are deemed 1o have a controlling financial interest
in 8 VOE if we cwn & majority voling interest in the entity.

The analysis performed regarding the defermination of variable inferests held, whedher entities are VIES of VOES, and whethér we have a controlling
Fﬁnﬂdﬂ inferest in such entiies, requires Me ederase of judgment, The analysis is updated continuolsly a3 drcUmMStances change of New enfites are
oy

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hend, demand deposits, money market accounts, owemight commerncial paper and highty liguid Imvestments with
original matunities of three months of less. Due to the shor-temn nabure of these insiruments, e recorded value has been determined 1o approximate fair
v (and considened Level 1 securiliesin the fair waluee hisrardhy)

Fees Receivable, Net

Fees receivable are shown ned of alowances. An allowanoe for doubtiul scoounts related to investmen! advisory and services {ees is determined through an
anahysis of the aging of recehvables, assessments of collectability based on historical frends and other qualitative and quantitative factors, induding our
relationship with the cient. Se financial nealth (or ability to pay) of he client, curent econamic conditions and whether the account is active of dosed. The
Allowanoe Tor doubiiul socounts is nob matenal to fees recessabla,

Brokerage Transactions

Customers’ securiies ransactions are recorded on a setiement date basis, with related commission income and expenses reported on a rade date basis,
Receivables from and payables to clients incwde amounts due on cash and mangin ransactions. Securiies owned by customers are heid as collateral for
recefvables; such collateral 5 et reflected in the consolidated finandal statements. Ve have the ability by coniract or cusiom fo sell or repledge this
collateral and have dong 50 8 vadous tmes. As of December 24, 2022 and 2021, we had 52671 million and 5234 million of re-pledged securities,
respectively, Princpal securities ransactions and redated expenses ane reconded on a trade date basis

Securlies borowed and sacuriies lcaned by our broker-dealer subsidares are recorded at the amount of cash collateral advanced or received in
connection with the transacion and ane induded in receivables fom and payables fo brokers and dealers in the consclidated statements of finandal
condilion, Secunties bomowed Fansacsons requine u 10 depost cash collaterad with the lender. Wit respedt [0 SECURBES [oRned, we NEcEve cash collatera
from e bormower. See Note 8 for secuntes bomowed and loaned amounts recorded in our consobdated statements of Snancid condiion as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021. The inifial collatersl advanced or received approddmates or is greater than the fair value of sacurites bomowed or loaned. We
monitor the fair value of the securities bomowed and foaned on a daily basis and reques! addibcnal collateral or retum excess collateral, as approprate. As
of Decernber 31, 2022 and 2021, there is no allowance provision required for the collateral advanced. Income or expense is recognized over the life of the
Transaction.

Cash on deposit with dearning crganizations for trade faciilation purposes is reported in assets hedd for sale as of December 31, 2022 and other assels as of
Decernber 31, 2021, in our consolidated statements of financial condition, As of December 21, 2021, we had 5114.9 million of cash on depesit with deanng
organizations. A% of Decemiber 21, 2022 and 2027, we held no LS, Treadery bils pledged as collateral, These deaning organizetions have e ability by
contract o cusionm 1o sell or re-pledge the coBateral, if ary.
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Current Expected Credit Losses- Receivables from Brokerage clients

Recervables from dients primeary consisis of mangin loan bafances. The value of the securities owned by clients and held as collateral for fvese recedvables
is not refecied in the consclidated financial slatemenis and the colateral was not repledged or sold as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, We consider these
financing recenvables 1o be of good ced! quality because these recehvables are primarily collateralized by the related dien investments.

To estimate expecied credi losses on margin loans, we applied the colateral mainlenance practical expedient by comparing the amorlized cost basis of the
margin loans with the Tair value of the collateral a1 the reporting date, Margin loans are limited to a perceniage of he total value of the securites heid in the
dients account agemst those koans. AB requires, in he event of a deding in the mankel value of the secunbes in a margn acsount. the cient 10 deposit
additiomal Securities or cash 5o Mal al al

timés, the value of the Securibies in i Bocount, & a minimum, coeer the lcan o the cient. A% Such, AB reasonably ects Tl e bomower will be able 1o
connuaily replenish collatersl secwring the Snancial assel and does not expect the Tair valve of collatersl 1o fll below the amorized cost bess of the mangin
kans and, a5 a resull we consider he oedl risk associated with these recevables o be minimal In driumsiances when a loan becomes
undercollateralized and the dient tails 1o deposit addiional secuntes or cash, AB resenves the right to Bguidate the account

Current Expected Credit Losses - Receivables from Revenue Contracts with Customers

The majority of cur revenus recevalles are from imvestment advisory and senvice fees, and disiribuion revenues, thal are typically paid out of the cient
eccounts of hird-party preducts consising of cash and securies. Dus 1o the size of the fees in relafion fo the value of the cash and securities in acocount or
funds, e account value abways exceeds the amorized cosl basis of the receivables, resulting in a remote risk of loss. These receivables have a short
duration, generaly due within 30-90 days and there s mirimad restonical evidence of non-payment or marnket declines tat would cause the fair value of the
undedtying secunties fo dedine below e amonzed cost of the recervables, AB mantains an allowance for credit losses based upon an estimate of the
amount of polential credit |os5es in exising acocounts receivable. a5 delérmined from @ review of aging schedules, past due balances, historicsl colleciion
experience and ofer speciic account data. Once detemined uncoBiectible. aged balances are written off as loss expense. This defermination is
based on conehul analysis of indvidudl recevables and aging schedules, and generally octurs whin the recenible becomes over 360 dovs past dug. O
aged recefvables and amounts wiitten off related to credit losses in sy year are mot materdal.

Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net

Fumiture, equipment and leasehold improvements are sialed at cost less accumulated deprediation and amorization. Deprecialion is recognized on a
mlmﬂbaisml}nasﬁmumdusafullhusdainh furmiture and three o six years for equipment and software. Leasehold improvements ane
amortized on a straighi-line basis over the lesser of heir estimated useful lives or the terms of the related leases.

Goodwill

Cur acquisifions ane accounted for under the acquisiion method of accourting, where the cost of the acquisifion is allocated on the basis of the estimated
fair value of the assels acquired and the liabilites assumed The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of idgentifable assels soquired, net of
kabilities assumed, resulls in the recogrition of goedwill

On July 1, 2022, AB Holding acquned a TD0R6 ownership interest in Cerval Invesions L P ("CarValy Immedately Toliowing its acquisition of Carldal {the
"CarVal acquisition™), AB Helding contributed 100% of its equily inerests In CarVial &0 AB In exchenge Tor AB Unils (see Mole 24 Acquisitions and
Divestiies)

On Novesmier 22, 2022, AB and SocGen, a leading Ewopean bank, announced plans to form a jaint venture combining ther respective cash egquities and
research businesses. As a resull the BRS busness has been classifed as held for sale and 31598 million of goodwil recorded on the consclidated
statement of finandal condition has been aBocaled to e held for Sale disposal group, As AB §s a single reporting wail, we have allocated goodwill to the
disposal group based on the relative Tar values of (1) the disposal group and (2) the partion of the reporting unit that will be retained. For further discussion,
s Nobe 24 Acquisiions and Dheslitures.

As of Decernber 31, 2022 we had goodeill of 53.6 billion on the consolidated statement of financial condition which included S566.1 milion as a result of the

Carval acquisition in the third quarter of 2022, 52 8 billion as a nesult of the Sentord C. Bemstein Inc. ("Barnstein”) acquisition in 2000 and 5291.9 milion in

ﬂmgmmu-wmm smaller acquisstions. Approxdmately, $155.8 million of goodwill has been dassfied &5 assels held for Sale on the consolidated statement of
rancial condbon.

ﬁmmm:um-m_lmusms_qmmmru-:rﬁairrnmutlujngmmwmmmamrmammmmuﬂisnmwns
unadusted marke! valuation (AB Units outstanding muliplied by AB Holding's Unit price) and adusied market valuatons assuming a confrol premium (when
BppEcable). The price of a publicly raded AB H Uini1 serves as & reasonable staming point for valung an AB Linit Decause each represents the same
frasctional in in our undestying business. e vear, the camying vslue of goodwal is also ed for impaimment if certain events or changes
in drcumstancas ocour and gger whether an inlenm impairment test may be required. Such ch s in dreumstances may induds, but are not Emided to,
significant transactions induding acquisitons of dvestiures. a suslained decreass in he price of an AB Holdng Unit o declings in AB's markel capitalization
that wiould suggest that the Tair value of the
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reporing unit is less 'Ihm ﬂ'lu mrnrng. amaun; ﬂmllmnt and unanaupabe-:l dadines in AB's assets under managemnent or revenues; andior lower than
expecied eamings per th 5 changes in cifcumsiances could e possibliity hat goodwill |s Empaired, bul none of these evenis or
amwnmrnubfﬂﬂfwm Il:ab&lmtrt;snmhmy1hmmmatpw |sm'q:|a|md Instend, they are merey recognized ummmwm
consideraton of impairment and must be viewed in combinaton with any mitigating o pesitve factors. A holistic evaluation of all events since the mest
recent quantitative impainment test must be done 1o determine whether it i mone ﬂ'lmmlﬂ'ﬂtlherepmlﬁgmltls mpa-reﬂ As of Seplember 30, 2022,
the impasmuent test indscated thal goodwill was nol impared, The announcement of the planned joint veniure betw and SocGen and dassfication of
the BRS business as held for sale on the consolidated statement of financial condition during M'Fmrha mrdMMEutmmmlmqumgm
interim impairment test; as such, we lested our goodwill &s of December 31, 2022 The impaimment test | e that goodwill was not impaired

Under ASU 2017-04, En'lglfmg the Test for Goodwill Irnpaimment, a 1 mnent will be the amount by which a %ﬁrﬁ carmying value
excids ils far vk, nol 1o excead he carmying amournt of goodwill Er 1his gusdance, the goodwll mpairment ntrlﬂ'lﬁ_l @ deberminabon
management of whether & deding in fair value is lemporary, however, if i important thal managements determination of fair valiee reflect the impact
changing market condifions. induding the severity and antidpated duration of any such changes.

Business Combinations

Wi account for business cormbinations using the acquEstion method of acoounting whersby T identifiable assets end liabdites of the acquired busingss, as
wsilasm nonconiraling inferest in the acquired business, are recanded af thelr estimaled fair valwes as of the dale tat we obiain control of the acquired

purchase consideraton in excess of the estmaled fair values of the net assats acquired is recorded as Wﬂ Acquesilion-related expensas
u'eaaq:urmdasmm'ud

Oflen, as part of the busness combination. mtangible assels ars recorded bised on their ésimated fair value at the me of acquisstion and primanily reate to

atx}wed invesiment management contracks. We pedodically review indefinde-Sved ibbe assets fior im ienl &5 events or changes in droumstances
indicate thal the camying value may nol be recoverable I the ca walue excieds Rair value, we additonal impairment § 10 measure the
arnount of the Implll'mw bogs, if ary. During 2022 and 2021, eperses induded an intangible asset impairment charge of $5.6 million and

510 million, respectively, related 1o vanous histoncal acquisions.

Wie pericdically enter info coningent payment amangements in connection with cur business combinations. In these amangements, we agree o pay

addibonal consideration to the seflers 1o the exlen! hal certain performance BEE achieved, We estimate the fair value of these polential fulre
mammmumsmmﬁmlswmma ility on a disccembed basis on our corsciidated slatement of fnancal

Wig hen acorate the obligaion o ils expected [ armount over S measunement pefod. ﬂmmmmmmtmtmmw
aﬁmad]m is modified in the curment pesiad Inamlnalussﬂuhgmsmlmsmﬂlmm o expected 5 g
he accreton of cbligatons [o their expectad payment are reflected within contingent payrment arangements meldﬂ staternents

of income. The CarVal acquisition resulted in the ml::l‘dngmu contingent consideralion payable of 5228 9 milion if cerain performance targels are
adnieved gver a slx-year period (see Nole § Fair Walve and 24 Acquiisitions and hﬁrm] Cunng 2022, there were no impairmenis of contingent
congdenaton p lé: recorded in the consolidaled statements of income. During the fourth quanters of 2021 and 2000, wi recorded an impairment of 1he

il"-ﬂm m erafon payable of 0.6 milion and 51,4 million, respectively. These impairments wene rdated to our 2016 acquisition of Ramius Altermitve

Several valuaiion methods may be used to determing the fair value of assets acquired and lisbiliies assumed. For intangible assets, we typically use a
mefthsod that s a form of the income approach, whereby a forecast of fuiure cash fiows atiributable 1o the asset are discounted 1o present value using a nsx-
adjusted discount rte. Similarty for contingent lisbilites. we devdop & forecast of future cash Bows altibutable to the performance objectives that are then

discountad fo present value using a &d discount mie. Some of the more significant estimates end assumptions inherent in the income approach
nclude te amount and trming of projected cash lows and the discoun rate e 16 Fragsasaine thee risks inherent in the fethure cash Nows. See Nole
24 Acguiditions and Dhsesiilines

Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible asseds consist primanly of cosls assigned fo acquired vesiment management contracts based on their estimated fair value al the me of
soquisiton, less accumulated emonzaton Infangible assels are recognized at fair value and generslly are emorfized on 8 sraightine basis over ther
estimated wsehd lile ranging from 5 1o 20 years.

The Caral acquisiion resulted in recording of S303.0 million of finitedived intangible assets Mi-l'il]l’ fdﬂﬁl‘lﬂ o Invesiment managemen) coniracts and
irtstor relationships with usatul lves ranging from 5 10 10 years (see Mol 24 Acguisitions and

As of December 31, 2022, intengible assels, net of scoumulated emortzation. of $310.2 million on the consoidaled statement of financal condifion consisis
of 5265 0 million of Snite-lhved intengibe assels subject to amortizaton and $15.2 milion of indefinite-lved intangble assels not subject 1o amonization.

As of Decesrber 31, 2021, ntangible assels. net of acoumuleted amortization, of 541.5 million on the consolidated statement of financial condtion consisted
of 526.3 million of Enitedhved intangibie assels subject 1o amomzation and 5152 million of indefiniteived intangible assels nol subject 1o amartization in
regarnd o other acquisitions.
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The gross camying amount of finite-ived intangible assets tolaled $327.9 million as of December 31, 2027 and $53.8 milicn as of Decamber 31. 2021, and
accumudated amortization was 3329 milkon as of December 21, 2022 and 527.5 million as of December 31, 2021,

Armorization expense was 5266 milkon for 2022 357 million for 2021 and $21.4 million for 2020, Estinated anmel amortizaion expenss is appraximately
S47 million annsally in years one through e, S4B million in year four and approamately $25 milion in e five

‘W peniodically review indefinite-lived intengible assets for impairment as events or changes in crcumstances indicate that the camying vaiue may not be
recoverable. If the camying value excesds fair value, we perform additional Impairment tests to measure the amount of Swe enpairment loss, il any, During the
fourth quarter of 2022 we performed an impakmment assessment and recorded an impaiment of 356 millicn redafed to cur 2014 acquisiion of CPH Capital.
Caxing the fowrth guarters of 2021 and 2020, we recorded impairments of $1.0 million and 51.5 million. respectively, related to our 2016 acquisition of
Rarmius Allemative Soltions LLC. Due o the loss of acquired Imvestrent menagement contracts duning each respective year, the camying value of the
firite-lived intangible assets excesded the fair vaiue of the contracis. We delemined the fair value of the contracts using B discounted cash flow model. The
impairment charge was reconded in general and adminisrative expenses in e consolidated statemeants of income

Deferred Sales Commissions, Net

Wi pary commissions fo financal intermédian e in connection with the sale of shares of open-end company-sponsoned mutual funds sold without a front-end
sales change (back-ond load shares”). These commissions are capilalized as defermed sales commissions and amorntized over penods not exceeding one
yestir fof LS, fund shares and four years for Non-LLE. Fund shares, the penods of time duing which defemed sales commissions generally ang recoventd,
We recover these comniissions rom @isinbudon sendces Tees received from those funds and from COSC received from sharehciders of those furds upon
the redemplion of thesr sheres, COSC cash recoveries ane recorded as reductions of unamortized defemed sales commissions when received. Since Jenuarny
31, 2009, cur LS. mutual funds have nod offered back-end lcad shanes 10 new invesions.

Wi periodically review the defermed sales commission assed for impasrment as events or changes in droumsiances indicate tat the camying vabee may not
be recoverable. I these factors indicate impairment in value, we compane the carmying vahse fo the undescounbed cash flows expected o be generated by the
sl over fS rerdiring Me. 11 we determing the defemed sales commisson asse is not fully recoveraible, the assel will be dedmed impaired and & loss will
I rexcorded in the amount by which the reconded amount of the asset exceeds its estimated fair value. There were no impairment charges recorded during
2022 or 2021,

Leases

Wi dedesmning if an arangement S a lease &l inceplion, Bolh cperating and finance leases ane induded in the rghl-cl-use (“ROU") assels and lease
Eabilities in owr consalidated statement of financial condition.

ROU assets represent our fight 1o wse an undeying asset for the Mease term and lease lHabilies napresent our obligation 10 make leass payments ansing
froem e lease. ROU assets and lease Babilities are recognized al commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over Tve lease tem.
Wi U our congolidated inchimental bomowing rate based on e information avafable ad of e lease commencamin] dale in didermining the present
vl of lease payments. Cur lease terms may inclede options fo exdend or temminabe the lesse. These options. to extend or terminate ane assessed on a
lesage-by-lease bass, and e ROU assets and lease habiliies are adusied when it is reasonably certain that an option 'will be exenased

Wihen calouiating he measurement of ROL assets and lease Babilites, we ulilize he fved payments associaled with the lease and 0o nol indude ofher
variable conractual obligations, such &s operating expenses, real estate taxes, deanng and utlites. These costs ane accounted for as pened costs and
expensad as incumed.

Additionaily, we exdude any intangible assets such as software llicensing agreements as siated in ASC B42-10-15-1. These smangements will continue to
Tailow the guidance of ASC 350, infangibes - Goadwill and Other.

Loss Contingencies

Wiith respect 1o all signifcant Migaion matters, we corsder the likelinood of a negalive outcome. IT we determing the likelinood of 8 negalive outoome is
probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimaled. we record an estimaled loss for the expected outcome of the kgation. If the likelinood of
a negative outcome is reasonably possible and we are able io determine an estmate of the possible loss or mnge of loss in excess of amounts already
eccnued, (f any, we disdose that fact togefer with the estimate of the possible loss of range of loss. However, It Is often difficult to predict the oulcome or
eslimate a passible l0ss or range of 1055 becalise Figation s subject 1o inherent uncertainties, pariculamy when plamtils alege substantal or indetenminate
damages. Such is aiso the case when the Wigafion is in its early stages or when the hgation is highty complex or broad in scope. In these cases we
disciopse that we are unable to predict the outcome or estimate & possble ioss or range of loss
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Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale

The Company classifies assets and kabilites o be soid {dsposal group) as held for sale in the period wiven all of the applicable cnieria are met, incuding: (i)
management commits to a plan to sell, i) the disposal group is available to sell in its present condifion, (i) there is an active program %o locste a buyer. (iv)
The disposal group |5 being actively marketed ai & redsorable price in relation o its fair value, {v) significant changes 1o the plan b Sell are uriikely, and ()
the: sale of the dsposal group is generly probable of being completed within one year, Management performs an assessment of held for sale at least
gquarterty or when events of chenges in business dreumstances indicate that a dange in dassification mey be necessary. Assets and liabilites held for sale
are presented separately within the consolkdated siaternents of financial condtion with amy adjustments necessary o measure the disposal group at e
bower ol ils Garyirg viskes or fair value less costs o sl Depreciation of property. plant &nd equiprment and armorfizabon of intangible and nght-ol-use a55ets
are nol reconded while these assets ane dassified as held for sale. For each reponting peniod the dsposal group remans dassified as held for sale, the
camying value of the disposal group is adjusted for subsequent changes in fair value less costs to sefl. A loss is recognized for any subsequent decreasa in
fair value less costs bo sell, while 8 gain |s recognized in any subsequent persad for any subsequent increase in fair value less cost bo sall, but not in excess
of the cumulative loss previously recognized. If. in any periad, the camying value of the disposal group exceeds the estimated fair value less costs to sell. a
et 15 recogrized on Sale rathes than an impainment loss,

Assets and ligbilities dassified as held for sale on the consolidated statement of finandal condition as of December 31, 2022 were 5551 4 milkon and $108.0
million, respectively, The 2021 consolidated statement of financial condition was not recast for assets and kabikties dassified as held for sale in 2022

Mutual Fund Underwriting Activities

Purchases and sales of shares of company-sponsored muthsal funds in commecton with the underwriing actviies of cur subsidianes, induding related
cormimission income, ane recorded on the trade date. Recervables from brokers and dealers for sale of shares of compeny-sponsored mutual funds generally
@re nealized within three business days from the frade date, in conjuncion with the settiement of the related payables to company-sponsored mutual funds
Tor share purchases, Distibulion plan and ather promolion and senvicing payments are recognired as expense when incurmed

Long-term Incentive Compensation Plans

Wik maintan several uniunded, non-qualiied leng-dem incentive compensation plans. under which we grant annusal awands 1o employees, generally in The
Tourth quarter, and to members of the Board of Direchors of the General Partner, who are nol employed by our comparny of by amy of our afliates ["Eligible
Directors”).

Awards granted in December 2022, 2021 and 2020 allowed employees to allocaie their awerds between resiricied AR Heiding Units and defemed cash.
Participants (excepl cerlain membens of senion menagement) generally could allocabe up lo 50% of Thelr swands to defemed cash, notl to excesd a total of
250,000 per award. Each of cur employees based culside of the United States (other than expatriaies), who received an award of 5100.000 or less, could
have allocated 100% of their @wand to deferred cash. For these awards, the number of AB Holding Unils awardad was basad on the dosing prce of an AB
Helding Unit on the date as of which the awands were approved by the Compensation and Workplace Practices Commifiee (lhe “Compensation
Committee”) of e Board of Direclors (the "Board”). For swards granted in 2022 2021 and 2020,

= We engaged in open-market purcheses of AB Holding Units or purchase newly issued AB Holding Units from AB Holding thet are awarded to paricipanis
#nd ke them in a condolidated rabbi trust

= Quaredy disributions on vesled and unvested AE Holding Units were paid to paridpants, regardiess of whether or not a long-term defermal election has
besery made

= Interest on defered cash was accued monthly based on owr monthly wesghbed everage cosl of funds

Wi recognize compensation expense refaled to equity compensation grants in the financlal statements using the far value method, Fair value of restricted
AB Holding Linit awards k5 the dosing price of an AB Holdng Unit on The gram date; Tar vaiue of opBons is determined using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model. Uinder the faér value mefhod, compensatory expense is measured at the grani date based on the estimated fair value of the award and is
recognized over the requined service period, For year-end long-enm incentive compensation awards, employees who resign or ane teminabed without cause
iy retain thir awards, Subject 1o compliance with certain agresmens and covenants set forth in the applicable award agréement, induding the impostion
of forfefture as a result of post-employment competition. prohitetions on employes and cient soliciation, and a potential daw-back for faling 1o follow
existing risk managjement polices. Because here is no service requirement. we fully expense these awards on the grant date. Most equity replacement,
sign-on of smilar defemed compensation awands included in separate employment agreemenis o amangements inclede a required senvice period.
Regardess of whether te award sgreement includes empioyes Sendoe nequirements, AB Holding LUinits typically are delivered 10 ernployees rmiably over
Three years (o four years, unless the employes has madée a long-1ermn defermal electon

IR Annual Repon [
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Grants of restricted AR Holding Linits can be awarded to Eligible Dirgclors. Generally, thess resiricled AB Holding Lirets vist ratably over three yoirs. Thase
restriched AR Holding Units are not forfeitable (except if the Eligible Director is terminatedd for “Cause,” as that term is defined in the applicable award
agreement). We fully expense these awards cn grant dale, as there is no sendca reguirement

Wi fured our resiricied AB Holding Unit awands either by purchasing AB Holding Linits on e open marked or purdhasing newty-issued AB Holding Units from
AB Heiding, and hen keeping these AR Holding Unils in a consolidated rabbi rust unil delivering them of retiing them. In accordance with the Amended
and Restaled Agreement of Limited Parinership of AB ("AB"), when AB punchases newly-issued AB Holding Unils from A8 Hoding, AB Hoiding Is reguired
o use e proceads i receives from AS 1o purchase the equivalent nuember of newly isswed AB Units, thus increasing its percentage ownership interest in
AB. AB Holding Units held in the consolidated rabbi st ane coporiie a556ts in the name of he tnus and ane vailable 1o the gineral creditors of AB

Repurchases of AR Halding Uinits for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 oonsisied of the Sollowing

Years Ended December 11

i maliang)
Tolal arvount of AB Hoiding Units Purchased ' 0.2 56
Total Cash Paid for AB Holding Units Purchased ' ] 2B 5 2623
Open Manket Purchases of AB Holding Units Purchased' ! 23 26
Totel Cash Pad for Open Marke Purchases of AB Holding Unils'! 5 =’/ 3 179

T Purchased on a rade date basis. The difference between open-marioe! purchases and units retained reflects the refention of AR Holding Units fom employees 1o wifl
stahutany b m”ﬂﬂ rEquirements & e time of ﬂi\"bﬁ' of Img-ur-m incentive compensation Faards.

Each quarter, we consider whether 1o Implement a plan 1o repurchase AE Heoiding Unils pursuant 1o Rules 10b5-1 and 10012 under the Securibies
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Exchange Act”). A plan of this type allows a company to repurchase its sheres at @mes when il otherwise might be
prevented from doing 50 because of seflimposed trading blackout periods o because it possesses materdal non-public information. Each broker we Select
has the autharty 1o repurchase AB Hoiding Units on our behalf in accordance with the lenms. and limitations spedfied in the plan. Repurchases ane subjedt to
reguiaions promulgated by e SEC as well &g certain price, markel volume and liming constrants specified in the plan. There wag no plan adopted during
the fourth quarter of 2022 \We may adopt additonal plans in S fulure o engage in open-market purchases of AB Holding Units to hefp fund anticipated
cbligatons under cur incentive compensation award program and for other corporabe pUIPOSes.

Curing 2022, we granted to employess and Elgible Directors 4.7 million restnicted AB Holding Unéls (includeng 3.8 million gramed i Decernber for 2022
yepr-end awands 1 emplonees). Duing 2021, we granted 1o emplovees and Elgible Directors 7.0 million restricted AR Holdng Unis (including 2.4 million
granted in December for 2021 year-end awards o employees) We used AB Holding Unils repurchesed during e penods and newly-issued AB Holding
Linits 1o fund these awands.

During 2022 and 2021, AE Holdng issued 5,774 and 0.1 milion AB Holding Units, respectvely, upon exercise of options (o buy AB Holging Units. AB
Hedding used the procesds of 50.2 milfion and 534 million, respectively, received from award recpients as payment in cash for the exerdse price o
purchase the equivalent number of newly issued AB Uinits.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

Aszsets and Babiliies of foreign subsidanies are fransiated from funclional currendes into Uiniled States dollars ("USS) af exchange rates in offect af the
balance sheet dates, and related revenuas and espenses are ransiated into USS at sverage exchange rales in effect during each period. Net foreign
CUFTEnCY gains and losses resulting from e ranslation of assets and liabiliies of foreign operations into USS are reporbed a5 a separaie componént of other
cornprehensive income In the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Net faregn cumency ransaction [osses were $10.2 milion, $3.5 million
and 53.3 milkon for 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are reported in general and administraive expenses on the consolidated statemenis of income.

Cash Distributions

AB is required 1o distibute all of its Avaflable Cash Flow, as defined in the AB Partnership Agreement, 1o (s Unifwlders and to the General Parner,
HAyailable Cash Flow can be summarnzed as the cash fiow recaved by AB from operations minus such amounts as the General Partner dedermines, in its
sole discretion, should be refained by AB for uss in its business, or plus such amounts as the General Partner defermines. in its sole discretion, should be
released from previousty retained cash Niow

7 AllianceBernstein
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Typically, Available Cash Flow has been the adiussted diuted net income per uril Tof e quanes multiplied by the number of genenal and limited parnérship
inferests at the end of the quarter. In futre pefiods, management anficipales thal svailable Cash Flow will be based on adusied diuted net income per unit,
unless management detarmines, with the concurrence of the Board, thel one of more adustments at are made for adusted net income should not be
made with respedt to the Available Cash Flow calculaiion

On February 8, 2023, e General Pariner declared a distibuton of $0.77 per AB Unit, representing a distibufion of Available Cash Flow for the three
months ended December 31, 2022 The General Pariner, as & resull of its 1% general parinership inferest, |s entitied to recefve 1% of each dstibution. The
dstribution |s payable on March 16, 2023 to haders of record on Febmeary 21, 2023,

Totd cash diskibutions per Linit pasd fo the Genersl Partner and Unithalders during 2022, 2027 and 2020 wane 5267, 5386 and 53.08, respectively.

Comprehensive Income

Wi report 88 changes in comprihensve income in the consalidaled statements of comprehensie income. Comprehenshe income iIncludes nel Income, a8
widl 8% fonsegn cumency Fangation adjustments, acluanial gaing (losses) and prior Service o8l Defemed taoes were nol recognized on forsgn cumency’
transiation adpstments for foreign subsidianes which had eamings that wene consitersd perranenty invested outside the United States

Subsequent Events

W have evaluated subsequent evenis through e date Sat these firancial statements were filed with the SEC and did not identity any subsequert events
that would have requined disclosure in these finandal statements.

3. Revenue Recognition

Rievenues for the years ended Desember 31, 2022, 2021 and 2000 consisted of the follswing:

Years Ended December 31

{in thowusands )
Subjisct bo contracts with customers
Irversirment advisory and services fees
Ease fees 5 2EXEVHY § 2940405 5 Z4B2B10
Performance-based fees 145247 245119 132626
Bemistein reseanch senices 418,273 452017 459,744
Distribution revenues
All-in-management fees 290,740 3B0674 331,268
12h-1 lees 53,041 £3.920 75973
Crther distnbution fees 247414 M7 66 122 540
Crihar inviniags
Shareholder sendcing fees 85,661 80225 82317
Crther 18120 16,034 21,240
4 (53 287 & 405 040 3688518
hiot subject 10 contracts with QUSIomers:
Divvidend and interes! income. net of interes expense 58 662 35048 35,273
Investenent (losses) {102,413} (B3E) {16, 404)
Crher revenues 763 2150 1,148
(44,597 36,562 20,018
Total net revenues § 4054290 § 44441802 $ 3 T0E536
2072 Anrual Report T
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4, Net Income Per Unit

Basic nit income per urel is dermved by reducng nel income for the 1% general parnership inenest and dividing the remaning 99% by the basec weighted
fverage number of limited parership units cutstanding for eich yesr, Diutéd el income per Uil S derved by reducing ned ncome for the 136 genersl
partnership interest and dviding the remainmg 39% by the total of the diluted weighted average number of Emited parnership units outstanding for each
eI,

Years Ended Decombar 1

| w0
{in theusands, sxeept per usd amounts)
et income afiributable to AB Unithalders 2 831,613 $ 148623 5 865,952
WVilsghted average unils outstanding—basc 273,843 2729 269,058
Dilutive effect of compensatory opbens to buy AB Holding Urils 1 " e
WVisighled avaraige unils outstanding—diuted 273,544 271,740 260,085
Basic met income per AB Un# 5 i % 418 5 318
Dilutad met incomes par AB Undt 5 M § 418 § 319
Vears Endad Decermber 3
IR T
in Hypusands)
Antldilutive options excluded from diluted net income = — 29,055

5. Cash and Securities Segregated Under Federal Regulations and Other Requirements

As of both December 31, 2022 and 2021, $1.5 bilion of U5, Treasury Bills were segregated in a spedial reserve bank custody account for the exclusive
beernefit of our Drokerage cusiomens under Fube 15¢3-2 of the Exchange A

6. Investments

Imvestreents consist of
Years Ended Docember 31
{n thousands)
Equity securites;
Lorg-lerm incentive compensaton-reabed 3 21,08 ] 32237
Sead capiial 135,012 133,882
Cathert| 18243
Exchange-traded opSons! - 1853
Irvesstrnenits in Brmited partnership hedge funds:
ng—:lu-‘m incentive compensation-reahed 26,815 31,802
Sead capiial 15:711 19318
Tirme deposils T, 70 21024
Other BATS 15,108
Total Investmaents 3 27,518 § 23418
' Ameunts have been classifted as beld for sale on the lidated statemant of § d position as of D ber 31, 3022, For further dscussion, Sew Noke 24 Acquistions
ang Dimstiures
7B AllianceBermsiein
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Total invvestments relatid bo long-term incentive comparsation cbligations of S47.9 milkon and 583 8 million &5 of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respécively.
consist of company-sponsored mutual funds and hedge funds. For long-lem incentive compensation awards granted before 2009, we hypically made
imvestments in company-sponsored muiual funds and hedge funds thatl were notionally ecied by plan perticipants and maintained them (and continue o
mairtain them) in a consolidated rabbl frust or separate custodal acoount. The rabbd tust and cusiodial account enable us 1o hold such invesiments
separate from our other assats for the purpase of sefling cur obligations o parScpants. The investrments held in e rabbi tnest and custodial account remain
nvailable 1o the general criditors of AR

The underfying investments of hedge funds in which we irvest indude long and shor positions in equity secunties, fived income secunties (induding vanous
agency and non-agency assel-based SeariBes) cumences commodites and dervalives (incudng wvarous Swaps and forward conracts) These
mvestments ane valued @ quoled market prices or. whene quoled market prices ang not available. are fair valued based on the pricng polides and
procedures of the undertying furds

Wi allocate seed capilal to our imiestiment teams to help develop new products and senvices for our dients. A porSion of our seed capital fading investmenis
ere equity and fxed income products, primarly in e form of separately menaged account porticiios, US, mutusl funds, Luxemboung funds, Japanese
investment trust management funds or Delawans business tusts. We 850 may allocahe seed capital 10 invesiments in privabe equily funds, Regarding our

Seed capital investments, the amounts above rellect those RS in which we are not the prirmary benefidany of a VIE of hold a controllng financial inenest in
aVOE. See Note 15, Consolidated Company-Sponsoned Investment Funds, for a description of the seed capital investments thet we conscildated. As of
Decomniar 31, 2022 and 2021, our total seod copital imeesiments wore 52086 million and S375.0 million. respectively, Sed capital imeestments in
uncongolidated companmy-sponsonsd vestment funds ane valued using published net assel values of non-published ret assel values if Ty are natb listed on
an active exchange but have net asset values that are comparable to funds with published net asset values and have no redemplion resrictions.

In addiion, we also have long positions in coporale equities and long exchange-fraded oplions traded throwgh our cplions desk,
Thee partion of unrealized gains (losses) related to equty semunbes. as defined by ASC 321.10, held 85 of December 31, 2022 and 2021 wene &5 fallows:

Years Ended December 31

T T
{in thousands)
Met (lcsses) gains recognized during the peried g (23.855) § 19,240
Lesis: ned gaing recogriZed during the period on equity securnilies $old during the pesiod 17,960 23,697
Unrealized losses recognized during the peried on equity securities held § (41,815 % (4,45T)

7. Derivative Instruments

Soe Note 15 Consolideted Company-Spensoned Invesiment Funds, ko disclosune of derivative insirumens held by our consclidated company-sponsered
imcestment funds

‘Wie enter into warious: futures, forwarnds, options and Swaps 10 economically hedge certain seed capital investiments. Also, we have cumency forwands that
help us b0 economically hedge cerlain balance sheet exposures. 0 addfion, our options desk rades long and shor exchange-traded equity oplions. Ve do
riod old sy desivatives designated in a formal hedge relationship under ASC 81510, Devivalives and Hadging.

202 Anrual Repon i
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Thee nodional value, Tair value and gains and o556 recognized in investment gains (losses] a5 of December 21, 2022 and 2021 for desivative instruments
(exduding derivative ingtuments refaling b our options desk rading acthilies Bfscuss od beiow) nod desgnated as hedging indruments were as follows:

Dierivative
Lishifties

Dierivalive

Dacamber 11, 2022

Exchange-raded iiwes 5 154687 5 1768 5 5 5 10,904

Cuerency forwards 34,597 4,446 7 1565

Interest rate swaps 16,847 386 70
Credit defaull Sweps 225871 17,607 1,000)
Total retum swaps o8 742 BG5S 14828

Option swaps 50,000 B 1L

Tetal darivatives 5 50,580 3§ 24712 5 Bz 3 41,068

December 31, 2021

Exchange-fraded fulures 5 131876 § wz 8 1186 § {5.072)
Curmency forwands E5.058 7.244 5.980 1,746
intenest rate swaps 13,483 457 =R (316)
Credit default swaps 55,757 5564 5967 2.513)
Total retum swaps 63,817 585 527 {6.433)
Option swaps 20,000 - 430 {309]
Total derivatives Ll 480981 5 15422 5 16823 35 {13.288)

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the derhvalive assets and lisbilites ere induded in both receivables and payables 10 brokers and dealers on our
consolidated staterments of Anancial condition. Gains and losses on derfvative instruments are reporied in imvesement gains (losses) on the consolidated
statements of income

W ey be esposed to credi-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterpares to derivalive financial insiruments. We minimize owr
counterparty exposure through a credi review and approval process. In addifion, we have executed vanious collaleral amangernents with counterpartes io
the over-the-counler derivative ransaclions that require both pledging and accepting collateral in the Tomm of cash. As of Decernber 31, 2022 and 2021, we
held S84 million and 529 million, respectively, of cash collaberal payable o rade counterpartes. This cbligafion to retum cash is reported i payables fo
brokers and dealers in owr consolidated statemens of inandal condition.

Althaugh notional amount is the typical measure of volume in the derivatives market. it is not used as a measure of cradit fisk. Generally, the cument credit
exposure of our dervative confracts is limited b the net positive estimated fair value of dervative contracts at the reportng date after taking into
consderaton the existence of netting agreements and any collateral received. A dedvalive with positive vaiue (8 derhaive asset) indicales existence of
credit risk becayss the counterparty would owe us if the confract wene closed, Allematively, a demalive confract with negative value (& demvative lisbility)
indicates we would owe maoney to the counterparty I the conftract were dosed. Ganerally, If there s more than one denvative fransacton with & single
courtterparty, & masier neting amangement exists with respect fo derivative transactions with that counterparty 1o provide for aggregale nel settlernent.

Certain of our standandized contracts for overthe-courter dervative transactions (1S0DA Master Agreements”) contain crédil sk related contingent
provisions pertainng to each counderparty’s credil ratng. In some [504 Master Agreements, [ the counledparty’s credil raing, or in some agreements, our
AUM, falls below a specified threshold, either a default or a fesmination event permitting the counterparty fo terminate the ISDA Master Agreamen! wolld be
tiggered. In all agreements that provide for collaterslization, various levels of colateralization of net liability posiions ane applicable, dependng on the credit
raing of the counterparty. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we delivered $4.2 million and 85,6 milion, respectively, of cash collatenl inte brokemge
eotounts, Ve report this cash collateral in cash and cash equivalents in our oonsolidated statements of inencial condtion

As of December 31, 2022 long and short exchange-irmded equity options were dassfied as held for sale on cur consolidaled statement of financal poston

For further discussion. See Nole 24 Acquisitions and Divestitwes, A5 of December 31, 2021, we held 51.9 million, respectively. of long exchange-traded
equity options, which are included in ofver imvestments on our consolidated statements of fnancial condtion. in addiion, as of December 31, 2021, we held

52,8 million, respectively, of

ED AllianceBervitein
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short exchange-traded equity aptions, which are intluded in secuities sold notl yel purchased on cur consolidaled statements of findndal condition

Cur opfions desk provides our clients with eguity dervative stralegies and execution for exchange-traded oplions on single stocks, exchange-iraded funds
and indices. While predominately agency-based, the options desk may commit capital to faciFtate a dient's tronsaction. Our oplions desk hedges the msk
assocaled with tis sctivity by taking offsetting posilions in equities. For the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we recognized 522 1 million of losses
ard Zero gains of lsses on equity options acthily, respectively, Thess losses afe recognized in investiment gaing (losses) in the consolidaled statements
of income

8. Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

See Node 15 Consolidated Company-Sponsoed Investment Funds, for disdosune of offsetting assels and labiites of cur conslidated company-sponsorad
ivrestmien funds

Offsetting of assets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

HNet
Amounts of

Fimariial
of Financial Instruments| Cash Collateral
Condition Collateral Recened

{in thousands)

Decamber 31, 3023

Secunties bomowead ! B2 0 5 = 206 S
Dertvislivis

Long exchange-iraded options’’

Dacamber 31, 2021

Sacurities bomowed 1 19893 § - 5 19853 5 [18327) § — 5 1572
Dervalives 15422 - 15.422 - (2872} 12,550
Long exchange-traded aptons 1.853 — 1.893 - - 1,853

Cfsatting of Babilities as of December 21, 2022 and 2021 wirs as follows

A nts
Ciffzet in the

Eafoss
Armounis of i Statement| Finaricial
of Financisl Ieva b, Cash Collateral Med
Liabilities Condition Condition Collateral | Pledged | Amount

in theudands)

Dacamber 31, 2022

Securties |caned” - 272 BAT : : 5 Ea : 2670

Derivalives 1371 i 3
Sharl exchange-traded options’'

Discamber 31, 2021

Secunties |oaned 5 23911 S - 5 23911 8 [23373F § - 5 538
Denivatives 16.923 — 16,923 = (5572 11,351
Short exchange-traded options 2774 — 2774 - — 2774

! Cefain amoanls bave been classfed as held for sale on the consobdaled statement of Snancial poskion as of December 31, 2022 For drther discussion, see Mole 24
Acguistong and Dhestiwes
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Cash cofateral, whithar pledged of receivid on derivalive inslrumints, s not considensd mateial and, accordingly, s net disdlosed by courttmanty.

8. Fair Value

Sea Nole 15, Consoidaled Company-Sponsomed Irmvestment Funds, for dsclosure of fair vatue of our consolidated company-sponsoed investment funds.

Fair value is defined as the price thal would De received 10 Sell an asset or pad 1o fransfer a liability (/2. the “exit prica”} in an ordery iransacton Detween
marked paricipants ® fe measurement date. The three broad levels of fair value hierarchy ang as Sollows:

= Level 1—CQuoted prices in active markets are available for identical assets or liabllities as of $e reporied date.
* Level 2—Ouoted prices in merkets that ane not active or ather pricing Inputs that ane eifer drectly or indirectly observable as of the reported dafe.

= Level 3—Prices or valuation lechmiques haf are both significant 10 Me fair value measurement and unobservable as of the reported date, These fnancial
instruments do nod have two-wary markets and are measured using menagement's best estimate of fair value, where the inguts into the determination of
fair value require significant management judgment of estimation.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
Waluation of our finandal instrurmens by picng cbseralbility levels as of Decsmber 31, 2022 and 2021 was a3 follows (in thousands):

I T, N 7 A I

December 31, 20220

Money markets $ a5 § — 5 — 5 — & — 5§ 85,521
Seaunties segregated (.S, Treasury Bills) - 1.521,708 - - - 1,521,705
Derivatives 1.768 - = 24 712
Investments:
Ecuaty securiies 125,655 an e 123 1434 159,067
Limited parinership hedge funds™ -- - -- .- 42 526 42
Tierv deposits’™ - 7.5 7.750
Crhatr irvesiments 6588 - - - 1,485 5,175
Total invesimens 1265 244 20898 129 1434 51,762 27518
Total assets monsured at Eair value 3 231833 % 1.5T2448 % 128 % 1484 § 51,7862 % 1859458
Derivatives 162 13550 - - - 3712
Conbingen] peniment arangements 247,309 247,308
Total liabil ties measured at fair valua 5 182 % 11550 % 247,300 % — 5 — % 1.0
Decamber 31, 2021:
Money markets 5 15195 5 - % - 5 - § - 5 151,156
Securities segregated (LS. Treasury Bills) — 1,503,828 — - - 1503828
Derivalives 332 15,030 - - — 15422
Innvestments
Equity secuiities 1449147 30284 126 145 —_ 134,472
Leong exchange-traded options 1883 — — — - 1,863
Limited partnership hadge funds™’ — — —_ —_ 850,920 50,920
Time deposits’® — - — — 21,004 21024
Crher emestments 2084 — — .- G015 15,109
Tl investiments 155,904 28284 126 145 77,958 273418
Total assets measured at falr value § oTa52 § 1558142 § 126 § 145 § TTesa § 1843834
Securties sold not yet purchased:
Short equities — corpomte 5 1084 % — % — 5 — 5 — 5 1,054
Short exchange-traded options 2774 — — — - 2774
Derivalives 1,186 15737 - - — 16,923
Contingen] peniment arangemeris = e 18,260 — - 38,260
Total linbilities measured at fair valus L] 5014 § 15737 % |/260 0§ — § — § 58,011

U Cerain amoants hawe been classfed as held for sake on the consobdaled statement of dnancial postion as of December 31, 2022 For rther discussion, see Male 24
Acquistions and Divestitures

A lvedtments medduned at far valie uding NAL (oF i squivalinl) 44 & pracical expadent.
Investments in equity method imvestees that ane not meassned at fair vabse in acoordanoe with SAAP.
A investments carmed af amertized cost thal ane not measured at fair value in accordance with GAAP.
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O invesirnents included in Level 1 of the fair vilue higrarchy indude our invesimint in & mutel fund measuned o faie vahee (55,7 million and S59.1 million

&5 of December 31, 2002 and 2021, respectivety). Other investments not measured af fair valug include (i) investments in slarup comparnies Tal do not

have a readéy available fair value (these investments were 50.3 million a5 of Decamber 31, 2022 and 2021), (i) investments in equity method invesiees that

are not measured at fair value in accordance with GAAR (during he therd guarter of 2022, we sold thes investment and the balance was reduced 1o zefo, as
fo 52.9 million as of Decernber 21, 2021). and (i} broker-dealer exchange memberships that ere nol measured of fair value in accordance: with

GAAP ($1.2 million and 32.8 million a5 of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respecively)

Wie pvowide balow a description of the fair value methoddogies used for instruments measured et fair value, as well as the general dassificatéon of such

Instrummenls pursuant 1o the valuslion hierarchy

= Movey markels: We nvest excess cash in vanous money manket funds thal are valued based on quobed prices in acive markels, these are induded in
Lewel 1 of the valuation hieranchy.

= Treasury Bills: W hoid LLS. Treasury Bills, which ane primanty segregated in @ special resene bank cusiody acoouent as requened by Rule 15¢3-3 of the
Exchange Act These securities are valued based on quoted yisids in secondary markets and are included in Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy

= Equity securities: Our equity secunties consis! pnncpaly of company-sponsored mutusl funds with Nay's and vanous separately menaged poriolios
consisting primarily of equity and fived income mutual funds with quoted prices in active markets, which ang induded in Level 1 of the valeation hierarchy.
In addition, scme secunties ane velued basad on chservable inputs from recognized pricing vendors, which are induded in Level 2 of the valuation
higrancivy.

* Denvatives: We hold exchange-traded futures with counterparties that are induded in Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. In addiion, we also hoid
cumency forwand contracts. inberest rate swaps, credil default Swaps. option swaps and fotal retum Swaps with counterparies that ane valued based on
ooeservabie inpuls from recoghiz éd prcng vendors, which are incuded in Level 2 of he valuation hierandy.

= Chptiors: W hold exchange-iraded opions thal ang included in Level 1 of the valuation hieranchy

« Securities sold not yet punchased: Secunties sold not yet purchased, primanty reflecting shon positions in equities and exchange-raded options, are
inchuded in Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy, As of December 31, 2022 these stcurilies have been cassiied as heid for sale on e consclidated
statement of financial positon,

= Condingent paymen! arangements: Contingent payment amangements refate to contingent payment kabilities assocated with vanous soquisitons. Al
sach reporing date, we esimabe Se fair values of the conlingent consideration epeched 10 be pald upon probability-wieighted AUM and revenus
projections, using uncbservable market data inputs, which are induded in Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy,

During thi years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, Shere wiste no Transfens between Level 2 and Level 3 secunties

The change in camying value associated with Level 3 dnancal insiruments camed at fair value, dassified as equily secunies, is as follows:

Decemibar 31

{in thesands )
Balance a5 of beginning of penod 5 126 % 125
Purchases - —
Sales — —
Realized gains (losses), ni - —
Unrealized gains (losses), net 3 1
Balance as of end of period ] 129 § 126

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on Level 3 finendal instruments are recorded in irsestiment gains and losses in e consoidated statements of
BCome.

] AllianceBemsiein
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Our sequisitions may indudé contingent consideration drmangements as part of the purchase pdce. Thi change in cimying vk assocated with Livel 3
financial instruments carmied &1 tair valug, dassified &5 contingsnt payment arangements, is as folows:

December 31

{in thousands)
Balance as of begnring of period 3 /O 5 27,750
Addition Mz 7800
Accrebon 2 3,310
Changes in esimates = (£00)
Held for sale redasafication {28,859 -_—
Balance as of end of period 5 MTiE 0§ 38,260

In e third quarer of 2022 we acquired Carial and reconded & conlingent congiderabon labdty of S2209 milion (see Nole 24 Acquisilions and
Drvestiies). The liability, ranging Irom 2end 1o $850.0 milbon, i5 based on Carval achievng cenan perfoimance objscives vl & Siyear paniod ending
Decernber 31, 2027, The liability was valued using a forecast of future cash flows atinbutable 1o e perfomance objectives hat are discounted to present
value using a risk-adjusied discount rate. The expeciad revenue growth rmies mnge from 3.9% o 31.5%, with a weighted average of 14.1%, calculated using
curnulative rinvenues and range of revenue growth rates. The discount rabes range fom 4.1% 10 46%, with & weighied average of 2%, caltulated wsing
total contingent liabdities and range of discount rates,

As of December 31, 2022, induding the CarVal acquisition, e expected reverue growth rales range from 2 0% fo £3.9%, with a weighled average of
1.5%. calculsted using cumulative revenues and renge of revenue growth rates (exduding revenue growth from addiional AUM confributed in year of
eoquisifon). The dscount reles ranged from 1,956 1o 1004%, with @ weighted average of 4.5%. calculated using tolal coningent liabilities and range of
discourt rates, As of Decamber 31, 2021, the expecied revenue growth rates range from 208 1o £3.9%, with a weighied average of 11.9%. calculated using
cumulalive revenues and range of revenue growth rales (excudng revenue growth from additional AUM confribuled in year of acquisition). The discount
rates mnged from 1.9% to 10.4%. with aweighted everage of 7.0%, caloulated using total contingent lisbilities and range of discount mtes.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nenrecurring Basis
‘e did not heve any material assefs or liabilites thal were measured al fair value for imparment on a norrecuming basis during e years ended

Decemnber 31, 2022 or 2021,
10. Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net
Fumiture, equipment and leasehold nprovements, net consist of

Years Enced December 31

{im thousands)
Furnilure and equipment T  BDSSET 5§ 834161
Leasshold improverments 3 N0
Tedal B85, 187
Less: Accumuialied depreciabon and amorization [716,022)
Fumiturs, equipment and leasshald improvements, net 5 H 169,175

Depredation and amortization expense on fumiture, equipment and leasehold improvements were $39.7 million. 538 8 milion and 5282 milicn for the years
ended Decermber 31, 2022 2021 and 2020, respectively
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11. Deferred Sales Commissions, Net

Ther components of defermed sabes commissions, net for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were a5 follows (excluding amounts refated 1o fully
amorized defermed sales commisdons]

Years Ended December 11
{in thousands )
Carmying amount of defermed sales commissions % 172181 % 177,233
Less: Accumulated amorizaton (66, 164) {53.976)
Cusrulative COSC received |53, 74T 1448,358)
Deferred sales commissions, net 5 52,250 % T4.859

Amartizalion expense was 534 8 milion, $24 4 million and 527 4 millicn for the years ended December 31, 2022 2021 and 2020, respectively. Estimaled
fullre amorizaton expense refated io the December 31, 2022 net asset balance. assuming no addiional COSC ks recefved in fulure periods, 15 as lollows
{in thousands)

2003 §  DapE
2004 17.848
2025 5,308
2026 410
Total 5 5229
12. Debt

Credit Facility

AH has an 5800.0 millon commitied, unsecured senior revolving credi faciity (the "Credit Facility™) with a group of commerdial banks and other lenders,
which matures on Qctober 13, 2036, The Credit Fadlity prosides for possible increases in the principal amount by up to an aggregate incremental amount of
3000 million; any such increass is subject o the consent of the affecied lenders. The Cradit Faclity is available for AB and Sanford C. Bemsten & Co.,
LLC {"SCB LLC") busingss purposes, induding the suppor of AB'S comméndal paper program. Both AB and SCB LLC con driw dinectly under the Credit
Facity and managemeni may draw on the Creds Facility from e 1o e, AB has agreed 1o guaranies the obliga®ons of SCB LLC wnder the Credit Fadility

Thee Credit Facility containg affirmative, négothes and Snancial covenants, which ane cusiomany for faalibes of this type, induding réstriclions on dispositions
of assels, resiniclions on Bens. a minimum inerest coverage ratio and a madmum leverage rabo. As of December 31, 2022, we were in compliance wilh
these covenants. The Credil Fadlity also indudes customany events of defaull (with customary grace periods. as applicable), induding provisions under
which, upon the ocourmence of an event of default, afl outstending loans may be accelerated andior lender's commitments may be terminated. Also, under
such provisions, upon e ccowTmence of certain inschvency- o bankuptoy-related events of default, all amounts payable under the Credit Fadlity would
automatically become immedEately due and payable, and the lender’'s commitments aulomatically would temminate.

Amaounts under the Credit Facility may be bomowed, repeed and re-bomeswed by us from ime o ime un@ the mateity of te facility. Violuntary prepayments
and commitment reducions requestad by us ane permitied at amy Bnve without & fee (oiher than cuslomary breakage oosts releing 1o the prepayment of any
drawn loans) upon proper nolice and subject o a minimun dollar requirement. Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest a1 a rabe per annum, which
will e 2t our option, @ rte equal 1o an appicable margin, whech is subject 1o adjustment based on he credit ralings of AB. phus one of The Tallowing Indices:
Lendon inferbank Offered Rate; a ficating basa rale; of the Federal Funds rate.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had ne amounts cutsianding under the Credit Facility. During 2022 and 2021, we did not draw upon the Credil
Fascility.
EQH Facility

AB alsa has & T2000 million commifed, unsecined semor oedit Fadlity ("EQH Facility™) with EOH. The EOH Facility malires on November 4, 2024 and is
available for AB's general business purposes. Bormowings under the EQH Facility generally bear interest af a rate per annum based on prevailing evemight
cormmercial paper rates.

&6 AllianceBernstein
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The EQH Facility containg afirmative. negative and Snancal covenants which are substanSally similar 1o o in AB'S committed bank faciliies. The EQH
Faaity also indudes custormany events of defaull substantially similar 1o Swose in AB'S commifled bank fadlifes, incuding provisions under which, upen the
cccumence of an event of default. &l cuistanding loens may be accelerated andfor the lender’s commitment may be terminated.

Amounts under the EQH Fadility may be bomowed. repaid and re-bormowed by us from time to ime untl the maburity of the iaclty. AB or EQH mary reduce or

terrrinate the commitment al ary ime withoul penalty upon proper notice, EQH also may terminate the fadlity immedately upon a change of contrel of our

general pariner.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, AB had S500.0 miflion and 57550 million outstanding under Sw EQH Facility with mlerest rates of appradmabely 4.3%

end 0.2%, respectvely. Average daly bomowings on the EQH Facility duning 2022 and 2021 were S855.2 million and S404.6 milkon, respecively, with

weighled everage ineres rates of approximately 1.7% and 0.2%, respectively,

EQH Uncommitied Facility

In addiion o the EQH Facity, AB has a 5300 0 milllon uncommitied. unsecured senior aredit fadiity ("EQH Uncommitted Facility™) with ECQH. The EQH

Uncommitted Fadility matures on September 1, 2024 and is avalable for AB's general business purposes. Bomowings under the EQH Unsecured Facility

genemlly bear interest a1 a rle per annum based on prevailing ovemight commerndal paper rates. The EQH Uncommitied Facility contains affirmative,
end financial covenants which are substantally similar 10 those in She EQH Faciity, As of December 31, 2022 we had 250.0 millien outstanding

under the EQH Uncommitied Faclty with an inerest rate of approximately 4.3%, Average daily bomowings on the EQH Fadlty during 2022 weng
50 7 million with 8 weighted average inerest rate of approximately 4. 3%. Dunng 2021, we did not draw on the facility.

Commarcial Papar

As of both December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had no commerdal paper cutsianding. The commencial paper is shorl temm én nature, and as sudh, recorded
value is estimated to approvdémate fad value {and considersd a Level 2 security in the fair value hierardhy). Average daily bomowings of commercial paper
during 2022 and 2021 were $189.9 million and $157.0 milion, respectivily, with weighted avemge interest rates of spproimately 1.5% and 02%,
respectively.

Revolving Credit Facility

AB had & S200.0 million commitied, unSecured Senior revaiving credit Tacity {the “Revolver™) with a leading intemabional bank. which matured on November
16, 2021. Average daily bomowings under the Revolver for 2021 were $13.3 million with a weighted average interest rate of approxdmatehy 1.1%.

SCB Lines of Cradit

SCB LLC currenty has five uncommittied Enes of credit with five financial institutions. Four of these lines of cedt pamit us 1o borow up to an aggregate of
spprondmately S315.0 milion, with AB named as an addiional borower, whie the ofver Ine has no steted limit. AB has agreed fo guaraniee the obligafions
on SCB LLC under hese Ines of credl. As of Decermber 21, 2022 and 2021, SCB LLC had no oulstanding balance on these lings of aredil. Average daily
bomowings on the lines of credt duing 2022 and 2021 were 51.4 milion and 34T thousand, respectively, with wesghted average interest rases of
approdmately 3.7% and 0.99, respectively.

13. Leases
Wi bease affice space, oMoe equiprment and nemmiogr under vanous operating and finandng leases, Our cument leases hine nemaming lease terms of one

wyear 1o 15 years, some of which indude options to extend the leases for up to five years, and some of which indude eptions 1o lerminate the leases within
oné year. Since 2010, we have subJleased over one million square feet of office space.
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Leases induded in e condolidated statements of finandcal condition &5 of December 31, 2022 and 2021 wene &5 follows

m December 3, 2022 December 31, 2021

(im Eheusands)

Crperating Leases

Operating lease night-of-use assets Right-ol-use assels 5 414,105

Cpemating lease labiliies Lease Eabilites 482781

Finance Leases

Praperty and equipment. gross Right-ol-use asses 18,115 10,947

Amartization of Aght-of-use assats Right-ol-use assels B.310 {3.072)
Froperty and equipment, net 7675

Finance lease kabilties Lease kabilties 11,840 7.954

Thie Cornponents of lease expenss included in the consdidaled stalements of income for fiv years ended Dectmber 31, 2022 and 2021 were a5 follows

Years Ended December 31

Classification

{in thogsands )

Operating | ease cosl General and adminisirative 5 7198 B 97 465
Financing lease cost

Armorfizabon of Aght-ol-use assats Ganeral and adminisrative 3880 2355

Imberest on ease |iabilities Irteres! expense 0 107
Tital finanoe beage cogl 2462
‘ariable lease cost | General and administrative 39,827
Subleasa inoome General and adminisirative {37.317)
Met lease cost 5 5 102438

U ariabde lease expenss ncluces Speraling expentes real estate laxes and employes parking

The subleass income represents all revenues recesved from sub-lenants. it is primarily fixed base rental payments combined with vanable reimbuwrsements
such as operating expenses, real estate taxes and employes parking. The vast mejority of sub-tenent income is denved from our Mew York mefro sub-tenant
agreements. Sub-tenant income redated bo base rent is recorded on a siraight-ine besis.

Manantes of lease kabilities ane &s follows

Operating Leddss Frnancing Ledses

Year gnding Decamber 31, (in housands)
2023 5 ar488 5 a1 3 101,658
2004 104,596 3258 107,854
2025 Tae 2828 40,147
2006 35,808 1,810 37618
207 328 324 33,145
Thereatter 146,319 — 146,319
Totial lesses payTreents 454 352 12389 S 456,741
Less imterest {38.813) (449)
Presant value of leass lisbilites 3 415533 & 11,940
B AtlianceBemsiein

280/343



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Tabvie of Confonts
Partll

W b sitried @ st thist commences in 2024, relating to appecdmatedy 166,000 square Toel of space in Mew Yok City. O estimated total base rent
cbligawn I:'&‘Iﬂl.ﬂtﬁﬂ 1acEs, npu‘a!ng expenges and ulibes) over the myﬁarlem ey iS5 approxdmately 5356 0 milkon

Lease term and discount rate:
Wveighted average remaining bease borm iyears);

Operating leases 125

Finance leases 34T
Weighted average discount rata:

Operafing leases 2589 %

Finance leases. 210%

Supplemenial mon-cash acivity related to leases are a5 follows:

Years Enced Decembar 11

(i thousands)
Right-of-usa assets oblaned in exchange for leass obligations''
Operating [eases 3 AMETH B 82,379
Firdince |aases 773 7782

! Repredants non-cath acivEy and, sceordinghy, is acl refecied in the sonsebdied slatements of cash flows,
14. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

A indicited in Nobe 13, we ledse ofice space. office equipment and technology under vanou s easing amangements. Th Rilune minimum payments under
nor-canclable leases, sublease commitments and related payments we are obligated to make, net of sublease commitments of third party lessees o make

payments 1o us. as of Decernber 31, 2022 are as fallos:

Sublease Receipls Met Payments

2023 5 1076 5 319 5 757
i el ] 1088 130.9) T8.0
2025 K] — £33
2026 557 — 557
2007 513 — 513
2028 and Tersafler A87.T — 4877
Total future minmum payments 5 BEALS 5 (g28) 3 BOG.T

Sea Node 13 for material lease commitments.

Legal Proceedings

On Decernber 14, 2022, four indrvidual pericpants in the Profit Sharing Plan for Employees of AkanceSemstein LP, (the "Plan”) filed a dass action
complaint (the “Complabnt™y in the LS. Districl Court for e Scuthem District of New York against AB, curent and former members. of the Compensation
Cornmatten, @nd the Ineesiment and Administralive Commifiess under the Flan. Plaintifs, who seek 10 represent & cass of all participants in the Plan fom
Decerber 14, 2016 1o the present. allege hal defendants vidialed ther fidecary duthes and engaged i prohdbited ransactions under the Employes
Redirernent kncome Seawity Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), by inciudng proprietary collecive investment trusts as investment options offered under
the Plan. The Complaint seeks unspealed damages, dsgorgernent and other egquitable relied. AB is prepared to defend itsell vigorously aganst these
daims. While the Wtimate outcome of this matter is cumently not deferminable ghven the mather remains in its sarty stages. we @0 nol believe this iigason
will i & malenal adverse efféct on our results of operations, financial cond@ion of liquidity.
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AB miry be invelved in viriois olber matiers, induding reguiatony inquires, administrathe prociadngs and lifgation, some of which may allége Sgnificant
damages. i is reasonably possible that we could incur losses pertaining 10 these olber matiers, but we cannal curmently estmate ary Such losses
Managernent. after consultation with legal counsel, cumentty balieves that e oulcome of any other individeal matter that is pending or threatened, or al of
therm combined, will not have a metenal adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condiion of liguidity. However, any inguiry, proceseding or
tigation has an element of uncertainty. managemaent cannot determine whether further developments relating to any other indnidual matier that is pending
o threatenéd, or all of thern oomibingd. will hive & mabénal adverse efliect on our resulls of operation, inancal condition of iquidity in &y Tulune repaning
peniod

Other

Curing 2010, as general partner of AllianceBamslan LS Red Estate LP (Real Estate Fund'), we comemittéd 1o irmest 3250 milion in the Real Estale
Fund. As of December 31, 2022 we had funded 522 4 milllon of this commitment, During 2014, as general partner of AlllanceBermnstein ULS, Real Estate i
L P ("Real Estate Fund Iy we commitied to irmeest 5273 million, as amended in 2020, in the Real Estate Fund I, As of December 31, 2022, we had funded
521.6 million of this commitment.

15. Conscolidated Company-Sponsored Investment Funds

W reguiarty provide seed capital 10 new company-sponsored investrent funds, As such, we may consolidate or de-consalidate a vanety of company-
sponsored investment funds each quarter. Cue to the smdanty of nsks related to our involvement with each compeny-sponsored Ewestment fund,
disclosures requined under the VIE model ane aggregated, such as dsclosures regarding the carmying amount and dassificaion of assels.

Wie are not reqguired to provide financial support 1o compamy-sponsored imvestment funds and only the assels of such funds are avaliable to setle each
fund's own Eabiliies. Our esposure 10 loss reganding consolidated compamesponsored (mvestment funds is Emited b our imeestment in, and our
managernent fee eamed from, such funds. Equity and debt holders of such funds have no recourse 10 AB's assels or to the general credt of A,

e balances of consolideted VIES nduded in cur consolidated statements of inancal condition were as Tollows:

December 3, 2033 December 31, F021

{in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents 5 12751 % 90,326
Investments 516,538 &13,025
Oner assets 44424 30,461
Total assels 5 S80T1N § Tane
Liabites 5 55520 S &7.000
Redeernable non-corroling imeesst 68 656 421,165
Partriers” capital atinbutable ko AB Unitholders 185,506 235643
Todal liabilies, redeemable non-controlling inerest and partners” capital 5 580711 % TaLEI2

During 2022, we deconsolidaied fve funds in which we had seed invesiments tolalng appresdmately 551.8 million as of December 31, 2021 due bo no lenger
having a contrailing Snancial inferast.

Fair Value
Cash end cash equivalénts indude cash on hand, demand deposits. owemnight commerdal paper and highly Bquid investments with original maturities of
thoes months or less. Due to the short-term natune of these insiruments, the recorded value has been defermined o approcdmate fair value,

a0 AllianceBermstein
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Viduation of consalidatid company-sponsontd investment funds' Snancial instruments by priding observability levels & of December 21, 2022 and 2021 was

a5 follows (in housands)

Dacomber 31, 2022:

ISt s s 125,708 s I35 520 s £

Dedivaives 1.524 6,023 7500
Toal assets moaswred at fair value 5 131,235 % 392853 % 5 524,068

Deivatves 5 14032 S B60RE 3 - 3
Todal lEabilfies measined & Tair valoe L 14,8932 L1 B B0 ] £ 21,540
Decomber 31, 2021:

Irrvisirments 5 165415 8§ 444253 8 3357 8 B13.025

Detivatves 622 5265 — 5587
Total assets measured at fair value 5 165037 % H%HE 5 3357 % Q‘Isﬂ

Derivadves -3 1829 5 2081 8 — 5 16,342
Tedal liabiliies msaswned ot fair valus 5 16,281 % 2051 % - % 18,342

Seo Note § for a description of the fair value methodoogies used for insiruments measuned al fair valye, a5 well a5 he general cassification of Swedh
instruments pursuant fo the valuation hierarchy,

The change in camying value associated with Level 3 financial instnuments camed at Tair value within consolidated company-sponsoned imestment fumds
was a5 fofows:

Deeeinbar 3T,

{in thoasands )

Balance as of beginning of pesiod = 3 619
Deconsalidated funds i {717}
Transfers {out) {206)
Purchases IETS
Sales (248} (7}
Resalized gains. net 3
Unresitzed {losses), net — 13
Balance as of end of period 5 - 3357

The Level 3 securitias primarily consist of corporate bonds that are vendor pricad with no mtings available, bank loans, non-agency collateralized morigage
cbligations and asset-backed securities.

Transhers info and oul of all levels of the fair value hierarchy ane reflected ot end-of-period fair velees. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on Level 3
financial instruments are recorded in imvestment gains and losses In the consolidated stalements of mcome.
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Derivative Instruments

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the VIES held S14.0 million and $12.5 million (nef), respectively, of flures. forwands, cpions and Swaps within thesr
portfolios. For the years ended Decernteer 31, 2002 and 2021, we recognized 59.4 milken and 50.7 million of losses, respectively, on Tese demvatives.
These gains and Josses are recognized in nvestment gains (losses)in the consolidated statements of imcome.

A5 of Decernber 31, 2022 and 2021, the VIES held 527 mlllon and 509 million, respectvely, of cash colialéral payable to rade countempares This
chligation fo retum cash is reporied in the fiabdities of consolidated company-sponsored investment funds in cur consclidated stalements of finanaal
condition

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the VIES delivered 554 milion and $1.8 milkon, respectively, of cash collateral info brokerage accours. The VIES
report this cash cofateral in the consolidated company-sponsoned investment funds cash and cash equivalents in our consolidated statements of Tnancial
comdition,

Offsetting Assets and Liabilities
Cifsetting of derivative assels of consolidated comparry-sponsored investment funds as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

i A ounis Hed Amounts of
Offset in the| Assels Presented

Statemnert of| in the SEatement of
Amounds af Financial Fiman-cial
ized Assels Condition Condition

Cashh Colaberal Med
Received Bmeouant

(i thowsands

Dacember 31, 2022

Dertvalives < E T 5 a1 - 4
Dacember 31, 2021:

Derivalives 5 5887 § - 5 5B8T % - 3 (904y S 4983

Cefseting of denvative llabilities of consolidated company-sponsoned investment funds as of Decamber 31, 2022 and 2021 was as folays

Met Amounts
Gross Amounts of Liabililies
Critset in the

Amounis Btabenn e i
Recogr Financial Med
Liabil = Condition g Amount

(i thowsandsy

Decamber 31, 2023

Dervalives o4 : 5 4 : £ 5444 : 16,05
Decamber 31, 2021:
Derivalives ] 18242 § - & 18342 % = § (1824} & 16.518

Cash colialeral, whether pledged o received on derivalive instrurents, is nol consdersd malenal and, acoordingly, s nol disdosed by courleqparty

Nen-Consclidated VIEs

As of Decermber 31, 2022, e net assets of compeny-sponsoned inestment products thal are non-consaidated VIES are approdmalely 5464 bilion. our
mmisderunn mek of loss ks eur inmvestirent of 55,7 million in these VIEs and our advisory fees recevable from these VIES are 554, 2 milkon, A5 of December 31,
2021, the net assels of company-sponsoned invesiment products al were non-consolidated VIES was approodmately SE8.9 billion; our madmum sk of loss
‘WS our investment of $3.8 millicn in these VIEs and our advisory fees recefvable from ese VIEs were $75.7 million

L F) AlliarceBermatein
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16. Net Capital

SCB LLC s registersd a5 & broker-dealer under e Exchange Act aind i3 subject 1o the minimum ret capital requirements imposed by the LS. Sedaurities
and Exchange Commission ("SECT), SCB LLC computes its nel capitel under he allemative memhod permitted by the applicable nde. which requires sat
mmimum net capital, &s defined, equals the greater of 51 million or two percent of aggregate debit items ansing from customer ransactions, as defined. As
of December 31, 2022, 5CB LLC had net capital of $323.1 milion, whech was 5284 9 million in excess of e minimum nel capital reguirement of 5382
million. Advances, dividend payments and other equaty withdrawals by SCB LLC are resiicled by regulations impesed by the SEC, T Financial Indusiny
Riguiatony Autority, Inc., and other Securilies dgences.

Cur UK -based broker-dealer (s a member of the London Siock Exchange. As of December 31, 2022 il was subject to finandal resources requirements of
£45.4 million imposed by the Finandal Conduct Autherty of the Uniled Kngdom and had aggregate requistory Snancisl resources of S51.0 milion, an
excess of 556 milkon over the required bevel

AllianceSemsiedn Imvestments, inc. ("ABT), another one of our subsidianes and the dsinbutor andior undereniter for certain company-sponsared mutusl
funds, is registered as a broker-dealer under the Exchange Act and is subject 1o the minimum net capital requirements imposad by the SEC. As of
Decernber 31, 2022 AR had net capital of 553 5 million, which wis 5522 milion in exoidss of s required net capitad of 0.3 millien.

Many of our subsidiaries arcund the world are subject to minimum net capital requirements by the local law's and regulations to which they are subject As of
Decernber 31, 2022 each of our subsidianies subject o B minimurm net capital requirement satisfied the applicable requirernent.

17. Counterparty Risk

Customer Activities

In the normal course of business. brokerage acihilies invalve the execulion. setlerment and finandng of varous customer securities trades. which may
expose our broker-dealer cpemtions to oftbalance sheet nsk by requinng ws to purchass or sl securities at presading market prices in the event the
Ccushomer is unable to Tuifill its contractual ohiigations

Cur customer secunties acivities are fmnsacted on efther 8 cash or margn basis. in margn rensactions, we extend credit to the customer, subjedt o
various regulatory and intemal mangn requinements. These transactions are collateralized by cash of securities in the customes’s account. In connection with
these activities, we may execule and dear cusiomer ransactions imalving the sale of securities nol yel purchased. We seek to condrol e risks assocated
with Fdrgin iransactionsg by requiing customerns 10 maintam collateral in compliance with the alorementionsd reguiatony and intémal quidslings, YWe monilor
required margn levels daily and, pursuant o Such guideines, require custormers 1o deposit addiional collateral, or reduce positons, when Necessary. &
majority of cur customes margin accounts ane managed on a discreélionary basis whaneby we maintsin contral over the investmeant activity in the accounts.
For these discretionary accounts, our margin defidency expoesne is minimized by our maintaining a diversified portiolio of sequrfies in thi: accounts. our
discretonary authenty and our U5 -based broker-dealer's role as custodian.

In accordance with indusiry practice, we record customer transactions on a setiement dale basis, which generally s two business days after frede date for
our LK and LS. operations. We ane exposad o nisk of loss on these ransadions in the event of the customer’s inability o mesd e tenms of their
confracts, in which case we may have 1o purdhase of Sall inancial insiruments a1 prévaling makel phoes. The ks we assume in conhecion with these
transactions ane not expecied fo have a malenal adverse effect on cur financial condtion of results of operations.

Other Counterparties

Wiz are engaged in various brokerage, futures, forwards, oplions and swap activities on behall of clients, in which counterparties prmarily incude broker-
dealers, banks and other fnancal insitutions, In the evenl these courterparies do nod fuifill thesr obégations, our dients and we may be exposed 1o loss.

The risk of defaull depends on the creditworthiness of the counterparty. It is our policy fo reviiw, as necessary. sach counterparty’s creditworthiness.

In connection with Securty borrowing and lending amangements. wi enter into collpleralized agreements, which may resull in polential boss in T cvend the
counterparty 1o a fransaction is unable to flfill ils confracheal cbligaions. Security bomowing amangements require us to deposit cash coltateral with the
tender. With respect to security lending amangements, we recetve collaleml in the form of cash in amounts generally in excess of the marked value of he
securiBes loaned. Ve atternpt fo mitigate credit risk assocated with these activities by establishing cred! limits for each broker and monitoring thiese limits on
& dally basis, Addtonally, security bomowing and lending collateral is marked 1o market on & daily basis, and additonal collatersl i deposited by of retumsd
10 LS 85 necessary

02 Annual Repon 3
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Wi enier indo various fulwnes, forwands, aptions and Swaps primanly fo economically hedge cortain of our Seed money imesiments. Ve may be exposed 1o
credil losses in e event of nonperlommance by courlerparties to these denvatve Bnancial instruments. See Note 7, Devvatve Instruments Tor Rether
disCussion

18. Qualified Employee Benefit Plans

‘W maintain a qualifed profit sharing plan covenng LS. employees and certain foreign employees. Employer contributions ane discrefionary and generally
Birmnited 1o the medmurn amoun] deductible for federal income tax puposes. Aggrgate contrbutions wise S17.5 million, S16.5 million and §15.6 millien for
2022, 2021 and 2000, respectively,

Wi maintan several defined contribution plans for foreign employees working for our subsidianies in the United Kingdom, Australia. Japan and other
lozatons outside e United Stales. Emplover contnbutions generaly afe concistent with regulatory requrements and tax limits Defned contributon
expense for forgign entbes was $10.2 million, 59.8 milion and SE.4 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively

W maintain a gualified, nencontibutory, defined beneS! retirement plan |"Retirement Plan”) covering curment and former employees who were employed by
AB I the United States prior to October 2, 2000, Benefls are based on years of credided service, average final base salary (85 defined in the Retinement
Flan) and prmary Social Security benefits, Sendce and compensation afer December 31, 2008 are nod taken info account in determining partcpants
refirement benefits.

Qur pedicy i to salishy cur funding clbligition Tor ddch year in an amount ot kess than e minimum requined by ERISA and nol griater than the masdmum
amount we can deduct for federal income fax purposes. We did not make a confribution to the Refrement Plan dunng 2022, We do not curently anticipale
that we will confribute 1o the Retirement Plan during 2023, Contribution estimates, which are subject to change, are based on regulatory requirements, fubre
markel condilions and assurnplions wsed for achuarial computations of the Retirement Plan's obligations and assets. Management, al the present ime. has
nof determingd the amount, if 8y, of addiional future contributions that may be requingd.

The Relirerment Plan's proecied benelil obligation, fair value of plan assets and funded status {amounts recognized in the consolideled stalements of
financial condton] were as folows:

Yoars Encded Decembar 31

{in thousands )

Change in prajected benafit obligation

Prajected beneht obligation af beginning of year

s 141862 8 151,124

ISt cost 3958 3,784
Flan sefllements 4, 524) {5.803)
Actuadial (gain} {37.839) {4.447)
Benefits paid (2877} {2.806)
Projected benefit obligation af and of year 100,450 141,862
Change in plan assets:
Fian assats &l far vaiee al beginning of year 130,939 12502
Actual refum on plan assels {27,448} 14,525
_Erruuyerwmmrtlm — —_
Plan setflernents (4.524) {5.803)
Benedits paid (2977} {2.806])
Flan assets at fair value al end of year 25990 130,933
Fundad status 5 (h460) 3§ {10.823)

Effective December 31, 2015, the Relrement Flan was amended to change the acheanal basis wsed for comearting a life annuity benafit ta opSonal forms of
payment and cormeering benefits payable al age 85 o eadier commencement dafes. This prior senvice oot will be amortized over future years.

a4 AllianceBernstein
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The amounts recagnized i ofner comprehansive income {less) for the Retirerent Plan for 2022, 3021 and 2020 were as follows:
{in thouisands)

Unrecognized net gain (loss) from expenence diffenent from th assumed and effects of changes
and assumplions 5 5 15858 & {4.0889)
Prior service cost 24 24 24

G543 15882 {4.085)
InCome tix | Expense) (33) (BT} {216]
Other comprebansive incoma (loss) ¥ G510 % 15,785 5 (4,281)

Thee gain of 56.5 million recognized in 2022 was primanily dué o changes in the discount rate and lump Sum inlerest rates of (338.7 million), setement 0ss
recegrized of ($1.7 million) and the recognized actuanal loss of (31,0 milion), offset by actual eamings 1E55 than expected eamngs on plan assels (334.0
millign), changes in the corsus data (505 milion) and changes in adustments for participants who recsived their pension 25 & lump sum (S0.4 millier ),

The gain of 5158 mdlion recognized in 2021 was primarily due to actual eamings exceading expected eamings on plan assets {582 milion), changes in the
discount rate and lump sum interest rates of (556 milkon), setiernent loss recognized of (52.0 million) and the recognized actuadal less of (51.5 milfion),
offsat by changes in the census data (51.0milllon) and changes in the mortalty assumption ($0.2 milkon),

The loss of $4.3 milion recognized in 2020 primarity was due fo changes in the discount rate and lump sum interest rates (S16.7 million). offset by achual
eamings exceedng expecied eamings on plan assets ($10.4 million), changes in the mortality assurmption (31,0 million), the recognized ackeanal loss
{514 rfllion) and changes in census data (50,4 million)

Fergign refrement plans and an individual's retinement plan maintained try AB ane nol material 1o AB"s consdlidated finanaal statements. As such, disdosure
for these plans is not necessary. The reconaliafion of the 2022 amounts recognized in other comprehensive incorme for e Retirernent Flan as companed o
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (“0C) Statement™) is as falows:

m Retired Individual|

(in busands)
Recognized actuerial gain 3 6518 % wr s ez 6922
Amortization af prior senice oot a4 - - 24
Changes in employes benefit refated items 5.543 107 256 6,946
InGome tax |Expense) (33} — (62} 1351
Employes banalit rlated items, net of tax 3 6510 3 107 3 345 5851

Thee amouns incuded in accumulated olher comprehensive boss for Te Retirerment Plan a5 of December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as folows:

{im thowsands)
Unrecognized riet bloss from expéience diferent from that assumed and effecls of changes and assumplions -3 (37,249} 8 {43.768)
Prior senvice cost (B8] (683]
{37.908) 144.451)
Incoame tax benefit 177 210
Accumulatad other comprehensive loss 5 (3T, 731) % (44,241)

The: amortization period over which we ane amortizing the koss Tor the Rerement Plan from accumuiated olher comprehensive income is 27.9 years. The
estimated prior sendce oost and amortization of 10ss Tor the Retirement Plan hat will be amortized from accumutated alher comprenensive income over the
et year gne 524,000 and 51,0 milkon, respectively,

The accumulated benefit obligation for the plan was 510005 million and $141.8 milien as of Decamber 31, 2022 and 2021, respectivety

22 Anrual Repodd a5
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The digcount rales wsed 10 detéming benefil obligations as of Decembaer 31, 2022 and 2021 (measurerment dabis) wene 5500 and 2 20%, respecthihy.
Benedt payments are expected to be pasd as follows (in thousands |

2023 5 10,121
2024 B.TE7
20025 8058
2006 7B
207 8743
2005- 2032 38,404

Med expense under the Retirement Flan conslsted of:

Wears Eniled December 31

in Hypusands)
Intenesi cost on projected beneff cbiigations 5 3md % 4443
Expected rétum on plan assets (6.351) {5.084)
Amortization of prior senvice cost 24 24
Satgement boss recognized 1 2,024 .
Recognized achuarial loss 1,042 1,447 1,386
Mot pansion sxpanse 5 11§ aE § (231}

Actusrial computations used to determine net paniodic costs were made Utilizing the fallowing weighted-average assumptions:

YWeads Endlod Decembier 31

255% 3.5 %
5.25% 5.50%

Cescount rate on benefit obligatons
Expecied long-term rate of retum on plan assels

In devedoping the expected long-term rate of retum on plan assels of 5.25%, management considered the historcal relums and future expectations for
refums. for each assel category, as well as fhe farget asset afocation of the portiolio. The expected fong-term rate of retum on assets is based on weighted
average expected reiums for each assel dass

Asof December 31, 2022, e moriality projection assumplion used he generaional MP-2021 improvement scale, which ks consistent with Te improvement
scale used in 2021, Prior to 2021, mortality was projected generaiionally using the MP-2020 improvernents scale, The base mortality assumption used is the
Sociaty of Aduares Pri-2H2 base moraility table for private secior plans. with a whilecollar adjustiment, using the coninganl annuitant table for
beneficianes of deceased participants

The Intemal Revenue Service (“TRS) recenty updated the mortality tables used 1o determing lump sums. For fiscal year-end 2022, we reflected the most
recentty published IRS table for lump sems assumed to be paid in 2023, We projecied futune mortality for lump sums assumed 1o be paid after 2023 using
the cument base mortality tables (RP-2014 backed off to 2006 and projection scale of MP-2021

The Retirernent Flan's assat allocation percentages consisted of

Yoars Ended December 1

Equity 46 % £2%
Dedt secirities 42 ]
Omher 12 10
Total 100 % 100 %

Thié guidelings regarding allocation of assels are formalized in e Invesiment Policy Statemént adopted by the Imedsment Comemities for the Retirement
Fian. The chiective of the investment program is to enhance the portiolio of the Retirement Plan throwgh total retumn (capital appreciation and incomee),
ﬂ'ueretq'rgiomuung the ongoing ability of the Retrernent plan to meed future lisblifies and cbligatens, while minimizing Twe need for addtional conbutions.
The guicelines specify an allocation

ab AllianceBermstein
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weighting of 108 10 35% for llabéity hedging investments (fangat of 24%) 15% to 4086 for refum seeking investments (larget of 27%) 5% to 35% for nisk
meligating mnesiments Lrged of 10%:), 1086 to 355 for dn.-erslﬂ-ln? msﬂmmts{ of 21%) and 5% 1o 35% for dynarmec asse! alocation (lamget of ls%h
||‘Nﬁh'nﬂ'r'f|$ in muhaal % ds (and other altemative investments), and olher m&d Investment vehdes are permitted Imvestirment P
Saternent. Investments are pém in overlay portiolios (reguiated mutual funds). which ane designed 1o manage shart-lerm portfolio risk and mitigate e
effect of extreme oulcomes By vanying he allocation of & portioso.

Sew Note 8, Fair Vaive for a descniption of how we measure the fair value of our plan assets.
The valuation of cur Retirement Flan assels by pricing observability kevels as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 was as follows (in thousands)

Decambier 31, 2022

Cash

L5, Treasury Sinps

Firied incorme mutual lunds

Fixed incorme securiies

Equety madual funds

Equity securites

Tolal arssels m the Tair value hierandy - [ 3
Investments measured 8l net assets value — — — 17,067
Investrments at fakr value ] 40,582 % 38,531 ] 5 a5, oo

Decamber 31, 2021

Cash 5 a7 5 — 5 — 5 47
U5, Treasury Sinps — 32 355 - 32385
Fied incorme mufual unds 17 477 —_ —_ 17477
Equety masual funds 43,786 — - 43,786
Equity securites 14,501 - = 14,801
Total essets in the fair value hierandhy TEAN 32 355 — 108,466
Investments measured &1 net assets value — — - 22473
Investments &t tair value ] eI % 32355 3% — 5 130,939

During 2022 and 2021, the Refrement Flan's investments include the following:
= LS. Treasury stips, (2ero-coupon bonds),

= ond foed income mutual fund in 2022, 85 compired 10 two foed income mutssl funds in 2021, The Tund induded in bolh 2022 and 2021 pursues an
Bgressive invesiment mmﬂﬂng a vm of msset dasses. This fund secks inflation profection from imvestments around the giobe, both in
developed and em counines, The a monm fund inciuded in 2021 saughl ta g Income consistent with preservation of capital.

= 5 equity mutual funds in boih 2022 and 2021, which focus on both U 5.-based and non-U.S.-based equity securies of verious capitalization sizes
ranging from small to large capitalization and diversified portiolics within thase capitalization renges;

= one asset allocabon muteal fund, which seeks fo moderate overall volatifty and limit extreme outcomes in times of market siress. without sacrificing long-
term growth polential. This fund continuousty adjusts the mix of global equities. bonds and reated “opporunistic” assets based on our view of prospective
mirked condtions:

ond Separalely mans BECOUNT, iR Lot ﬂlmmb-eg L L& Corporate indéx This portiaio imvests in ULS doliar denominabed
imeesstment grade fiy mmmnaﬁmﬂa?gas 10 years to matur "‘ﬂ

= o albemalve imesiment. securtized assels hedge fund with & fﬂ:us on molgage ofedit, Ity Through investment in Credil Risk Transfer
Securities, residential mongage-backed securties. commerndial morigage-backed secunties and other esset-backed securfes. and

invesiments measured a1 nel asset value, anmwmusnmmz and 2021; one fund 15 8 longshon equity-fotused mult-manager hedge
fund invesling across indusiries and geographies. The second fund sesks 1o provide afractive risk-adjusted returms over Rl market cycles with |ess
velatity han thal of broad equity markets by aliocating all or substantially all of thesr assats among portiolio managers Birough portiolo furids thal employ
abroad range of irmvestiment mhﬂlﬂ.
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19. Long-term Incentive Compensation Plans

Ve maintsn an unfunded, non-qualifed incentive compensaion progrim known 85 the AllanceBemsten ncenthve Compensation Award Program
{ Incantive Comperaation Program”) under which annual awards may be granted to elighle employess. See MNole 2. "Summary of Significant Accounting
Poilicies — Long-Termn Incentive Compensation Fians” for a discussion of e award provisions.

Under the incentive Compensation Program. we made awards in 2022, 2021 and 2020 aggregating $164.3 milion. $184.1 million and 51774 million,
respectively, The amounts chiarged b employes compensation end benefits expense for the wears ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $160.1
million, $173.4 milkon and 51768 million. respectvety

Effiective a5 of Seplember 30, 2017, we eslabished the AB 2017 Long Temm Incentve Flan (2017 Plan’), which was adopied at a special mesing of AB
Helding Unithiciders hild on September 20, 2017, The folloang forms of awards may be granted 1o employess and ERgible Directors (drectors who satishy
apphcable indépendence slandands) under the 2017 Pland (i) resiricied AB Holding Uinits of phaniom resticted AB Holdng Unils (a “phantom” awand i5 a
confractual right to receive AB Holding Units at a later date or upon a specified event) (il) options fo buy AB Holding Unids; and (i} other AB Holding Unit-
based awards (nduding. without limitation, AB Holdng Unit apprediation rights and performance awands). The pupose of the 2017 Plan is to promole he
interest of AB by (i) atiracting and retaning talented officers. employess and direcions, (i) motvating such officers. emplovees and direcliors by means of
perfomance-reated ncentives to achheve longer-range business and operational goals, (iil) enabling such officers, employees and directors 1o parbcipate in
the longelermn growth and financied success of AB, and (v) aligning the interests of such oMcers, employees and direcions with thase of AR Holding
Unitholders. The 2017 Plan will expire on September 30, 2027, and no awards under the 2017 Fian will be made afler that date. Under the 2017 Plan. the
aggregate number of AB Holding Units with respect to which aweards may be granted is 80 million, induding no mone than 30 million newhy-issued AB
Helding Linifls.

A5 of Decemnber 31, 2022, no options 1o buy AB Holdng Units wene cutstanding and 28,795,964 AB Halding Units. net of withholding tax requirements, were
subject to other AB Holding Unit awards made under the 2017 Flan or the AllisnceBernsiein 2010 Long Term Incentive Fian, as amended. an equity
compensation plan with similar terms that was canceled on September 20, 2017, AB Helding Unit-based awards (including oplions) in respect of 30,204,038
AB Holding Units were avalable for grant under the 2017 Plan &5 of December 31, 2022

As of Decernber 31 2021, no options to buy AB Helding Linkts had been granted and 28,109,084 AB Holding Linits, net of withholding tax requirements. were
subject 1o other AE Holding Unit awangs made under the 2017 Flan or the AllenceBemsien 2010 Long Term Incenlive Flen, as amended, an equity
cornpensation plan with similar lerms that wes canceled on Septemiber 20, 2017, AB Holding Unit-based awands (including options) in respect of 31.800.91E6
AB Holding Units were avalable for grant under the 2017 Plan as of December 31, 2021,

Option Awards

Wi did ol grant any options to buy AR Holdng Uinits duning 2022, 2001 or 2020, Historically, options granted o employces generally were exencisable ata
rate of 20% of the AB Holding Units subject o such options on each of the first fve anniversary dates of the date of grant, oplions granted to Eligible
Dineciors generally were exercisable at o rate of 22.3% of the AB Holding Linits subject to such cpBons on each of the first Three anniversary dates of the
dafe of grant

k] AllianceBermstein
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Th cption-relatid actvity n our eauity compensation plins during 2022 is a5 follows

Cutstanding a8 of December 31, 2021
Granhbed = -
Exercised (5,774) X012
Forfetted —_ —_
Expired — —
Oudstanding as of Decernbaer 31, 2022 e -3 - - 5 —
Exarcisable as of December 31, 2002 e 5 — — 5 —
Vestad or expacted 10 vest as of December 31, 2022 s 5 — — 5 —

The total intrinsic value of options exendsed during 2022, 2021 or 2020 was 30.2 million. 52 2 milkon and $32 368, respectively.

Lirder the fir vafue method, compensalion expense is messured af the grant date Dased on the estirmabed fair value of e oplions awarded | delemingd
using the Black-Scholes option valuation model) and |s recognized over the reqguisile service penocd. As we did not grant any oplion awards in 2022, 2021 or
26, no compansation expense was recorded. As of December 31, 2022, there was no compensation expense related 1o trwested oplion grants not yet
recognized in the consolidated staternent of inCome

Restricted AB Holding Unit Awards

In 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Board granted restricled AB Holding Uinit swards to Eligible Direclors. These AB Holding Unils give the EBgible Dineclors, in
st instances, all he rights of oiver AR Holding Unithalders, subiect ba sueh resticions on ransher as the Board may impese

Wie award restricled AB Holding Urits to Eligble Direciors that vest ratably over three years. (four years for awards granted in 2021 and previous years), We
fully expensed these awards on each grant date, as there is no sendce requirement. Grant detais related to these ewards is as follows:

2020

Restricted Units Awarded 30,870 5,358 50,232
‘Welghted Average Grant Date Fair Value 5 3;BEE 5 4424 5 2369
Compensation Expense (in milkons) 5 12 % 16 5 12

On Aprl 28, 2017, Seth Bemmstein was appanied President and Chiel Executive Officer. In connection with the commencerment of his employment, Mr
Bermstein was granied restricted AB Holding Units; these Unils were fully amortized as of December 31, 2021, Compensation expense related to Mr.
Barrestein’s resticted AR Holding Linit grant was $0.3 million and 0.9 million for the years ended December 31. 2021, and 2020, respectively.

Under the Incantive Compensation Program, we awarded 4.2 milion resticted AB Haoldng Units in 2022 (which induded 3.8 million resfricied AR Hoiding
Lnits in December for the 2022 year-end awands as well as 0.4 million addifonal restricted AB Holding Units granted earier durng the year relating fo the
20 year-end gwards), with grant date fair values per resfricted AB Holding Unit ranging between $35.84 to 550.94.

‘W awarded 3.5 million restricted AB Holding Units in 2021 (which included 3.3 million restricted A8 Holding Unils in December for the 2021 year-and
ewards as well a5 0.2 million addtional restncled AB Hoiding Units granted earfier during the year redaing fo the 2020 vear-end ewards). with grant dabe fair
visllies pef resiricled AR Halding Unit ranging batwisn S32 10 to $50.94
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W awarded 5.3 million restricted AR Holdng Units in 2020 (which included 5.0 million nestricted AB Holding Units in December for the 2020 yedr-end
ewards &3 well as 0.3 million addiional restricted AB Holding Units granied eanier dunng the year refated 1o the 2019 year-end awards), with grant date fair
values per resiricled AB Holding Lnit ranging between 528 75 to 53210

Ressiricied AB Holdng Units awarded under the Incentive Compensation Program in 2020 and years pnor genenally vested in 25% inrements on December
1% of each of fhe four years immedately Tollowing the year in which the award was granted, Awangs granted in 2021 and subsequent years generally vest in
3335 Increments on Decemibser 1% of each of the three years iImmediately following the year in which the sward is granted.

Wi also dward resticted AB Holding Units in conneclion with certain employment and separation agreements. as well as relocation-rélated performance
Bwards, with westing schedules generally ranging betwesn two and ten years. Grant details relaled 1o these awarnds is as Tollows

(in milbons excheding share prices)

Restriched Unils Awarded (0 24 0.4
Grani Date Fair Value Range 234,66 52006 - 553 86 $18.80 - 53642
Compensation Expense 3 - 408 3 321

The fair value of the resfrictad AB Holding Unils is amortized over the requisite sarvice pencd as compensalion expense. Changes in unvesied restncted AB
Helding Linits durng 2022 are as follows:

Unvested as of December 31, 2021 18,130,740
Graned 4,700 600
Vesbed {(TET1,109)
Forfered (396.995)

Unvested as of December 31, 2022 14772238 & 38,82

T total grant dale fair valwe of resticted AB Holding Undls that vested was S246.2 million, 51990 milkon and $155.0 million duning 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respecively. As of December 31, 2022, the 14.772 236 unvested resricled AB Holding Units consist of 10,148,408 resfricled AB Holding Units that do not
have a service requirement and hawve been fully expensed on the grant date and 4,623 825 restincled AB Holdng Units hat have B senice requirernent and
will be expensed over the required sendce penod. As of December 31, 2022 there was 5114.0 million of compensafion espense related o urnvesied
restricted AB Holding Uil awards granted and not yel recognized in the consolidated staternent of Incame. We expect 10 recognize the expense over a
weighted everage period of 6.1 years

20. Units OQutstanding
Changes in AB Linits outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows

w2 | 2o
Cutstanding as of January 1, 271,453,043 270,500,658
Options axercsed 5774 143,211
Uniits issued ' 17.32 3.917.437
Units retired’ ! {2,805, 1286) (3,117, 263)
Outstanding as of December 3, 285,879,913 271,453,043

U Inchudes 15321535 Units issued as a resull of the Carval acquisiton.
A Durng 2022 and 2021, we purchased 2,500 and 5400 AB Unis, respectively, in private iransactions and retined them,

100 AllianceBemsiein
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21. Income Taxes

AB 5 a private partnership for fedeml income: tax purposes and, accandingly. i5 not subject 10 federal or Slate copomie income Moes. However, AB is
subject 1o @ 4.0% New Yo City unincorporated business tax (“UBT™ ). Domeste oofporate Subsicianes of AB. which ane subject 10 federal, state énd local
income taxes, genermlly are induded in the fing of a consolidated federal income tax retum: with seperate state and local income tax retums bedng filed.
Forelgn corporate subsidaries are generally subject to laxes in the forelgn jurisdicions whene they are loceted

In orded 1o presere A8'S stalus as a private parinership for federal income la purposes, AB Units must nol b2 considersd publicly raded. The AB
Fartnership Agreement provides thef all ransfers of AB Units must be approved by EQH and the General Pariner, EQH and the General Pariner approve
only those ransfers permitted pursuant io one or more of the safe harbors contained in the refevant Treasury reguiatons. i AB Units were considered
readity radahle, AR'S net income would Be subject 1o federnl and Stote corporate income fax, sigrificantly reducing its quartery distibusions to AE Haldng.
Futhermane, should AB enter inlo a subsiantial new line of business, AB Holdng, by virkee of its ownership of AB, would lose its siatus as a publicly fraded

partnership and would became subject 1o corporate intome tax. which would reduce matenally AB Holdng's net incorme and its quanieny dislmbutions to AB
Halding Unitholders.

Earmings baford income s and incoems T e ense const of,

ears Ended December 31

I N TR
{in thowsands)
Eamings béfone income taxes
United States 5 2 5 1007847 § 743687
Fersign {25818 208,615 153,749
Total 5 B15098 § 1216482 % BOT A
Income tax expenssa:
Parinership UBT 5 LEe 5 688 &5 3,35
Corporate subsdianes
Federal 1457 TED 1,495
Slate and focal o431 956 o04
Foreign .37 58080 44088
Canment tax exqense ] 66,737 40,841
Desfesmed tax | 4,008) {4.188)
Income tax axpanss ) 3638 % B2TH  § 45,653
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Thete principal feasons for thi Effierence between the effechae tay rates and Se UBT stabutory tax rate of 4 0% ane as Tolows

Yeads Ended December 31

(in thpusands)
UBT statuory rate 5 IzEM 40% § 48859 40% § 36297 4.0%
Corporate subsdianes’ federal, siate, and local 1,450 02 1,322 02 2,025 0.2
Foreign subsidianies taxed at different rates 32 554 40 43,019 35 33 963 37
FIM 43 reserve (release) — - — — {1.886) [0:2)
LIBT bassingss allocalion percentoge rade change - 23 —_ ) —
Defesred tax and payable write-offs 01 1,003 01 {837} (0.1}
Foreign outsde basis difference {1,635} 0.2} 1,492 o1 3 —
Amended 2017 relum - - - — {21} =
Effect of ASC 740 adjusiments, miscellanecus taxes, and
offver 5,366 a 1,789 01 2 654 03
Tax Credis 15.272) [0 E) — - - =
Income nol taxable resulting from use of UBT business
apporionment faciors and effect of compensaton charge {26.636) (3.3) (34,589} (2.8 (26,303 (28]
Income tax expense and affective lax rate § 38538 48% § 6278 52% § 45553 5.0 %

Wi recognize the effects of & fax posiion in the fnandal stetements only if, &5 of the reporing dale, it is “more likely than noll” to be sustained based on its
technical merits and their applicability 1o the facts and dreumstances of te tax position, In making this essessement, we assume that the taxing authonty will
Examine the tax position and have Tull knowledge of all relevan infonmation

A reconcliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is a5 follows:

Yeurs Emded December 31

{in housands)

Balance as of beginning of pariod 5 2B 3§ 2838 3§ 5,706
Addiions for pior year e positions - — —
RiedUcsons for pROT year tax postions s —
Additions for curment year tax positions - - -
Reductons for cument year {an postions. - — —
Reductions rilated to dosed years/setlements with tio authonSes = — {2.868)

Balance as of ond of period § 2BE & 2838 § 2838

The amount of unrecognized tes benefits as of December 31, 2022 2021, and 2020, when recognized, is recorded as a reduction to iIncome 1ex expense
and reduces the company's effective lax rate,

Inleres and penaties, if any, refating 1o tax positions are reconded in income [ax expende on Te consdidated statements of income. There was nd inbenast
expense recorded in 2022 or 2021, The total amount of interest expense recorded i income fax expense (credit) during 2020 was $(0.4) milllon. As of

December 31, 2022 and 2021, thera is no accnued interest recorded on the conscidated statements of firandal condition. There wene no penaities as of
Decernber 31, 2022 2021 and 2020

Ganerally. the compary |s no honger subject 1o LS. federal, state or local income tax examinations. by tax euthonties for any year prior to 2018, except as sat
forth below.

Durirg Sue fourth quarter of 2020, the City of Mew York notfied ws of an examnation of AB's UET returns for the years 2017 firdugh 2019, The examination
is ongaing and no provision with respect to this examination has been recorded

102 AllianceBemsiein
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Currendly, héne an no income tax eaminations of our sgnificant nonULS. subdidinfies. Years thal remain opén and may be subject to examination vary
under bocal ew and range from one b0 Seven years

As of December 31, 2022, It is reasonobly possible that 528 million of our wrecognized tax benefits will change within the need 12 months due to the
expiration of the statute of kmitations.

Dederred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the camying amounds of assets and kabilites for finencal reporing
purposes and e amounts used for ncome tax purposes. The tax effect of significant items compasing e net defered tax asset (Eability} is as follows:

Yeurs Ended Decomber 31

[ Eausands)
Defesmed tax asset
CeMMgrences between book and tax bass
Benefits from net operaling loss camyfonsands 5 4 7833
Longsterm incentive compensation plans 24,468
Investment basis differences 5,523
Depreciation and amortization 3,942
Lesise labity 5327
Investment i forengn subsidanes -_
Ta credit camyforwarnd -
Criher, primarity Bcorued expenses deductble when paid 4917
80,220 52,010
Less: veluation alowance (38110 {3,828)
Defered tax asset 42,110 48182
Dedesmed tax liabikty:
Differences betaeen book and tax basis
Intangile assets 0. 150 TEZ
Invesiment in foreign subsidianes — 4084
Right-of-use ad5e! 4,191 4450
Crthier 2 504 2078
Defemed tax kability 17,189 18,21
Mt disferred tax asset 3 24, 531 5 8911

The valuation allowance of 5381 millon was established as of December 31, 2022 primanly due to significant negative evidence hat copitel losses
anficpated in fe held for sele fondgn subsidanes will not be UBzed, ghen the natre of income sxpected 1o b incumed by the appheable subsicanes. The
valuaticn aliowance of $3.8 milion was esiablished as of December 31, 2021 primarity due io significant negative evidence that nel operating loss ('NOL™)
carmyforwards will nof be uliized. given the future (osses expecied 1o be incumed by e applicable subsidiares. We had NOL carmyforwards at December 31,
2022 and 2021 of approdmately 3303 milllon and 5551 milion, respectively, in certain foreign locations with @ five-year cxpiralion perod

The defemed tax assed is included in other assels in our consolidated stalement of finencial condfon. Management believes Mere will be sufficent fulure
texabie income to realize the tax benefits related to the remaining net deferred tax assets recognized hat are not subject to valustion allowances

The company provides income taxes on e unremitied eamngs of non-UL5. cofporate subsidianes except 1o the exlen that such eamings ane indefinitety
reinvested cutsde the United Siates. As of Decemnber 31, 2022, $29.6 million of undistibuted eamings of non-ULS. corporate subsidiaries were indefinitely
invested outside e LS. At existing applicable income tax rates. addtional laxes of approsimistely $5.2 milion would nidd 1o be pald if such eamings ane
remitted

202 Annwal Report 103
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22. Business Segment Information

Management has assessed he requirements of ASC 280, Segment Reporting. and determingd thal, because we ulilize a consdidated approach 1o assess
performance and allocale resources. we hirde only oné opefating segment. Entefprise-wide disclosures a5 of and for the years ended December 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Services

Meq revernes defved from our investmen! manadement, neseanch and raaled Serices wene as iollows

fears Ended December 31

fin theousands]
Inshbulons -} &9, HE3 H 587017 5 B12914
Rt 222382 1,811.948
Private Weath Management 1,126,142 232672
Bemstein Research Sendces 452.017 458,744
Ofher 55,283 56,004
Total revenues 4445288 A T24185
Less: Interest expense 3686 15,650
Mot revenues ) § 4441802 § 3708538

Mo individudl fund accounted for mone than 10% of our investmen! advisory and serdce Teks and our net révinies during 2022, 2021 and 2020

Geographic Information
Med revenues and long-lived assets, redated 1o our U5, and inlemational opera®ons, as of and for the years ended Decermber 21, were as folliows:

fin thousands)

MNat révenuas

Uinited Stales § 233158 § 2588582 § 2106635

Inbermsaional P E7L 332 1.8E3.010 1601900
Todal 5 4054280 § 4441602 5 3708536
Longlived assets

Linfled States 5 ! 5 3331572

Imtermaional ¥ 2. 455 45 796
Todal 5 400457 § 33768

U Wy Bave necast prior period pessentation of geographic mvesues bo align with turrent period presentation by legal entity domicle as compared bo histonical pressntation
method by clienl domicde.

Major Customers
Mo single customer or indnidual dient accounted for more tan 10% of our total revenues for e years ended Decernber 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

104 AllianceBernsiein
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23. Related Party Transactions

Mutual Funds

Wi provide imaesirment management, disribution, shareholder, admiristrative and brokerags Senices 1o individual investons by means of reta mutual flunds
sponsored by cur compary, our subsidianes and our affikaled joint venture compantes. Ve provide substanbially all of these senvices under confracts that
spedty the sendces to be provided and the fees 1o be charged. The confracts ane subject 10 annual review and approval by each mutual fund's board of
directors or tnestees and. in cortain circumstances, by e mutual fund's shareholders

Rewenues for sendces provided or related to the mutual funds ane as Tollows:

Years Ended Decembar 31

EEET.
fin thsu eands)
Investment advisory and services fees § 1452885 % 16457 5 1268484
Cestribafion revérmmes 590,580 B37 078 516,338
Sharehaider sendcing fees ! BS. 745 79,304
it revenues 8,366 8384 8314
Bemstein Research Services - 2 E]
§ 2130988 5 2375044 5 19725M

EQH and its Subsidiaries

We provide imeesiment management and cerfain administration servces to EQH and its subsidiares. In addiicn, EQH and its subsidiaries disiibute
company-sponsored mutual funds, for which they recive commissions and disinbufion payments. Als0, we are ooversd by vanous insursnce policies
maintained by EGH and we pay Tees for technology and cher services provided by EGH and ifs subsidisnies. Addiionally, see Nole 12, Debt. for discoswes
refated b our cred ity with EQH

Aggregate amounts indudied in the consclidated finandal statements for ensactions with EQH and its subsidiaries. a5 of and for the years ended
December 31, are as follows:

EQH
T T T
fin theousands)
Revenies
Irvesirment advisory and services lees 5 ME3TT % 13004 5 115,801
Crher revenues B2 875 1,330
5 143,065 § 13748 0§ 1rem
Expenses:
Commessions and distibution payments i finendal inlermedianes 5 J.B87T % 4550 5 34852
General ard admirmsiralive 2,882 237 2.281
Cthar 14,065 3953 5463
5 20848 % 10,876 § 11,626
Balance Sheet:
Institutenal imvestment advisory and sarvices fees recevable 5 i 8,607
Prepaid expenses 385 545
Crther due to EQH and its subsidianes i 206) (1.534)
EQH Facility 30.000) (755,000}
5 (986083) 5 (747,380
2072 Anrual Report 105
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Other Related Parties

The consolidated staternenis of finandal condition include a net recehvable from AB Holding a5 a resull of cash ransactions for fees and expense
reimbursemments. The net recesvable balance induded in the consclideted staternents of finendcial condition as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 was 57.7
millien and $11. 2 milion, respectively.

24. Acquisitions and Divestitures

Acquisitions
On Juty 1, 2022, AB Holding acquired a 100% ownership inlerest in CarVal, a giobal privale alternatives invesiment manager primarnly focused on
cpposfunistc and distressed credil, renewable energy. nfrastnuclure. specialty finance and transportation invesiments that, as of the acquisition date.

constilutéd spprosimitely S12.2 bilion in AUM. Also. on July 1. 2022 immedately following the acquistion of Carvinl, AB Holdng contributed 100% o its
exquity interests in Carvial to AB in exchange for AB Units. Post-acquisition, Carval was rebranded AE Carval Investors ("AB Car'Val’),

©On the acquisifion date, AB Holding Isswed approdmately 3.2 millon AB Helding Units (with a fair value of 51328 milion) with the remaining 121 milion
Linits (with @ fair walue of S456.4 million) issusd on November 1, 2022 The fir vidue of the units ISseed on Movember 1, 2022 reflect final adjusiments to the
estimated wnit issuance recorded a8 of acquisiion cose on July 1. 2022 and &8 disclosed in the third quarter 2022 Form 100

AB received a 100% equity interest in Carval from AB Hoading and issued approsemately 15.3 milion AB Units (with a fair value of $585.2 million). AB also
recorded a conlingent congideration payvable of S228.9 milon (1o be paid predorinantly in AR Linits) based on AB CarVial adhiedng cenain performance
objectives over @ sx-yodr pediod ending Decernber 31, 2027, The AB Units. s discussed above, weng issued to AR Holding, AB Holding then issued the
equal amount of AE Hoding Units to Carvial. The excess of e purchase price over the cument fair value of identifiable net kabiliies acquired of
51561 million (net of cash acquired of $40.8 milion), and the recording of a net defermed tax asset of 55 1 million resulled in the recognition of $666.1 milkon
of goodwill and the récording of 53030 million of firfle-fved intangible assets pimarly redaling 1o investment managéement confracls and invesior
refationships with usaful Bves ranging from 5 10 10 years, The goodwill reconded is nol deductible for tax puposes as the Candal acquisition was an
Investment in @ paringrship

106 AllianceBermstein
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The following table summdanizes the amourts of identified assets acquired and lisbilities assumad al the acquisition date (rellecting acquisiion adustiments
recorded in ihe fourth quarter of 2022), a5 well as the consideration ransfemed 1o acquire Canal (in fousands]

Swmmary of purchase consideration;

Fiair v of AB Holding units issued 5 589,169
Fair valee of contingent consideraton Z28.BE5
Total purchase conslderation 5 81805

Purchase price allecation:

Aszsels acquired
Carsh and Civgh equivalents 5 A07T7
Recenables, et 82,523
Irvesiments « other 47
Fumiture, equipment. and leasehold improverments, net 2484
Right-of-use assels 16,482
Crver nssels 10,600
Defered tax assat 5073
Intangitle assels 205000
Goodwill 66,130
Tolal assts acquined 1. 127556

Lighiias assurmed,

Astounts pavable and stoised expenses {17.798)
Accrued compensation and benefits (219.726)
Dot {42, 651]
Lease liabdies {18.571)
Manerededm able non-oontnolling interests in consolidated entities {13.191)
Tiotal labilifes asmumd (303,242}
Not assets acquired 5 818,054

The Carval acquisiion did not heve a significant impact on owr 2022 revenues and eamings. As a8 resull, we have nol provided supplementsd pro forma
financial information

Divestitures

On Mowember 22, 2022, AB and SoocGen, a leading European bank, announced plans to fomn a joint venture combining their respective cash equities and
research businesses. The consummation of the joint venture is subject to customary dosing condiions, including regulaiory dearsnces. The closing is
expechsd to coour before the end of 2023 Upon clesing, AB will oen & 459% inferes! in the joint venture and SocGen will own 8 51% interest in the jomt
weniung, with an option 1o resach 100% ownership afler five years, The assels and Babilties of AB's reseanch sendces business "the disposal group™) have
been dassified as held for sale on e consolidated staternent of financial condfion and recorded at fair value, less cost to sell. As a resull of dassitying
these assets as held for sale, we recognized a non-cash valuation adjustment of 57 4 millen on the consolidated siatement of income, 1o recognize the net
camying value at lower of cost or fair value, less estimated costs to sall.

02 Anrual Report 1nr
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T Tallowing tablé summarnizes the assets and abilities of the disposal group cassilied a5 held for sabi on the consoldated statement of fingndal condition
&5 of December 31, 2022

Cash and cash equivalents 3 159123
Receivables, net
Brokers and dealers 44,717
Brokerage dients 29,243
Orther fees 22,988
Invesirments 24,507
Furndture and equipment, ned 4128
Der assels 107,764
Right-of-use assets 1,552
Intargible assels 4903
Goodwill 159,825
wvaluation adjustment {allowance) on disposal group {7.400)
Total assets held for sale 3 551,251
Payables,
Brokers and dealers % 32083
Brokerage diens 10,232
Cher liabilifes 50,684
Actied compensason and benefits 13,853
Total liabilities held for sale 5 107,952

As of Decembier 21 2022, cash and cash squivalents dassifed as held for sabe incduded in the consolideted stabement of cash flows was 515801 milion.

Wie have determined that the exit from the sell-side research busness does nol represent a strategic shift that had & major effect on cur consclidated results
of operations. Accordingly, we have not ciassified the disposal group as discontinued operations. The results of operatons of the disposal group up fo te
respachive dates of sale will be included in cur consclidated resulls of operations for all percds presented. The lower of amortized cost or fair valus
afjustroent upon ransfeming these assets o hedd for Salé was not matetal
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Report of Independent Auditors

To Intertrust Trustees (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Mizuho US High Income
Bond Fund

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mizuho US High Income Bond Fund (a subtrust
of Mizuho AB Trust Series) (the "Sub-Fund™), which comprise the statement of assets and liabilities,
including the portfolio of investments, as of July 31, 2022, and the related statements of operations
and of changes in net assets for the year then ended, including the related notes (collectively
referred to as the "financial statements™).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Sub-Fund as of July 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and changes
in its net assets for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors
~ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are required
to be independent of the Sub-Fund and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with
the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Sub-Fund ”s ability to
continue as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be
issued.

Auditors” responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors® report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
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opinion on the effectiveness of the Sub-Fund s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is

expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the

financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,

that raise substantial doubt about the Sub-Fund s ability to continue as a going concern for a

reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-
related matters that we identified during the audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
October 10, 2022
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Report of Independent Auditors

To Intertrust Trustees (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Mizuho US High Income
Bond Fund

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mizuho US High Income Bond Fund (a subtrust
of Mizuho AB Trust Series) (the "Sub-Fund™), which comprise the statement of assets and liabilities,
including the portfolio of investments, as of July 31, 2023, and the related statements of operations
and of changes in net assets for the year then ended, including the related notes (collectively
referred to as the "financial statements™).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Sub-Fund as of July 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and changes
in its net assets for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors
~ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are required
to be independent of the Sub-Fund and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with
the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Sub-Fund ”s ability to
continue as a going concern for one year after the date the financial statements are available to be
issued.

Auditors” responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors® report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
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opinion on the effectiveness of the Sub-Fund s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is

expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the

financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,

that raise substantial doubt about the Sub-Fund s ability to continue as a going concern for a

reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-
related matters that we identified during the audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
October 16, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the General Partner and Unitholders of
AllianceBernstein L.P.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of
AllianceBernstein L.P. and its subsidiaries (the““Company””) as of December 31, 2022 and
2021, and the related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of
changes in partners® capital and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2022, including the related notes and financial statement schedule
listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the
““consolidated financial statements®”). We also have audited the Company®s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (C0SO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and
2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2022 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the C0SO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company"s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management®s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under ltem 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on the Company"s consolidated financial statements
and on the Company"s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are
a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.
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Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

As described in Management®s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,
management has excluded CarVal Investors L.P. (CarVal) from its assessment of internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 because it was acquired by the
Company in a purchase business combination during 2022. We have also excluded CarVal from
our audit of internal control over financial reporting. CarVal is a wholly-owned
subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues excluded from management®s assessment and
our audit of internal control over financial reporting each approximate 2% of the related
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company®s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company"s internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company"s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.
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Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period
audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters
does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a
separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which
it relates.

Acquisition of CarVal Investors L.P. - Fair Value of Finite-Lived Intangible Assets and
Contingent Consideration Payable

As described in Notes 2, 9 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements, on July 1,
2022, AllianceBernstein Holding L.P. (AB Holding) acquired a 100% ownership interest in
Carval for total purchase consideration of $818.1 million, which resulted in management
recording $303.0 million of finite-lived intangible assets primarily related to investment
management contracts and investor relationships with useful lives ranging from 5 to 10
years and $228.9 million of contingent consideration payable. Immediately following the
acquisition of CarVal by AB Holding, AB Holding contributed 100% of its equityinterests in
CarVal to AllianceBernstein L.P. (AB) in exchange for AB units. Fair value of the acquired
finite-lived intangible assets was based on a forecast of future cash flows attributable
to the assets that are discounted to present value using a risk-adjusted discount rate.
Fair value of the contingent consideration payable was based on a forecast of future cash
flows attributable to the performance objectives that are discounted to present value
using a risk-adjusted discount rate.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating

to the fair value of the finite-lived intangible assets and contingent consideration
payable recognized in the acquisition of CarVal is a critical audit matter are the
significant judgment by management in developing the estimated fair value of the finite-
lived intangible assets and the contingent consideration payable. This in turn led to a
high degree of auditor judgment,subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and
evaluating audit evidence related to the future cash flows and risk-adjusted discount rate
assumptions utilized within the calculation of the present value of future cash flows. In
addition, the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge.
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Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in
connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the
determination of the fair value of finite-lived intangible assets and contingent
consideration payable recognized in the acquisition of Carval, including controls over the
development of the future cash flows and risk-adjusted discount rate assumptions utilized
within the calculation of the present value of future cash flows. These procedures also
included, among others, reading the purchase agreement and testing management®s process
for estimating the fair value of the acquired finite-lived intangible assets and
contingent consideration payable. Testing management®s process included (i) evaluating the
appropriateness of the method used to discount future cashflows to present value, (ii)
testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in the method used to
discount future cash flows to present value,and (iii) evaluating management®s significant
assumptions related to the future cash flows and risk-adjusted discount rate. Evaluating
the reasonableness of the assumption related to the future cash flows involved considering
the historical performance of Carval, the consistency with external market and industry
data, and the consistency with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit.
Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation
of the appropriateness of the method used to discount future cash flows to present value
and the reasonableness of the risk-adjusted discount rate assumption.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Nashville, Tennessee
February 10, 2023

We have served as the Company®s auditor since 2006.
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